Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some acccess restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Ariana Paone Mullin

Date

Regulation of *Drosophila* Synaptic Function and Plasticity by a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network.

By

Ariana Paone Mullin Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Neuroscience

> Victor Faundez, M.D., Ph.D. Advisor

Tamara Caspary, Ph.D. Committee Member

Andrew P. Kowalczyk, Ph.D. Committee Member

> Lian Li, Ph.D. Committee Member

Yoland Smith, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Regulation of *Drosophila* Synaptic Function and Plasticity by a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network.

By

Ariana Paone Mullin B.S., Trinity College, Hartford, CT, 2009

Advisor: Victor Faundez, M.D., Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Neuroscience

2014

Abstract

Regulation of *Drosophila* Synaptic Function and Plasticity by a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network.

By Ariana Paone Mullin

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) are genetically complex, arising from single or multiple gene defects, and include schizophrenia, intellectual disability, and autism spectrum disorder. Many NDDs, particularly those associated with large chromosomal deletions, either share common genetic variations or it is postulated that the associated gene products converge into a common molecular or cellular pathway. However, the way multiple loci interact to modify phenotypic outcomes remains poorly understood. Additionally, current studies focus on monogenic NDDs because of their straightforward study and conceptualization, despite the involvement of multiple loci. Currently, there are no studies exploring the interactions of multiple genes or gene products associated with these disorders and their effects at the synapse. Here, I use a biochemically curated interaction network centered around the schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin (dysb), the Drosophila ortholog of the human gene DTNBP1. In this study, I examined the phenotypes associated with mutations in the schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin (dysb), in isolation or in combination with null alleles in the dysb network component Blos1. In humans, the Blos1 ortholog *Bloc1s1* encodes a polypeptide that assembles, with dysbindin, into the octameric BLOC-1 complex. Here, I biochemically confirmed BLOC-1 presence in Drosophila neurons, and measured synaptic output and complex adaptive behavior in response to BLOC-1 perturbation. Homozygous loss-of-function alleles of dysb, Blos1, or compound heterozygotes of these alleles impaired neurotransmitter release, synapse morphology, and homeostatic plasticity at the larval neuromuscular junction, and impaired olfactory habituation. This multiparameter assessment indicated that phenotypes were differentially sensitive to genetic dosages of loss-of-function BLOC-1 alleles. Further, I identified the N-Ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF) as a factor sensitive to BLOC-1 deficiency. I used NSF to test the hypothesis that molecular and genetic interactors converge into a functionally-defined pathway. My findings suggest that modification of a second genetic locus in a defined neurodevelopmental regulatory network does not follow a strict additive genetic inheritance, but rather, precise stoichiometry within the network determines phenotypic outcomes. Additionally, I demonstrate that a biochemically curated interactome can be used to direct investigation of pathways associated to complex genetic diseases, such as schizophrenia and related neurodevelopmental disorders. Together, this work supports the investigation of neurodevelopmental disorders through the assessment of multiple endophenotypes in response to polygenic experimental manipulations to better approximate complex disease states.

Regulation of *Drosophila* Synaptic Function and Plasticity by a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network.

By

Ariana Paone Mullin B.S., Trinity College, Hartford, CT, 2009

Advisor: Victor Faundez, M.D., Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Neuroscience

2014

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, to my family, for their unconditional love, support, and encouragement. For being big, and loud, and always in each other's lives and businesses. My parents, for teaching and inspiring me to want to be more, and then showing me the way to. My Dad, for all that you know and all that you don't, but are eager to learn. My Mom, my consummate cheerleader, forever and always. For your strength, for everything else, and everything more. To my sister, Garan, for being the better half of the Doctors, Mullin, the lamb to my tuna fish, and for always being there to hear about my everything.

To my friends, new and old, near and far, for whatever duration or frequency during this adventure you were present for. Especially those who have been with me every step along the way, whom I have celebrated and commiserated with for the better part of the last five years. Yes, it is entirely possibly that I could have done this without you, but I am so much happier to have not.

To all of my Scotties, for both trusting my antics and wholeheartedly subscribing to them. For sharing a love of the game, and being the most welcome retreat from the bench. To Talya, for the opportunity to be part of something incredible, and turning it into the most fun after-school job possible. I cannot imagine the last three years without you, or the team, and it was worth every second and more.

To all of those I've studied under and am now privileged to call colleagues. My Trinity professors, Drs. William Church and Hebe Guardiola-Diaz, who first encouraged me to pursue a graduate degree and led me to Emory. The members of the Neuroscience Program and Department of Cell Biology, for being the absolute best. My committee, for challenging me from the beginning, always as a colleague and never as a student. And to Sanyal, for infusing excitement and joy into your science, and training me to always trust myself but question my data.

To my labmates, past and present, who have challenged me and made me a better scientist. Skye, for being a scientist first, baker second. Amanda, for taking me on, and still being OK with it when you learned what that meant. Jen, for both our similarities and our differences, and all that they beget. And especially to Avanti and Stephanie, for both tolerating my idiosyncrasies, and actually being amused by them.

And to Victor, for being a mentor in its truest sense. For accepting my fastidiousness, and ultimately embracing it. For creating an environment where science works, but never becomes it. For your patience, your willingness to take a rather large chance, your trust, and your respect. It has not all been easy, but it's certainly been fun.

"And now, let the wild rumpus start!"

Table of Contents

Chapter I. General Introduction

Overview and Significance2
Section 1. Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Mechanisms and Boundary Definitions from Genomes, Interactomes, and Proteomes7
NDD: Boundary Definitions from Genomes
Figure 1. <i>DTNBP1</i> -dysbindin interactomes differ in their constituents and topology13
NDD: "Guilty by Association" Mechanisms of Disease14 Creating Understanding from Genome Informed Proteomes- Interactomes15
Figure 2. Models of cross-fertilization between genomes, proteomes, and interactomes
Creating a genome-independent nosology from proteomes- interactomes19
Section 2. Cell Biology of the BLOC-1 Complex Subunit Dysbindin, a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Gene
Association of dysbindin and schizophrenia: Genetic evidence21
Biochemical, anatomical, and functional consequences of
carrying <i>DTNBP1</i> polymorphisms associated to disease23
The Eight Musketeers: "all for one, one for all", that is BLOC-1's motto
Figure 3. Molecular Architecture of the BLOC-1 complex
mutant mice

What fundamental cellular processes are affected in
dysbindin/BLOC-1 loss-of-function?32
Transcriptional and Cytoskeletal Regulation
Membrane Protein Sorting
Figure 5. The stages of vesicle budding
and fusion
Membrane Fusion-Secretion
Section 3. Organziation and Trafficking of Synaptic Vesicles46
Figure 6. Synaptic vesicle fusion cycle48
Figure 7. Synaptic vesicle pool organization and endocytic
pathways50
Section 4. Drosophila melanogaster as a model system
Table 1. Homologues of human BLOC-1 subunits encoded
by the fruit fly genome54
Figure 8. Schematic of the <i>Drosophila</i> neuromuscular junction56
Figure 9. GAL4/UAS system for targeted gene expression
in Drosophila57
Contributions of this dissertation research

Chapter II. Gene Dosage in the Dysbindin Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network Differentially Affect Synaptic Function and Plasticity

Abstract6	2
Introduction6	3

Results
BLOC-1 assembles into an octameric complex in <i>Drosophila</i> neurons BLOC-1 acts presynaptically to regulate quantal content at the NMJ Normal synaptic growth and morphology require BLOC-1 function Dysbindin and Blos1 are necessary for the function of synaptic vesicle pools
Dysbindin and Blos1 are required for olfactory short-term habituation in <i>Drosophila</i>
Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of BLOC-1 Genotype and Associated Phenotype
Discussion
Materials and Methods
Drosophila stocks, rearing, genetics, and electrophysiology
Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy
Immunoprecipitation and mass spectrometry
Short-term olfactory habituation
Statistical and cluster analysis
Figure 1. BLOC-1 assembles into an octameric complex in Drosophila
neurons91
Figure 2. BLOC-1 presynaptically regulates quantal content at the
Drosophila NMJ92
Figure 3. Normal synaptic morphology requires BLOC-1 function
Figure 4. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic homeostasis
Figure 5. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic vesicle pool properties
Figure 6. BLOC-1 is required at local interneurons and projection
neurons for short-term olfactory habituation in Drosophila
Figure 7. Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of BLOC-1 Genotype and
their Associated Phenotypes97
Figure 8. How do BLOC-1 mutations produce divergent synaptic
phenotypes?
Supplementary Table 1. Summary of results for olfactory short-term
habituation experimental data shown in Figure 6

Chapter III. NSF Acts Downstream of the Schizophrenia Susceptibility Factor, Dysbindin, to Regulate Synaptic Homeostasis

Abstract	
Significance Statement	
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
Materials and Methods	

Cell culture SILAC labeling and mass spectrometry analysis Immunoprecipitation Sucrose density sedimentation Immunofluorescence S2 Drosophila and HeLa cell secretion assay Drosophila stocks, rearing, genetics, andbiochemical procedures. Statistical analysis Antibodies used

Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency	126
Figure 2. BLOC-1 interacts with NSF or SNAREs	127
Figure 3. NSF presynaptically rescues dysbindin synaptic homeostasis	
defect	128
Supplementary Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in	
BLOC-1 deficiency	129
Supplementary Figure 2. Down-regulation of Bloc1s6 Pallidin in iPSC-	
derived Human Neurons	130
Supplementary Figure 3. NSF and VAMP7 down-regulation phenotypes	
are independent of each other	131
Supplementary Figure 4. Interaction of the BLOC-1 complex with	
SNAP23, 25 and 29	132
Supplementary Figure 5. A pulse of constitutive secretion cargo is not	
impaired by BLOC-1 deficiency	133
Supplementary Figure 6. Model of BLOC-1-SNARE-NSF interactions	134

Chapter IV. Discussion

	ts	
Hypothesis 1: Ph members of the BL	enotypes arising from loss-of-function mutations to .OC-1 complex are governed by the dosage balance	
Figure 1.	Flowchart of Possible BLOC-1 Remnants Predicted	
	from the Dosage Balance Hypothesis	146
Figure 2.	Cellular processes involving BLOC-1 are largely	
	governed by different subunits	150
Figure 3.	Potential steps of NSF and BLOC-1 involvement	
U	and interaction during fast vesicle cycling at the	
	plasma membrane	153
Hypothesis 2: Ge	enotype-to-phenotype correlations observed in a trait	
following a gene pa	air analysis can better, although not precisely, predict	
001	ay respond	154
Hypothesis 3: Po	blypeptides that are associated with a disease, form	
a biochemical netw	vork, and are all sensitive to genetic perturbation	
	ork constituent, converge in a defined functional	
	lophenotypes can be assessed	156

Chapter V. References

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter I

- **Figure 1.** *DTNBP1*-dysbindin interactomes differ in their constituents and topology.
- **Figure 2.** Models of cross-fertilization between genomes, proteomes, and interactomes.
- **Figure 3.** Molecular Architecture of the BLOC-1 complex.
- **Figure 4.** Levels of the BLOC-1 subunits pallidin and dysbindin in brains of wild type and BLOC-1 or AP-3mutant mice.
- **Figure 5.** The stages of vesicle budding and fusion.
- Figure 6. Synaptic vesicle fusion cycle.
- **Figure 7.** Synaptic vesicle pool organization and endocytic pathways.
- **Table 1.**Homologues of human BLOC-1 subunits encoded by the fruit fly
genome.
- **Figure 8.** Schematic of the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction.
- **Figure 9.** GAL4/UAS system for targeted gene expression in *Drosophila*.

Chapter II

- **Figure 1.** BLOC-1 assembles into an octameric complex in *Drosophila* neurons.
- **Figure 2.** BLOC-1 presynaptically regulates quantal content at the *Drosophila* NMJ.
- **Figure 3.** Normal synaptic morphology requires BLOC-1 function.
- Figure 4. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic homeostasis.
- Figure 5. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic vesicle pool properties.
- **Figure 6.** BLOC-1 is required at local interneurons and projection neurons for short-term olfactory habituation in *Drosophila*.

- **Figure 7.** Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of BLOC-1 Genotype and their Associated Phenotypes.
- Figure 8. How do BLOC-1 mutations produce divergent synaptic phenotypes?

Supplementary Table 1. Summary of results for olfactory short-term habituation experimental data shown in Figure 6.

Chapter III

Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency.

Figure 2. BLOC-1 interacts with NSF or SNAREs.

Figure 3. NSF presynaptically rescues dysbindin synaptic homeostasis defect.

Supplementary Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency.

Supplementary Figure 2. Down-regulation of Bloc1s6 Pallidin in iPSC-derived Human Neurons.

Supplementary Figure 3. NSF and VAMP7 down-regulation phenotypes are independent of each other.

Supplementary Figure 4. Interaction of the BLOC-1 complex with SNAP23, 25 and 29.

Supplementary Figure 5. A pulse of constitutive secretion cargo is not impaired by BLOC-1 deficiency.

Supplementary Figure 6. Model of BLOC-1-SNARE-NSF interactions.

Chapter IV

- **Figure 1.** Flowchart of Possible BLOC-1 Remnants Predicted from the Dosage Balance Hypothesis.
- **Figure 2.** Cellular processes involving BLOC-1 are largely governed by different subunits.
- **Figure 3.** Potential steps of NSF and BLOC-1 involvement and interaction during fast vesicle cycling at the plasma membrane.

Key Terms and Abbreviations

NDD	<u>N</u> euro <u>d</u> evelopmental <u>D</u> isorders
AP-3	<u>A</u> daptor <u>P</u> rotein complex- 3
GWAS	<u>G</u> enome <u>W</u> ide <u>A</u> ssociation <u>S</u> tudy
BLOC-1	Biogenesis of Lysosome-related Organelles Complex-1
dysb1	<i>Drosophila</i> dysbindin mutant allele; piggy-back insertion; hypomorph
dysb ^{DF}	Drosophila dysbindin 'deficiency' allele; gene deletion
dysb ^{RV}	<i>Drosophila</i> dysbindin 'revertant' allele; precise excision of dysb ¹ insertion
Blos1 ^{EY}	<i>Drosophila</i> blos1 null allele; p-element insertion in the fly line EY0629
Blos1 ^{ex2}	<i>Drosophila</i> blos1 mutant allele, deletion in blos1 Δ -56-38
Blos1 ^{ex65}	<i>Drosophila</i> blos1 mutant allele, deletion in blos1 Δ -56-1033
NMJ	<u>N</u> euro <u>m</u> uscular junction
EJP	Excitatory Junctional Potential
mEJP	miniature Excitatory Junctional Potential
RP	<u>R</u> eserve <u>P</u> ool
RRP	<u>R</u> eadily <u>R</u> eleasably <u>P</u> ool
SNARE	<u>SNA</u> P <u>re</u> ceptor protein
SNAP	<u>s</u> oluble <u>N</u> SF <u>a</u> ttachment <u>p</u> rotein
NSF	<u>N</u> -Ethylmaleimide <u>S</u> ensitive <u>F</u> actor
PhTx	Philanthotoxin
STH	Short-term olfactory habituation

Human Gene	Human Protein	Drosophila Gene	Drosophila Protein
FMR1	fmr1, FMRP	dfmr1	dFMR1
DTNBP1, BLOC1S8	Dysbindin, BLOC1s8	dysbindin, dysb	dysbindin, dysb
BLOC1S1, BLOS1	BLOC1s1, BLOS1	blos1	blos1
NSF	NSF	comt, Nsf,dNsf1	dNsf-1

Homologous Human Genes and Encoded Proteins in Drosophila

CHAPTER I

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Ariana Paone Mullin

Department of Cell Biology and Program in Neuroscience Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322

Overview and Significance

Our understanding of complex neurodevelopmental disorders, including schizophrenia, intellectual disability, and autism spectrum disorder, has greatly increased in recent decades (Doherty, O'Donovan et al. 2012, Rapoport, Giedd et al. 2012, Adam 2013). In particular, several key genetic components of inherited neurodevelopmental disorders have been identified, and the cellular role of their gene products have been the focus of many experimental investigations (Amir, Van den Veyver et al. 1999, Doherty, O'Donovan et al. 2012). However, there are several questions that remain unanswered, and many disorders for which no good experimental model exists. In particular, many neurodevelopmental disorders seem to arise from chromosomal deletion syndromes, where a single copy of numerous genes is lost (Bassett, Scherer et al. 2010, Malhotra, McCarthy et al. 2011, Malhotra and Sebat 2012). This is exemplified by the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome, which results in the loss of between 35-60 genes, and is among the highest genetic associations for risk of neurodevelopmental disorders (Murphy 2002, Ahn, Gotay et al. 2014, Schneider, Debbane et al. 2014). Classical genetic studies have attempted to understand these hemideletion syndromes through removal of a gene of interest in order to dissect the role of the associated gene product. This approach has been invaluable in advancing our understanding of certain monogenic disorders, such as in the case of identification of the *Fragile X* mental retardation 1 gene, which encodes the Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein (FMRP). First identified in 1991, FMR1 contains a trinucleotide expansion repeat, which is now known to cause complete silencing of FMR1 and subsequent loss of FMRP (Verkerk, Pieretti et al. 1991, Oostra and Verkerk 1992,

Feng, Zhang et al. 1995). Laboratory research following this discovery led to elucidating essential roles for FMRP in proper brain development (Reiss, Abrams et al. 1995, Comery, Harris et al. 1997, Morales, Hiesinger et al. 2002). In the laboratory, however, studying the effects of the loss of a single gene and it's encoded polypeptide does not address the complicated genetics at play in large hemideletion syndromes, where loss of a single copy of multiple genes, rather than total removal of just one, gives rise to the observed phenotypes (Gottesman and Shields 1967, Purcell, Wray et al. 2009).

Despite recent advancements and identification of at risk alleles, we have yet to adequately identify disease mechanisms that will inform appropriate treatments for neurodevelopmental disorders. These gaps in our understanding suggest that our attempts to conceptualize these disorders as arising from a single genetic modification, as well as the notion that interactome components participate in a linear genetic pathway that remains stable and intact following single gene disruption, are no longer sufficient in advancing our knowledge of these disorders. Here, I attempt to address these challenges in the field and reconstruct our understanding of the genetics of complex neurodevelopmental disorders. To do this, I will consider the gene *DTNBP1*, polymorphisms of which are associated with the development of schizophrenia as well as more severe forms of the disease such as early onset childhood schizophrenia (Gornick, Addington et al. Allen, al. Talbot, al. 2005, Bagade et 2008, Ong et 2009, Schizophrenia_Research_Forum 2010, Fatjó-Vilas, Papiol et al. 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). This gene is ideally suited as the object of this study, as its

gene product, dysbindin, has several known interacting proteins that together form a larger protein complex (BLOC-1)(Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010), the known biology of which I will describe shortly. Additionally, this gene and it's gene product, as well as the interacting proteins, are evolutionarily conserved (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010), allowing for the study of dysbindin and the related BLOC-1 complex across vertebrate and invertebrate experimental systems. Thus, I will exploit these characteristics of *DTNBP1* and dysbindin to address the following questions:

First, to what extent do loss-of-function mutations within an interactome or genetic pathway phenocopy each other? We would predict that perturbations to different subunits within a protein complex, such as the aforementioned BLOC-1, should result in identical molecular and functional phenotypes. That is to say that if multiple proteins equally participate in the same cellular events, loss of any one of those proteins should yield the same output across multiple assessments. Alternatively, it would also follow that combinations of loss-of-function mutations across multiple proteins within the complex should also yield identical phenotypes.

Second, if we now consider that same, single loss-of-function mutation, <u>how does</u> <u>this mutation affect a molecularly defined network, and to what extent are these</u> <u>network components altered in response to the single loss-of-function?</u> As described above, previous work has assumed that network components remain stable even in the face of disruption of a network component. However, I predict that this is not the case, and that loss-of-function mutations may actually lead to network-wide instability. Additionally, I predict that components of a network that are sensitive to a loss-of-function mutation may converge in a functionally defined pathway.

In addressing these two key questions, I will demonstrate that a single genetic perturbation results in a complex set of changes in cellular activity in multiple experimental models, from human-derived cells, to synaptic activity and simple learning behavior in Drosophila. Additionally, I demonstrate that by using a molecularly defined network to guide investigation, we can understand how network components converge in a functionally defined pathway. This work highlights the importance of taking into account network interactions when experimentally perturbing a network constituent. Additionally, my research provides novel insight into the challenges of studying complex polygenic neurodevelopmental disorders by highlighting the range of phenotypes that can arise from combinations of loss-of-function mutations to multiple alleles, albeit within a predefined network associated with neurodevelopmental disorders rather than across a genetic loci containing multiple protein networks. The findings of this study, however, provide caveats equally to both those studying a single gene as a proxy for the behavior of the complex to which the encoded protein belongs, as well as those attempting to recapitulate a complex genetic disorder through single gene approaches.

Here, I will study the octameric BLOC-1 complex as an example of a defined protein network implicated in neurodevelopmental disease. By choosing this complex as the subject of my work, I also contribute to our understanding of the role of BLOC-1 in stages of synaptic vesicle biogenesis and cycling to and from the plasma membrane. Additionally, I describe a previously uncharacterized role for BLOC-1 in maintaining baseline synaptic activity as well as in the development of the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction. In this chapter, I will first present my work in the context of the larger question of "How do we study complex genetic disorders?" I will then introduce the BLOC-1 complex, it's relevance to neurodevelopmental disorders, and it's role in basic cellular functions. I will focus on properties of synaptic vesicle organization, highlighting the known roles for BLOC-1 in the presynaptic compartment. I will briefly introduce the advantages of using *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model organism to address these questions. In doing so, I will answer the following central question at the core of my dissertation research:

How do genetic modifications affecting a defined protein interaction network, in this case defined by dysbindincontaining BLOC-1, regulate properties of synaptic vesicle release and plasticity which lead to complex behaviors?

Section 1. Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Mechanisms and Boundary Definitions from Genomes, Interactomes, and Proteomes

This chapter was published as, or modified from:

Mullin AP, Gokhale A, Moreno-De-Luca A, Sanyal S, Waddington JL, Faundez V. Neurodevelopmental disorders: mechanisms and boundary definitions from genomes, interactomes and proteomes. Transl Psychiatry. 2013 Dec 3;3:e329. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.108. Review.

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) are multifaceted conditions characterized by impairments in cognition, communication, behavior, and/or motor skills resulting from abnormal brain development. Intellectual disability, communication disorders, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), motor disorders, and neuropsychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia fall under the umbrella of NDD (Reiss 2009, Rapoport, Giedd et al. 2012, American Psychiatric Association 2013). Currently, there are no biomarkers to diagnose NDD or to differentiate between them. Rather, these disorders are categorized into discrete disease entities based on clinical presentation (American Psychiatric Association 2013). This is problematic, as many symptoms are not unique to a single NDD, and several NDD have clusters of symptoms in common. For example, impaired social cognition is common to ASD and schizophrenia (King and Lord 2011, Korkmaz 2011, Sugranyes, Kyriakopoulos et al. 2011, Lugnegard, Unenge Hallerback et al. 2013) and psychosis is observed not only in schizophrenia but also in those with bipolar disorder or major depressive disorder (Domschke 2013, Owoeye, Kingston et al. 2013). Complicating the understanding of these disorders further is an overlapping set of genetic variations amongst NDDs, which prevents the use

of reliable genetic testing. Thus, the diffuse clinical boundaries and complex genetics of NDD present several challenges for examining the basic biological processes that these disorders are rooted in. Classical experimental assessments exploit the ease of studying monogenic disorders, where a single genetic variation is entirely responsible for the clinical presentation. However, in the case of NDDs, we have overlapping sets of both genetic variations, which frequently include numerous genes and gene products, and symptoms. How, then, do we go about studying these disorders in a directed fashion? Here, I will advocate for cultivating a more complete and inclusive understanding of the genetics and associated molecular pathways involved in these disorders, and present a case for using an experimentally curated interactome to guide our studies.

Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Boundary Definitions from Genomes The hypothesis that NDD are distinct nosological entities predicts that genetic factors associated with risk for or causation of a given disorder should segregate with diagnostic categories; thus, in classical terms, there should be little or no overlap among the genetic factors implicated in each NDD. That is, the genes that operate in one disorder should not be involved in another. However, genetic epidemiology reveals substantive overlap between genes conferring risk for or causing NDDs.

Genetic defects associated with risk or causation of NDDs range from large chromosomal deletions to single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Notably, among major genomic defects, a number of chromosomal deletions are associated with intellectual disability, ASD and schizophrenia (Bassett, Scherer et

al. 2010, Doherty, O'Donovan et al. 2012, Malhotra and Sebat 2012, Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013). Among the most frequent are 1921.1, 16p11.2 and 22q11.2 (Karayiorgou, Simon et al. 2010, Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013). The large number of genes affected by these deletions should cause little surprise that they give rise to disorders with overlapping phenotypes. However, smaller genetic modifications, specifically SNPs in non-coding regions, are shared among diverse NDDs (Smoller, Craddock et al. 2013). Genetic overlap among NDDs extends to monogenic defects that affect the coding sequence and expression of a single polypeptide encoded by the gene (e.g. SHANK3, NRXN1, DISC1, FMR1, MECP2, GPHN). Patients carrying these mutations are diagnosed either with intellectual disability, ASD, schizophrenia, or combinations of these disorders (St Clair, Blackwood et al. 1990, Amir, Van den Veyver et al. 1999, Lam, Yeung et al. 2000, Cohen, Lazar et al. 2002, Chahrour and Zoghbi 2007, Kilpinen, Ylisaukko-Oja et al. 2008, Kirov, Gumus et al. 2008, Kirov, Rujescu et al. 2009, Ching, Shen et al. 2010, Calfa, Percy et al. 2011, Gauthier, Siddiqui et al. 2011, Porteous, Millar et al. 2011, Schaaf, Boone et al. 2012, Iqbal, Vandeweyer et al. 2013, Lionel, Vaags et al. 2013). Monogenic genetic defects affect subunits of obligate and stable protein complexes. For example, the adaptor complex AP-3 is an obligate heterotetramer that generates vesicles from early endosomes localized to lysosomes/synapses (Newell-Litwa, Seong et al. 2007, Larimore, Tornieri et al. 2011). Human mutations in a neuronal-specific AP-3 subunit (AP3B2) associate with ASD (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, O'Roak, Vives et al. 2012). Thus, irrespective of the size of a genetic defect, there is a continuously expanding list

of affected genes that do not respect categorical diagnostic boundaries among NDDs.

Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Boundary Definitions from Interactomes

Protein interaction networks (interactomes) to which NDD genes belong also overlap. Interactomes built from genes associated with intellectual disability, ASD, ADHD, and schizophrenia converge on common molecular pathways (Cristino, Williams et al. 2013). Genes associated with these NDD intersect on one out of 700 genes catalogued as risk factors. However, the list of common proteins shared by these NDD increases to 147 out of the 700 genes simply by expanding the gene catalog to include predicted first-degree interacting neighbors obtained from protein-protein interaction databases (Cristino, Williams et al. 2013). These computational studies support the concept that the interactomes associated with NDD overlap. However, the power of these types of studies is limited by the present quality of protein interaction databases that are incomplete, are only moderately curated to accommodate new published findings, and are often populated by results not confirmed by alternative biochemical, genetic, and/or functional approaches (Guimera and Sales-Pardo 2009, Gokhale, Perez-Cornejo et al. 2012, Yu, Wallqvist et al. 2012). Furthermore, protein interaction databases are biased by the experimental approach used in their generation; for example, most protein interaction databases poorly represent membrane proteins that are not amenable to exploration by older techniques, such as traditional yeast two hybrid or pulldowns with bacterial recombinant proteins, but we now have developed the tools to explore (Brito and Andrews 2011).

The interactome of the schizophrenia susceptibility gene DTNBP1 well illustrates several of these problems (Figure 1). DTNBP1 encodes dysbindin, a subunit of the BLOC-1 complex (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004, Weickert, Rothmond et al. 2008, Ryder and Faundez 2009, Talbot, Ong et al. 2009, Tang, LeGros et al. 2009, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010, Ghiani and Dell'Angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011, Talbot, Louneva et al. 2011). This complex participates in membrane protein trafficking between endosomes and lysosomes, and between endosomes located in neuronal cell bodies and the synapse (Ryder and Faundez 2009, Larimore, Tornieri et al. 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). Published in silico dysbindin interactomes (Li, Feng et al. 2007, Guo, Sun et al. 2009) differ from biochemically and genetically tested protein interaction networks (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012). However, discrepancies among interactomes expand beyond those published (Figures 1a and d). Three protein interaction databases report associations that differ from each other in interactor identities. Furthermore, feeding those associations into a rigorous algorithm for 'de novo' generation of interactomes reveals different network topologies (Figures 1a and d) (Rossin, Lage et al. 2011). Only one of these four dysbindin interactomes links dysbindin with the adaptor complex AP-3, despite multiple biochemical, cell biology, and genetic evidence that these complexes interact in vivo and in vitro (Figure 1a) (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Hashimoto, Ohi et al. 2009, Hikita, Taya et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al.

2009, Oyama, Yamakawa et al. 2009, Taneichi-Kuroda, Taya et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). This deficiency in existing databases has immediate ramifications, as mutations in AP3B2 associated with ASD cannot be linked to schizophrenia through the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, O'Roak, Vives et al. 2012). AP3B2 is not an isolated instance. Rather, only the experimentally defined dysbindin interactome identifies SNAP29 and CLTCL1 (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et. al, 2009). SNAP29 has been identified as a de novo risk factor for schizophrenia, while both SNAP29 and CLTCL1 map to the chromosome interval affected in velocardiofacial (chromosome 22q11.2 deletion) syndrome (Karayiorgou, Simon et al. 2010, Malhotra, McCarthy et al. 2011). This syndrome closely associates with schizophrenia, ASD, and intellectual disability (Karayiorgou, Simon et al. 2010). Gaps in content and quality in relation to protein interaction databases are important, as these repositories are the foundation for molecular connectivity between genetic defects associated with a given disorder. These deficiencies are missed opportunities for establishing molecular mechanisms of disease and finding mechanistic commonalities among NDDs. Thus, we argue in favor of generating interactomes confirmed by biochemical, genetic, and/or functional strategies. Epidemiological genomics offer the field a good selection of solid candidate genes with which to begin this quest.



Figure 1. *DTNBP1*-dysbindin interactomes differ in their constituents and topology. Interactomes were assembled with the Dapple algorithm (http://www.broadinstitute.org/mpg/dapple/dapple.php) (Rossin, Lage et al. 2011) using as inputs the dysbindin associated proteins identified by affinity chromatography (A), and interactors reported in three protein-protein interaction databases: (B) Biogrid (http://thebiogrid.org/), (C) Genemania (http://www.genemania.org/) and (D) String 9.05 (http://string.embl.de/). Red boxes highlight *DTNBP1*. Note that the identity of interacting proteins differs among interactomes. Color code represents a Dapple estimated probability that a protein would be as connected to other proteins (directly or indirectly) by chance as is depicted. Only interactome A, presents a biochemically and genetically confirmed interaction between the adaptor complex AP-3 and the dysbindincontaining BLOC-1 complex

Neurodevelopmental Disorders "Guilty by Association" Mechanisms of Disease.

Loss of one protein function due to a genetic mutation can alter levels or activity of other proteins that interact either directly or indirectly with the mutant protein. Subunits of protein complexes are particularly susceptible to loss-offunction genetic modifications to interacting partners, making them "guilty by association" in the context of disease. Genetic defects, or even non-pathogenic allelic variation affecting a single subunit of a protein complex, frequently lead to down-regulation and/or covariation of other complex subunits (Kantheti, Qiao et al. 1998, Peden, Rudge et al. 2002, Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Jia, Gomez et al. 2010, Wu, Candille et al. 2013). DTNBP1 null mutations preventing dysbindin expression down-regulate expression of most subunits of the BLOC-1 complex, despite the monogenic character of the mutation (Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). Reciprocally, genetic defects on other BLOC-1 subunits decrease dysbindin cellular content (Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). "Guilty by association" proteins in the dysbindin interactome extend beyond intrinsic components of the BLOC-1 complex. These proteins include membrane protein cargoes such as VAMP7 (VAMP7), a synaptic vesicle fusogenic membrane protein known as a v-SNARE (vesicular- SNAP receptor protein) implicated in spontaneous synaptic vesicle fusion, the Menkes disease copper transporter (ATP7A), the adaptor complex AP-3, RhoGEF1 (ARHGEF1), and BDNF (BDNF), a neurotrophin with a long history of association with several NDD (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010, Hua, Leal-
Ortiz et al. 2011, Autry and Monteggia 2012, Ramirez and Kavalali 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013). None of these proteins whose levels are affected by mutations in *DTNBP1*, or other BLOC-1 complex subunits, can be identified in current protein interaction databases that focus on physical protein-protein interactions. This problem prevents their inclusion in any analysis seeking to connect genetic defects found in genome wide associations studies to relevant molecular pathology.

Creating Understanding from Genome Informed Proteomes-Interactomes.

Genome-wide association studies search clinically-defined patient populations for genetic markers that reach a threshold of statistical significance to associate with disease risk (Figure 2a). This approach encounters the problem that these disorders are polygenic and that categorical NDD definitions are not linked to biological markers or molecular phenotype (Gottesman and Shields 1967, Purcell, Wray et al. 2009). Thus, it is likely that genetically heterogeneous patient cohorts in these studies gather multiple molecular mechanisms of disease. However, these studies offer powerful insight when a particular genetic marker reaches statistical significance, despite the 'noise' introduced by the polygenic character of these disorders and the problems intrinsic to categorical NDD definitions. Genetic defects associated with one or multiple NDD should be seen as the tip of the iceberg to unravel biological mechanisms of disease. Interactomes of gene products consistently implicated in NDDs ('tip of the iceberg genes') are a fertile ground to search for disease mechanisms (Rossin, Lage et al. 2011, Luo, Huang et al. 2014). This prediction stems from the hypothesis that genomes of patients

affected by polygenic NDD should concentrate alleles that affect the expression or function of genes whose products belong to or modulate a relevant pathway (Sullivan 2012). We illustrate this concept in Figure 2b where gene- α has reached statistical significance in a population GWAS. The product encoded by gene- α is a bait to 'fish out' the red protein interaction network (Red interactome B1, Figure 2b). The biochemical definition of interactome 1 would occur irrespective of whether interactome 1 contains products encoded by genes carrying defects that do not cross a population statistical threshold (Figure 2b).

This genome to proteome 'reverse' approach is not foreign to current genomic studies, in which bioinformatics of protein–protein interaction databases are used to find connections between gene defects that associate with a disorder at a GWAS level (O'Roak, Vives et al. 2012, Luo, Huang et al. 2014) (Figure 2c). However, mapping GWAS results back to an interactome requires the availability of several network genes that cross a statistical threshold (Red interactome 1, Figure 2c) as well as pre-existing and reliable protein interaction databases. Genes below statistical threshold in the red network C1 would not contribute to the identification of the C1 interactome (Red interactome C1, Figure 2c). Moreover, current criteria to allocate GWAS results to an interactome would miss the yellow interactome C2 where genes encoding interactome products are all below statistical threshold (Figure 2c).

How can we obtain mechanistic insight from studying 'omes'? We propose two non-exclusive approaches to define the biology of NDDs using protein-protein interaction networks and genomics. The first approach is through the definition of 'tip of the iceberg gene' protein networks, such as those depicted by the red interactomes in Figures 2b and c. Second, reliable protein interactomes can be used as a query matrix to explore patient's genomes for genetic defects or variants targeting interactome encoding loci. Different patients may carry defects in one or more genes encoding products belonging to an interactome. Each gene defect does not reach statistical significance in a 'gene-centric' GWAS study (Subject 1–3, Figure 2d).

However, collective analysis of the genomes in a cohort of patients (Subject 1–3, Figure 2d) shows significant enrichment of genetic defects clustered on a common pathway (compare red and yellow interactomes, Figure 2e). The association of a biological mechanism, defined by an already known and reliable interactome, with the genome of affected individuals would occur, although each gene in isolation would have not risen above statistical threshold. In this case, statistical significance is assigned to a collection of genes defining an interaction network rather than a single gene (Figure 2e).

These solutions depend on reliable protein interactions networks. As mentioned above, the quality of protein-protein interaction databases commonly used is substandard. This is due to a lack of thorough biochemical, functional and/or genetic confirmation of interactions. We posit that it is possible to extract more information about disease mechanisms and disorder boundaries from current GWAS studies if reliable protein interaction maps were to exist. As these are either not available or they are in construction, we propose to focus efforts on defining the interactomes of (a) NDDs 'tip of the iceberg genes' as well as (b) 'guilty by association' proteins detected in the proteomes of cells carrying genetic defects in 'tip of the iceberg genes'. These and other experimentally confirmed interactomes (yellow interactome 2 in Figure 2e) would allow us to extract novel genetic information from existing and future GWAS.



Figure 2. Models of cross-fertilization between genomes, proteomes, and interactomes. Grid in diagrams A to E depicts a polygenic genetic landscape associated to a NDD. Circles represent defined genes within the grid that when affected in different combinations trigger a NDD. Bars above each gene indicate a subject where a gene defect was found on a GWAS. Blue bars are those subjects that have a defect in a gene below statistical threshold, which is marked by the asterisk in A. Red bars above a gene represent subjects that have a defect in a gene above statistical threshold. B depicts a 'tip of the iceberg gene α ' and the network to which it belongs represented by the connected red circles (interactome 1). C depicts three 'tip of the iceberg gene' and the network to which they belong (interactome 1). The yellow interactome 2 is constituted by genes below statistical threshold as defined by gene-centric GWAS statistical analysis. D represents genetic defects (blue bars) in two interactomes per patient (subjects 1-3). Note that in all patients there is no gene defects in the red interactome. E depicts hypothetical results of an interactome-centric GWAS that includes subjects 1-3 in D. The yellow interactome 2 is now above statistical threshold as defined by an interactome-centric GWAS statistical analysis. See text for details.

Creating a genome-independent nosology from proteomesinteractomes

Human proteomes are hereditable molecular phenotypes(Wu, Candille et al. 2013) and as such constitute valuable, yet untapped, resources to create disorder classifications rooted in molecules and their pathways. The study of proteomes shares with the analysis of genomes its quantitative and unbiased character. However, proteomes and interactomes offer the distinctive advantage of being executors of phenotypic programs in cells and tissues. Therefore, proteomes and interactomes are causally closer to the identity of disease mechanisms than genomes. Proteomes are already beginning to shed light on complex neurological disorders such as schizophrenia (English, Pennington et al. 2011, Martins-de-Souza 2012). However, we should not limit ourselves to just exploring postmortem brains of subjects grouped solely by their clinical features. Instead, we advocate for the study of proteomes from cells isolated from individuals that are genetically related. Cell proteomes from affected probands compared with their unaffected first-degree relatives offer a great prospect for the identification of hereditable or de novo abnormalities in molecular phenotypes. Evidently, in the context of NDDs, human inducible pluripotent stem cells are a great resource, as they can be differentiated into neurons (Goldstein 2012). However, it is likely that the molecular mechanisms affected in NDDs are common to many, if not all cells. For example, Fragile X syndrome or velocardiofacial syndrome, where multiple tissues are affected (Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013). Thus, fibroblasts or lymphoblasts from human pedigrees are likely to offer valuable insights into neuronal disorders. We predict that proteomes built from genetically related subjects' cells will bridge two camps. On one hand, proteomes will help us to interpret results from genome-wide analyses. On the other hand, they will guide us to define NDD mechanisms at levels of complexity higher than the traditional single genes or proteins. These would include, for instance, subcellular compartments, such as synapses or mitochondria, and deficits in tissue organization, such as those in neural circuits. Genomes, proteomes and interactomes give us vantage points, the inevitable next step is to dive deep into the biology emerging from and converging to them.

My dissertation research is founded on a biochemically curated protein interaction network defined by the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin. This network identified the seven remaining BLOC-1 subunits as being down-regulated after genetic perturbation to dysbindin. Additionally, several factors outside of BLOC-1 were identified in this interactome. In this work, I will examine the complexities of the interactions within the complex, largely using the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction to measure synaptic read-outs, as well as to use this curated network to test the hypothesis that proteomes and interactomes can guide us in defining mechanisms of NDDs. While these interactions do arise from this dysbindin-derived interactome, the focus of the work is on the function of the entire BLOC-1 complex, and how BLOC-1 complex network stability is essential for normal synaptic functions. In the following chapter, I provide a comprehensive description of the BLOC-1 complex biochemistry and cellular functions, as well as the role of the BLOC-1 complex in synaptic biology and association with schizophrenia, a neurodevelopmental disorder.

Section 2. Cell Biology of the BLOC-1 Complex Subunit Dysbindin, a Schizophrenia Susceptibility Gene.

This chapter was published as, or modified from:

Mullin AP, Gokhale A, Larimore J, Faundez V. Cell biology of the BLOC-1 complex subunit dysbindin, a schizophrenia susceptibility gene. Mol Neurobiol. 2011 Aug;44(1):53-64. doi: 10.1007/s12035-011-8183-3. Epub 2011 Apr 26. Review.

Association of dysbindin and schizophrenia: Genetic evidence

A central feature of schizophrenia is the strong genetic component associated with disease development as concluded from monozygotic twin studies, which indicate a heritability of ~80% (Cannon, Kaprio et al. 1998, Cardno, Marshall et al. 1999, Sullivan, Kendler et al. 2003). Rare highly penetrant genetic deficiencies have lead to possible disease mechanisms. These include copy number variations such as chromosome microdelections or microduplications (Consortium 2008, Stefansson, Rujescu et al. 2008, McCarthy, Makarov et al. 2009, Ingason, Rujescu et al. 2010, Karayiorgou, Simon et al. 2010, Moreno-De-Luca, Mulle et al. 2010, Mulle, Dodd et al. 2010); chromosomal translocations comprising the DISC1 locus (Brandon, Millar et al. 2009); and mutations affecting the post synaptic scaffolding protein Shank₃ (Gauthier, Champagne et al.) or a kinesin motor isoform (Tarabeux, Champagne et al. 2010). In contrast to these genetic variants, the vast majority of schizophrenia cases fit into a polygenic model where principal contributions to disease are believed to result from convergence of multiple genes of small to moderate effect size (Gottesman and Shields 1967, Risch 1990, Purcell, Wray et al. 2009). These genetic features of schizophrenia have hampered the progress in the understanding of disease pathogenesis.

Genome-wide analyses of schizophrenia-affected individuals have uncovered multiple haplotypes that strongly associate with disease. In these studies DTNBP1 ranks 20th in a group of 45 genes selected as strongly associated with disease risk out of a total pool 1008 genes studied thus far (Allen, Bagade et al. 2008, Schizophrenia Research Forum 2010). For example, a defined allele in the DTNBP1 gene (rs1011313) was associated with susceptibility to schizophrenia in a meta-analysis comparing 2,696 Caucasian patients with schizophrenia with 2,849 controls (Allen, Bagade et al. 2008, Schizophrenia Research Forum 2010). Based on the Ioannidis guidelines for the analysis of cumulative evidence in genetic association studies, the DTNBP1 association with disease is considered with a strong degree of epidemiologic reliability (Ioannidis, Boffetta et al. 2008). However, attempts to identify mutations in the exome of DTNBP1 in schizophrenia patients have been negative so far (Dwyer, Carroll et al.). Moreover, the only human case reported carrying a loss-of-function allele in DTNBP1 lacked psychiatric manifestations. This patient carried a homozygote 307C-T transition in the *DTNBP1* gene resulting in the substitution of glutamine 103 to a stop codon (Q103X). The patient, the daughter of consanguineous parents, was affected by Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 7 (HPS7; OMIM 203300) exhibiting oculocutaneous albinism, ease of bruising, and a bleeding tendency, yet there were "no apparent behavioral abnormalities in the [affected] individual" nor a report of disease in her consanguineous relatives (Li, Zhang et al. 2003). The absence of evidence of psychiatric illness in this patient, her family, and an individual affected by Hermansky-Pudlak type 8 (HSP8; OMIM 203300; see below), raise doubts about the involvement of DTNBP1 in disease.

This uncertainty about *DTNBP1* in disease susceptibility is further enhanced by inconsistent association of defined DTNBP1 polymorphisms with the schizophrenia (Straub, Jiang et al. 2002, Schwab, Knapp et al. 2003, Williams, Preece et al. 2004) and the inconsistent association of the DTNBP1 locus with disease across multiple patient cohorts of diverse ethnicities (Morris, McGhee et al. 2003, Mutsuddi, Morris et al. 2006, Turunen, Peltonen et al. 2007, Peters, Wiltshire et al. 2008, Strohmaier, Frank et al. 2010). However, it should be kept in perspective that even when the genome between individuals is identical, as is the case with monozygotic twins, not all individuals develop schizophrenia arguing for other factors necessary to trigger disease. The polygenic character of schizophrenia raises the issue that individuals possessing susceptibility alleles in genes, such as DTNBP1, may express psychiatric phenotypes only when these genetic variants occur in a propitious genome and when environmental factors come to play (Abazyan, Nomura et al. 2010). A propitious genome for disease development would contain additional susceptibility alleles in other loci. Each allele in isolation would not trigger disease. However, only a combination of susceptibility alleles in different genetic loci would trigger disease.

Biochemical, anatomical, and functional consequences of carrying *DTNBP1* polymorphisms associated to disease.

The genetic evidence for the involvement of *DTNBP1* in schizophrenia may be considered ambiguous. However, a stronger case about *DTNBP1* involvement on disease emerges when considering molecular, anatomical, and systems/behavioral phenotypes associated with *DTNBP1* polymorphisms in humans.

DTNBP1 polymorphisms associated with disease are found in non-coding regions of the DTNBP1 locus (Guo, Sun et al. 2009). However, the reduced levels of expression of DTNBP1 mRNA and protein in post-mortem schizophrenia brains suggest that these non-coding polymorphisms could affect transcript or protein levels. Pioneer quantitative immunocytochemistry and immunoblot studies by Talbot indicate that 73 to 93% of schizophrenia cases displayed dysbindin reductions in the hippocampal region. Reductions averaged 18 to 42% in two clinical case cohorts totaling 32 patients (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004). These findings contrast with the normal levels of the synaptic vesicle protein synaptophysin in the same cases arguing against a loss of synapses. These findings have been replicated using biochemical analysis of dysbindin levels in homogenates of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenic patients in two independent studies (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004, Tang, LeGros et al. 2009, Talbot, Louneva et al. 2011). Reduction in hippocampal protein levels is mirrored by reduced levels of dysbindin mRNA in the hippocampal formation of patients with schizophrenia (Weickert, Straub et al. 2004, Bray, Preece et al. 2005, Weickert, Rothmond et al. 2008). Similarly, patients with schizophrenia had decreased dysbindin mRNA levels in multiple layers of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, whereas synaptophysin mRNA levels seem unaffected (Weickert, Straub et al. 2004). Importantly, DTNBP1 polymorphisms associated with increased disease risk may influence the content of *DTNBP1* messenger RNA (Bray, Preece et al. 2005). DTNBP1 polymorphisms associated to increased schizophrenia risk correlate with a reduction in DTNBP1 mRNA expression in human cerebral cortex whereas putative 'protective' polymorphisms associate with high DTNBP1

expression (Bray, Preece et al. 2005). Although these observations need replication in other patient cohorts, they provide good circumstantial evidence supporting the hypothesis that non-coding polymorphisms in *DTNBP1* regulate its transcript expression and thus dysbindin content and function in specific areas of the brain.

DTNBP1 risk polymorphisms associated with reduced levels of mRNA in patients also correlates with reduced gray matter volume in the dorsolateral prefrontal and occipital cortex (Donohoe, Frodl et al. 2010). These observations well fit well to the behavioral findings of impaired spatial working memory (Donohoe, Morris et al. 2007) and electrophysiological data consistent with impaired visual processing also observed in carriers of this same DTNBP1 risk polymorphisms (Donohoe, Morris et al. 2008). Reduced volume of grey matter has been recapitulated in other patient cohorts with a different DTNBP1 risk polymorphism (Narr, Szeszko et al. 2009) further supporting the model that DTNBP1 susceptibility variants may affect specific cortical regions in schizophrenia. Furthermore, evidence is mounting supporting the idea that DTNBP1 risk polymorphisms associate with differences in brain function encompassing changes in prefrontal brain function (Fallgatter, Herrmann et al. 2006), cortical activation during verbal tasks (Markov, Krug et al. 2009), visual processing (Donohoe, Morris et al. 2008, Mechelli, Viding et al. 2010), and emotional working memory (Wolf, Jackson et al. 2009). Collectively, correlative biochemical, genetic, anatomical and functional evidence argues that carriers of DTNBP1 alleles associated with disease display phenotypes of progressive

complexity that may contribute to schizophrenia susceptibility. Unraveling the contributions of the *DTNBP1* locus to schizophrenia requires a comprehensive understanding of phylogenetically conserved dysbindin molecular interactions, the fundamental cellular pathways modulated by dysbindin and its associated proteins, and cell-cell interactions influenced by dysbindin and its interactors. These fundamental questions are the central focus of this manuscript.

The Eight Musketeers: "all for one, one for all", that is BLOC-1's motto.

A common occurrence in the psychiatric literature related to dysbindin is to consider this protein in isolation. Instead genetics and comparative phylogeny define a conserved core of dysbindin molecular interactions. These dysbindin interactions define a stable protein complex known as the BLOC-1 complex (Biogenesis of Lysosome-related Organelles Complex-1). Most brain dysbindin, if not all, exists as part of BLOC-1 a large molecular weight complex with a Stokes' radius of ~95 Å and a native molecular size of 200 ± 30 kDa. BLOC-1's molecular weight far exceeds dysbindin's predicted molecular weight of ~39.5 kDa (Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). The BLOC-1 complex is a heterooctamer comprising of dysbindin, pallidin, muted, cappuccino, BLOS1, BLOS2, BLOS3/reduced pigmentation and snapin polypeptides (Di Pietro and Dell'Angelica 2005) (Figure 3A. Figure 3B shows three BLOC-1 subunits coprecipitating with recombinant dysbindin). The molecular architecture of binary interactions between BLOC-1 complex subunits is conserved from Drosophila to mammals as determined by two-hybrid analysis (Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Di Pietro and Dell'Angelica 2005, Nazarian,

Starcevic et al. 2006, Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010) (Figure 3A depicts interactions among BLOC-1 subunits in mammals). This illustrates that the BLOC-1 organization was selected early on in evolution and its conservation from fly to human argues for the functional significance of this architecture. The phenotype of pallidin, muted, BLOS3/reduced pigmentation, cappuccino, and dysbindin deficient mice further supports dysbindin incorporation into this complex. First, loss of one BLOC-1 subunit triggers down-regulation of other complex subunits. For example, dysbindin-null mice *sandy* (*DTNBP1sdy/sdy*) express reduced levels of muted, pallidin, and snapin polypeptides. For example, Figure 4 illustrates the absence of pallidin in *Pldnpa/pa* mouse hippocampus, a phenotype similarly observed in *DTNBP1sdy/dy* hippocampus. Concurrently, dysbindin is reduced in null mouse models of Blos3/reduced pigmentation (*BLOC1S3^{rp/rp}*), muted (*Muted^{mu/mu}*) and pallid (*Pldn^{pa/pa}*) (Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Feng, Zhou et al. 2008).

These molecular/genetic associations and biochemical phenotypes of loss-offunction alleles converge again in the systemic phenotypes of pallidin, muted, BLOS3/reduced pigmentation, cappuccino and dysbindin deficient mice. They all share phenotypes including oculocutaneous pigment dilution, bleeding diathesis, and pulmonary fibrosis that are hallmarks of a human autosomal recessive disorder –the Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome (Li, Rusiniak et al. 2004, Di Pietro and Dell'Angelica 2005, Wei 2006). A phenotypic trait –pigment dilution- is also observed in flies carrying null mutations in Blos1 (CG30077)(Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). Similarly, patients with mutations in dysbindin (Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 7, HPS7) and Blos3/reduced pigmentation (Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 8, HPS8) share all or part of the phenotypic triad found in BLOC-



1-deficient mice (Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Morgan, Pasha et al. 2006). Together, these phenotypes from model genetic organisms and humans, strongly support a role for dysbindin in functions integral to the BLOC-1 complex.

Interestingly, and somewhat surprisingly, there are no reports of neuropsychiatric phenotypes in the two patients bearing mutations in BLOC-1 subunits: dysbindin (HPS7) and Blos3/reduced pigmentation (HPS8)(Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Morgan, Pasha et al. 2006). In contrast, mice and flies lacking

Figure 3. Molecular Architecture of the BLOC-1 complex. A) Diagram represents the molecular associations between the eight subunits of the BLOC-1 complex as determined from yeast two hybrid analyses and information in curated databases (http://thebiogrid.org/) (Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Di Pietro and Dell'Angelica 2005, Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010) B) Dysbindin Coimmunoprecipitates with BLOC-1 subunits. Cell extracts from HEK293 cells expressing muted tagged with a triple Flag tag (B) or untransfected (C) were immunoprecipitated (IP) with beads coated with Flag antibodies (lanes 1, 2, and 5) or control mouse IgG (lane 4 and 6). As controls, immunoprecipitations were outcompeted with triple Flag peptide to prevent binding of muted Flag and associated proteins to beads (lane 2) or homogenates (Hom) were excluded from reactions carrying Flag antibodies (Lane 3). The presence of the BLOC-1 subunits dysbindin, pallidin, and Blos3 was determined by immunoblot of SDS-PAGE

BLOC-1 subunits possess well-defined neurological phenotypes. There is a growing literature documenting neuro-behavioral phenotypes in sandy mice $(DTNBP1^{sdy/dy})$ (Talbot 2009) despite the fact that the initial description of the sandu mutation did not detect neurobehavioral abnormalities (Li, Zhang et al. 2003). Deficiencies in the dysbindin and Blos1 Drosophila orthologues trigger synaptic electrophysiological phenotypes and neuro-behavioral abnormalities (Dickman and Davis 2009, Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). Similarly, dysbindin and snapin null mice share common synaptic electrophysiological phenotypes (see below). Biochemically defined synaptic vesicle and hippocampal phenotypes are also shared in three BLOC-1 null mutations namely *muted*, *pallid* and *sandy* (Larimore unpublished observations and (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010)). This phenotypic convergence is extended to behavioral phenotypes shared in *muted*, *pallid*, *reduced pigmentation*, and cappuccino deficient mice (Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). Collectively, these results from *Drosophila* and mice argue for a phylogenetically conserved role of BLOC-1 in synaptic function. Significantly, studies by Talbot, in brain tissue samples from schizophrenia patients, point to an association of dysbindin reduction and synaptic vesicle composition as exemplified by the increased level of the vesicular glutamate transporter 1, (Vglut1) in presynaptic terminals of schizophrenia brains (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004). Importantly, Vglut1 forms a complex with BLOC-1 in brain synaptic fractions and neuronal cell lines (Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010).

It is reasonable to hypothesize that a role for dysbindin in the risk of schizophrenia pathogenesis is as an integral subunit of the BLOC-1 complex. This hypothesis makes two predictions. First, alleles in BLOC-1 subunit genes should influence disease risk. In fact, significant association between *BLOC1S*₃ alleles and schizophrenia and epistatic genetic interactions between DTNBP1 and MUTED contributing to schizophrenia support the first prediction (Morris, Murphy et al. 2008). However, a genetic association between DTNBP1 and MUTED in schizophrenia patients is controversial (Gerrish, Williams et al. 2009). Secondly, reduction of dysbindin protein in schizophrenia should be associated with reduced levels of other BLOC-1 proteins. Among those proteins, Talbot has found reductions not only in dysbindin, but also in pallidin, snapin, and especially BLOS3 in the inner molecular layer of the dentate gyrus of schizophrenia cases (Talbot, personal communication). Similarly, we have observed reduced levels of pallidin in the hippocampal formation of sandy mice (Fig. 4). These are suggestive leads that need further development to properly implicate the BLOC-1 complex in schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders.





What fundamental cellular processes are affected in dysbindin/ BLOC-1 loss-of-function?

There is an expansion in the reported interactions and putative functions of dysbindin and its complex, BLOC-1 (Li, Feng et al. 2007, Guo, Sun et al. 2009, Rodriguez-Fernandez and Dell'Angelica 2009, Mead, Kuzyk et al. 2010). However, we are lacking quantitative and unbiased identification of the molecular interactors of dysbindin/BLOC-1 such as those offered by genetic and quantitative proteomics. Definition of stoichiometric screens dysdindin/BLOC-1 interactors is needed to prioritize them and assess their potential impact on the dysbindin/BLOC-1 loss-of function phenotypes. We discuss these interactions beginning this section with promising emerging data hinting to roles of dysbindin-BLOC-1 on transcriptional and cytoskeletal regulation. We finish discussing BLOC-1/dysbindin interactions relevant to membrane protein sorting and membrane fusion/secretion, which are the bestdocumented as defined either by data replication or by the convergence of multiple biochemical and genetic approaches.

Transcriptional and Cystoskeletal Regulation

The roles of BLOC-1 subunits in transcriptional and cytoskeletal regulation are not yet thoroughly defined. Transcriptional control by dysbindin is suggested by reports of a nuclear localization of this protein (Oyama, Yamakawa et al. 2009, Fei, Ma et al. 2010, Okuda, Kuwahara et al.). Dysbindin binds the nuclear transcription factor Y beta (NF-YB) and modulates transcription via this protein interaction. Similarly, the entry of dysbindin into the nucleus has been proposed to increase transcription of synapsin I gene and synapsin I protein content

(Numakawa, Yagasaki et al. 2004, Fei, Ma et al. 2010). Synapsin I in turn reversibly tethers synaptic vesicles to the actin cytoskeleton (Cesca, Baldelli et al. 2010). Synapsin I transcript and protein are decreased in the cortex and hippocampal formation of dysbindin-null mice (Fei, Ma et al. 2010). Whether these transcriptional effects of dysbindin occur in the context of BLOC-1 complexes or reflect the isolated activity of dysbindin remains unknown. Since deficiencies other subunits, Blos₃/reduced pigmentation in BLOC-1 (*BLOC1S3^{rp/rp}*), muted (*Muted^{mu/mu}*) and pallid (*Pldn^{pa/pa}*), reduce the cellular levels of dysbindin (Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Feng, Zhou et al. 2008), it is plausible that the levels of synapsin I are also downregulated in other BLOC-1 deficiencies. These changes in the content of transcripts likely reflect the tip of the iceberg and unbiased analyses of the transcriptome of BLOC-1 deficient brains are needed to fully uncover the potential of dysbindin and BLOC-1 in regulating transcription.

It is interesting that dysbindin controls the levels of synapsin I, a protein with capacity to bind and bundle actin filaments (Cesca, Baldelli et al. 2010). The activity of dysbindin controlling actin dynamics may extend beyond transcriptional control of an actin-binding protein such as synapsin I. Dysbindin interacts with actin regulatory proteins WAVE2 and Abi1 (Ito, Morishita et al.) and pallidin co-sediments with polymerized actin (Falcon-Perez, Starcevic et al. 2002). Down-regulation or the absence of dysbindin alters the architecture of actin cytoskeleton in neuroblastoma cells and in growth cones of dysbindin-null cultured hippocampal neurons (Kubota, Kumamoto et al. 2009). Moreover,

dysbindin siRNA alter the morphology of dendritic spines, a phenotype postulated to involve local alterations of the actin cytoskeleton (Ito, Morishita et al.). To what extent these growth cone and dendritic spine phenotypes are due to contribution of other cellular mechanisms, such as transcription, is presently unknown. Whether these effects of dysbindin on the actin cytoskeleton are either functional properties of the BLOC-1 complexes or the isolated activity of dysbindin has not been resolved.

Membrane Protein Sorting

The first suggestion that BLOC-1 may play a role in membrane protein sorting came from the phenotypic similarities between BLOC-1 deficiencies and loss-offunction alleles affecting subunits of the clathrin-adaptor complex 3 (AP-3). AP-3 is a heterotetramer constituted by δ , β 3A or β 3B, μ 3A or μ 3B, and σ 3A or σ 3b subunits (Newell-Litwa, Seong et al. 2007, Dell'angelica 2009). AP-3 recognizes sorting signals in the cytosolic domain of selected membrane proteins destined from endosomes to lysosomes, lysosome-related organelles -such as melanosomes and platelet dense granules- and synaptic vesicles (Bonifacino and Traub 2003, Robinson 2004, Newell-Litwa, Seong et al. 2007). Like other clathrin adaptors, AP-3 orchestrates the concentration of membranes proteins into nascent vesicles destined to these locations as well as deformation of the lipid bilayer to generate a vesicle (Bonifacino and Traub 2003, Robinson 2004). The precise role that BLOC-1 may play in membrane protein sorting and vesiculation is not clear, yet substantial evidence support a shared role of BLOC-1 and AP-3 in sorting and vesiculation processes.

AP-3 and BLOC-1 deficiencies possess common phenotypes in mouse and humans triggering the diagnostic triad that characterizes Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome. Deficiencies in the human *Ap3b1* locus, encoding the β 3A polypeptide, lead to Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 2 (HPS2). Natural and engineered mouse mutants affecting the AP-3 subunits δ or β 3A recapitulate main features of human HPS2 (Di Pietro and Dell'Angelica 2005, Newell-Litwa, Seong et al. 2007). The close association between BLOC-1 and AP-3 is further highlighted by the reduced immunoreactivity of AP-3 in the dentate gyrus of BLOC-1 deficient mice muted (*Muted^{mu/mu}*) and pallid (*Pldn^{pa/pa}*) (Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010) and the decreased dysbindin immunostaining in the dentate gyrus of AP-3 null mocha mice (Ap3d1^{mh/mh}, see Figure 2) (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006). Predictably, AP-3 or BLOC-1-deficiency phenotypic similarities are shared at a cellular level where a hallmark phenotype is increased cell surface levels of membrane proteins known to bind to AP-3 (Le Borgne, Alconada et al. 1998, Janvier and Bonifacino 2005, Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Setty, Tenza et al. 2007, Baust, Anitei et al. 2008). Interestingly, this phenotype has been reported for dopamine D2 receptors (DRD2) and NMDA receptors in neuronal cells lacking or down-regulated for pallidin, muted or dysbindin BLOC-1 subunits (Iizuka, Sei et al. 2007, Ji, Yang et al. 2009, Tang, Yang et al. 2009, Marley and von Zastrow 2010). The phenotypic similarities extend to regulated secretory organelles where the absence of the BLOC-1 subunits dysbindin or snapin leads to enlarged chromaffin granules and synaptic vesicles, phenotypes in part recapitulated in AP-3 null mice $(Ap_3d1^{mh/mh})$ (Grabner, Price et al. 2006, Asensio, Sirkis et al. 2010, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et

al. 2010). The commonality of systemic and cellular phenotypes between AP-3 and BLOC-1 loss-of-function mutants is explained in part by the coexistence of BLOC-1 and AP-3 on the same vesicles (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009), a reflection of a biochemical interaction between BLOC-1 an AP-3 (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006, Salazar, Zlatic et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). In fact, the interaction between dysbindin and/or BLOC-1 with the adaptor complex AP-3 has been documented independently by ten publications (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Hashimoto, Ohi et al. 2009, Hikita, Taya et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Oyama, Yamakawa et al. 2009, Salazar, Zlatic et al. 2009, Taneichi-Kuroda, Taya et al. 2009, Mead, Kuzyk et al. 2010, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010).

What role does BLOC-1 play once on membranes? A plausible hypothesis is that BLOC-1 could act as adaptor/accessory adaptor recognizing membrane protein cargoes. Adaptors are recruited to membranes by the action of small GTP binding proteins of the ras superfamily and phosphoinositol phospholipids (Bonifacino and Glick 2004). Arf GTPases recruit clathrin adaptors. Such is the case of AP-3, which is recruited to endosome membranes by Arf1 in its GTP conformation (Faundez, Horng et al. 1998, Ooi, Dell'Angelica et al. 1998). However, whether BLOC-1 is recruited to membranes by Arf-dependent mechanisms is not yet defined. Suggestive data indicate that the association of AP-3 with the BLOC-1 complex in membranes is enhanced by the addition of non-hydrolysable GTP analogues (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006). Whether this represents BLOC-1 independently being recruited by Arf GTPases to endosomal membranes or BLOC-1 'piggybacking' on the Arf-dependency of an AP-3 membrane recruitment mechanism remains to be resolved. Once recruited to membranes by Arf family members, adaptors, and accessory adaptors recognize sorting signals in the cytosolic domain of membrane proteins (cargoes) and concentrate them into nascent vesicles (Bonifacino and Traub 2003, Bonifacino and Glick 2004, Robinson 2004). Vesicles bud off and shed their attached coat (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006).

A predictable consequence of an adaptor/accessory adaptor deficiency is the absence of cargoes in target organelles. This could result from to either a vesicle carrier not being made or a family of membrane proteins not being included in a vesicle. BLOC-1 can be found in vesicles coated with AP-3 or clathrin-coated vesicles both in neuronal and non-neuronal cells lines, suggesting a role as an adaptor/accessory adaptor (Salazar, Craige et al. 2005, Borner, Harbour et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2009). Does BLOC-1 deficiency affect cargo content of target organelles? In brain BLOC-1 is required for the targeting of synaptic vesicle proteins to the nerve terminal (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). For example, BLOC-1 regulates the synaptic targeting of the AP-3 cargo phosphatidylinositol-4-kinase type II alpha (Larimore unpublished results and (Craige, Salazar et al. 2008, Salazar, Zlatic et al. 2009)). This kinase is targeted to presynaptic and postsynaptic compartments (Larimore unpublished results). Thus, it could be speculated that a downstream consequence of reduced levels of dysbindin in

schizophrenia brain may be related to either defective targeting of synaptic vesicle proteins or presynaptic receptors, such as DRD2, to or from nerve terminals of affected individuals (Levey, Hersch et al. 1993, Sesack, Aoki et al. 1994, Mengual and Pickel 2002, Wang and Pickel 2002, Bamford, Zhang et al. 2004, De Mei, Ramos et al. 2009, Howes and Kapur 2009, Perreault, Hasbi et al. 2010) as well as defective targeting to or from postsynaptic compartments (Tang, Yang et al. 2009).



Figure 5. The stages of vesicle budding and fusion. 1) Initiation of budding begins with coat assembly at the donor membrane. Coat components (shown in blue) are recruited the donor membrane by GTPases (red) or membrane lipids. Cargo and SNAREs to be incorporated in budding vesicles cluster at the site of coat assembly. 2) Budding occurs as the more distal coat components (green) are recruited. Cargo is concentrated and donor membrane curvature increases. 3) Scission occurs when the neck of the budding vesicle is severed from the donor compartment. 4) Following budding, the vesicle undergoes Uncoating in part due to GTPase inactivation and phosphoinositide hydrolysis. Cytosolic coat proteins are released from the vesicle and recycled for future budding events. 5) Removal of coat proteins leaves the vesicle "naked", allowing it to move to the acceptor compartment membrane, likely guided through interactions with the cytoskeleton, where it can interact with Rab tethering factor to engage in docking. 6) Docking occurs as the v- and t- SNAREs form the tetrahelical bundle, or the "trans-SNARE complex", which allows for. (7) Fusion (Bonifacino and Glick 2004).

Additionally, BLOC-1 null *muted* or *pallid* brains possess reduced levels of the synaptic vesicle protein SNARE VAMP7/TI-VAMP (Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). These phenotypes correlate with changes in the content of VAMP7/TI-VAMP in synaptic vesicles (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009). Similarly, BLOC-1 loss-of-function affects targeting of cargoes in other cells derived from the neural crest like melanocytes. *Muted* BLOC-1-null melanocytes possess defective targeting of the Menke's copper transporter to melanosomes, a targeting event independent of AP-3 (Setty, Tenza et al. 2008). Collectively, although circumstantial, these results argue for a role of BLOC-1 as an adaptor/accessory adaptor that either operates in an AP-3 dependent or independent manner.

Membrane Fusion-Secretion

Membrane fusion is specified by successive mechanisms, which involve rab GTPases, single- or multi-subunit tethers, SM (Sec1/Munc18-like) proteins, and SNAREs (soluble *N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor) (Jahn and Scheller 2006, Wickner and Schekman 2008, Sudhof and Rothman 2009, Brocker, Engelbrecht-Vandre et al. 2010). SNAREs are necessary and sufficient to mediate membrane fusion. However, eukaryotic cells posses tethering mechanisms to bring in close proximity membranes before SNARESmediated fusion takes place. Multisubunit tethering complexes in target membranes bind SNAREs and they recognize rab GTPases present in the incoming vesicle (Brocker, Engelbrecht-Vandre et al. 2010). The interaction between the tether and the GTPase brings vesicle and target in close proximity for fusion. Downstream of tethering, SNARE residing in a vesicle (v- or R- SNARE) and a target membrane (t- or Q-SNARE) 'zipper' from their N-terminal ends towards their C-terminal membrane anchoring domains, forming a tetrahelical parallel bundle. SNARE zippering brings membranes in close apposition to initiate fusion (see below). The prevalent model is that SNARES directly function as fusion catalysts (Jahn and Scheller 2006, Wickner and Schekman 2008). Once fusion occurs the resulting cis SNARE tetrahelical parallel complex is resolved into individual SNARES, which are targeted back to their resident membranes. (Jahn and Scheller 2006, Wickner and Schekman 2008, Brocker, Engelbrecht-Vandre et al. 2010). BLOC-1 likely participates in multiple stages of this elaborated sequence of events. In fact, BLOC-1 subunits either biochemically or genetically interact with key molecules required at different stages of fusion which include rabs (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010), SNARES (Huang, Kuo et al. 1999, Lu, Cai et al. 2009, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010), SM proteins (Hikita, Taya et al. 2009), and subunits of tethers such as the exocyst (Bao, Lopez et al. 2008, Rodriguez-Fernandez and Dell'Angelica 2009, Mead, Kuzyk et al. 2010). However, the precise mechanism and the subcellular sites of action of BLOC-1 in fusion remain to be explored in detail. In this section we will summarize the known molecular associations and functional studies implicating BLOC-1 subunits in membrane fusion. In Chapter III, I will provide further genetic evidence in support of BLOC-1 in synaptic vesicle fusion, as well as describe a possible mechanism by which interactions between fusion machinery and BLOC-1 regulate synaptic activity.

There are already several studies describing BLOC-1 biochemical interactions with various SNAREs. The BLOC-1 subunit pallidin interacts with the early endosomal SNARE syntaxin13, whereas the BLOC-1 snapin with the late endosome SNARE syntaxin 8, and the plasma membrane t-SNAREs SNAP23-25, respectively (Huang, Kuo et al. 1999, Ilardi, Mochida et al. 1999, Buxton, Zhang et al. 2003, Lu, Cai et al. 2009, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). BLOC-1 deficiencies alter the distribution of SNARES and/or decrease the cellular content of SNARES (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Lu, Cai et al. 2009). Also, BLOC-1 muted null-mice posses altered content of the lysosomal/synaptic vesicle SNARE VAMP7/TI-VAMP in synaptic vesicles (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). Furthermore, over expression of the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin increases the expression of SNAP25, a phenotype that correlates with increased basal and induced glutamate secretion in cultured neurons (Lu, Cai et al. 2009). In Chapter III of this dissertation, I genetically and biochemically demonstrate an interaction of BLOC-1 with the central components of the vesicle fusion machinery, namely N-Ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF) and SNARES. My work defines N-Ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF) as a novel BLOC-1 interactor capable of modifying specialized synaptic plasticity in the fly and whose cellular content is sensitive to BLOC-1 down-regulation. The best evidence implicating BLOC-1 subunits in secretion/fusion comes from the analysis of regulated secretion in snapin and dysbindin null mice. Snapin regulates association of the putative Ca²⁺-sensor synaptotagmin with the synaptic SNARE complex and the absence of snapin decreases calcium-regulated exocytosis of chromaffin granules (Ilardi, Mochida et al. 1999, Tian, Wu et al.

2005). In addition, snapin null neurons have reduced frequency of miniature excitatory postsynaptic events, smaller release-ready vesicle pool size, and desynchronized synaptic vesicle fusion (Pan, Tian et al. 2009). Similarly, dysbindin-null mice are characterized by larger vesicle size, both in synaptic vesicles from hippocampal neurons and chromaffin granules from adrenomedulla cells, slower quantal vesicle release, a reduced frequency of miniature excitatory postsynaptic events, and smaller total population of the readily releasable vesicle pool (Chen, Feng et al. 2008). These findings may account for in vivo microdialysis results of dysbindin-null mice, which reveal a decreased depolarization-induced dopamine release in the in the prefrontal cortex (Nagai, Kitahara et al. 2010). Although, neither of these studies has interpreted their results as derived from deficiencies in the whole BLOC-1 complex, the similarity of these secretory phenotypes in snapin- and dysbindinnull neuronal/neuroendocrine cells argues in favor of a BLOC-1 complexdependent phenotype rather than phenotypes emerging from a single subunit deficiency. The convergence of BLOC-1 subunits in regulation of synaptic functions will be addressed in Chapter II of this dissertation. A recent and exciting development is the finding in Drosophila that dysbindin participates presynaptically in adaptive, homeostatic modulation of vesicle release modulating the calcium dependency of vesicle release (Dickman and Davis 2009). These findings are exciting as they suggest that specialized synaptic vesicle pools or variations in the coupling of calcium sensors and the fusion machinery may be linked to dysbindin and possibly the BLOC-1 complex. My dissertation research focuses on these predictions. In Chapter II, I will explore

the hypothesis that specialized synaptic vesicle pools are governed by BLOC-1. Next, in Chapter III, I will provide evidence to support the hypothesis that dysbindin-BLOC-1 regulates this homeostatic phenotype through interactions with the fusion machinery component NSF.

How can these secretory phenotypes be interpreted? A pressing question is the precise mechanism(s) by which the absence of BLOC-1 subunits, snapin and dysbindin, triggers secretory phenotypes. In the case of snapin, the coupling with the calcium sensor synaptotagmin 1 is a strongly supported mechanism. However, secretory phenotypes could be additionally interpreted as emerging from the capacity of BLOC-1 to bind individual SNAREs as part of a sorting mechanism. Thus, defective concentration of individual SNAREs into vesicles or target membranes could account for secretory phenotypes. Alternatively, BLOC-1 could bind to SNARE tetrahelical complexes. BLOC-1 binds to SNAP25 in vitro yet when this SNARE is presented in a tetrahelical SNARE complex, binding of BLOC-1 is impaired (Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). However, there is low level of BLOC-1 association to the tetrahelical complex (Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). This suggests that BLOC-1 could be involved either in regulating assembly, clamping of trans-SNARE tetrahelical complexes, or affecting either the targeting or resolution of cis-SNARE tetrahelical complexes. These proposed BLOC-1 mechanisms could operate in isolation or in concert. Data presented in Chapter III illustrate that BLOC-1 interacts with NSF mainly in the absence of SNARES, supporting a model where the binding of monomeric SNAREs to BLOC-1 is resolved by NSF. The mild character of the neuronal secretory phenotypes in

dysbindin- and snapin-null neurons as compared with core SNARE deficiencies (Schoch, Deak et al. 2001, Washbourne, Thompson et al. 2002) suggest that these BLOC-1 subunits play modulatory roles in synaptic vesicle fusion and/or affect a subpopulation of vesicles where SNAREs, other than VAMP2 and SNAP25, determine the fusion event. This prediction is at the core of my dissertation research.

Deficiencies of the BLOC-1 subunits pallidin or dysbindin modify neuronal architecture affecting process extension, growth cone morphology, or spine length (Ito, Morishita et al., Kubota, Kumamoto et al. 2009, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). Each one of the fundamental cellular processes previously described sorting, fusion, transcription and cytoskeletal regulation- could either by itself or in combination account for morphological phenotypes observed in dysbindin/BLOC-1 loss-of-function. As observed in Chapter II, higher order cellular, tissue, and system phenotypes are likely to result from a combination of molecular defects defined by the protein-protein interactions engaged by dysbindin. It is plausible that there will be functions of dysbindin that occur independently of the BLOC-1 complex. However, since the most evolutionarily conserved, better documented, and higher stoichiometry dysbindin interactions are those that position dysbindin within the BLOC-1 complex, we advocate for an expansion of dysbindin studies to consider deficiencies in other BLOC-1 subunits null alleles or loss-of-function approaches. This strategy has already been pioneered (Iizuka, Sei et al. 2007) to expand the repertoire of molecules to buttress suspected cellular mechanisms contributing to the genesis of

schizophrenia.

The precise understanding of the molecular interactions and cellular functions engaged by molecules implicated in schizophrenia, such as dysbindin, will shed light into mechanisms that when impaired contribute to disease pathogenesis to a certain degree. However, it is likely that multiple cellular processes in different combinations may be affected in order to trigger schizophrenia. Thus, it is imperative to expand our knowledge in multiple molecular candidates of disease susceptibility. A monochromatic focus on just a few molecules is unlikely to unravel this complex disease.

Section 3. Organization and Trafficking of Synaptic Vesicles

Precise organization and trafficking of synaptic vesicles within the presynaptic compartment is essential for proper neurotransmission. As described, synaptic vesicle precursors are generated from an endosomal compartment in the cell body, and then trafficked down the axon to the nerve terminal. Within the presynaptic compartment, vesicles are segregated into distinct functional pools-the readily releasable pool (RRP) and the reserve pool (RP) - based on release properties (Rizzoli and Betz 2005, Gaffield, Rizzoli et al. 2006, Denker and Rizzoli 2010, Hoopmann, Punge et al. 2010, Denker, Bethani et al. 2011) that I will describe shortly. The progression of vesicles within these pools is not well understood; however, the identity and movement of vesicles into these pools is believed to be determined by distinct membrane protein composition and SNARE-dependent targeting (Broadie 1995, Schoch, Deak et al. 2001, Rizzoli and Betz 2005, Bethani, Lang et al. 2007, Welzel, Henkel et al. 2011, Raingo, Khvotchev et al. 2012).

Within the RRP, vesicles are loaded with the necessary neurotransmitter (Katz, Chase et al. 1969) and prepared for fusion through a series of steps that lead to SNARE complex formation and opening of the fusion pore (Südhof 2013). The essential step in vesicle fusion is the binding of the SNARE protein residing on the vesicle (v/R-SNARE) to the SNAREs residing on the target membrane (t/Q-SNAREs). Synaptic vesicles in the RRP contain the v-SNARE synaptobrevin (also called VAMP2), as well as the calcium-sensing protein synaptotagmin, and bind the plasma membrane localized t-SNAREs syntaxin 1 and SNAP-25 (Söllner, Bennett et al. 1993, Monck and Fernandez 1994). Conformational changes in syntaxin-1 allow for the initiation of SNARE complex formation and vesicle docking within the active zone of the presynaptic membrane (Broadie, Prokop et al. 1995, Dulubova, Sugita et al. 1999, Misura, Scheller et al. 2001). SNARE complex formation proceeds in a 'zippering' process to bring the membranes into close apposition, as described above (Figure 6, Priming I) (Otto, Hanson et al. 1997). Partially assembled SNARE complexes bind complexins, which primes SNARE complexes for synaptotagmin association (Reim, Mansour et al. 2001, Giraudo, Eng et al. 2006, Tang, Maximov et al. 2006, Melia 2007). Complexin-primed complexes can then associate with synaptotagmin and thus, bind calcium (Ca²⁺) (Reim, Mansour et al. 2001, Cai, Reim et al. 2008, Jorquera, Huntwork-Rodriguez et al. 2012), which enters the cell through nearby voltage-gated calcium channels and triggers the opening of the fusion pore (Figure 6) (Katz and Miledi 1969, Baker, Hodgkin et al. 1971, Kaeser, Deng et al. 2011, Eggermann, Bucurenciu et al. 2012).



Figure 6. Synaptic vesicle fusion cycle. Fusion is initiated by docking of the synaptic vesicle and through zippering of the v-SNARE synaptobrevin with the t-SNARE syntaxin-1. Trans-SNARE complex formation proceeds through priming steps involving SM protein Munc18 binding (Priming I), followed by complexin binding and synaptotagmin association with the the cis-SNARE complex (priming II). Calcium entry through voltage-gated ion channels and subsequent binding to synaptotagmin triggers fusion-pore opening. SNAP and NSF recruitment immediately following fusion resolve cis-SNARE complex in an ATP-dependent manner. NSF-mediated SNARE complex disassembly allows for clathrin mediated endocytosis and vesicle recycling (Südhof 2013).

A concerted set of steps also regulates vesicle endocytosis. In the absence of stimulation, individual vesicles undergo spontaneous fusion with the plasma membrane of the active zone. Vesicle fusion at the plasma membrane recruits alpha-SNAP, which binds to SNAREs in the cis/SNAREpin conformation. Alpha-SNAP, in turn, recruits the AAA ATPase NSF (*N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor), which unwinds the SNARE-pin in an ATP-dependent fashion (Figure 6) (Söllner, Bennett et al. 1993, Monck and Fernandez 1994, McMahon and Südhof 1995, Mayer, Wickner et al. 1996). Following spontaneous vesicle fusion events as well as baseline synaptic transmission, membrane at the site of fusion is rapidly retrieved by clathrin-mediated and AP-2 dependent endocytosis to an early endosome in order to maintain the readily releasable vesicle pool as the overall integrity of the presynaptic plasma membrane (Heuser and Reese 1973, Ullrich, Li et al. 1994, Jarousse and Kelly 2001, Wu et al. 2007, Haucke et al. 2011). Here, synaptic membrane proteins are sorted into vesicles to replenish RRP at the active zone (Figure 7). At this time, there is little to no mixing of the reserve pool with recycling vesicles (Opazo, Punge et al. 2010). During periods of high frequency (10 Hz) stimulation, however, the readily releasable pool and clathrinmediated endocytosis are not sufficient to support the high demand for synaptic vesicle release and recycling. In these instances, vesicles are mobilized from the reserve pool to sustain prolonged periods of excitation and high-frequency stimulation (Gaffield, Rizzoli et al. 2006, Denker, Kröhnert et al. 2009, Denker and Rizzoli 2010, Denker, Bethani et al. 2011). Additionally, repopulation of synaptic vesicles by clathrin-dynamin dependent mechanisms and endosomal sorting is supplemented by a process known as activity-dependent bulk

endocytosis (Clayton and Cousin 2009, Cousin 2009, Wu, O'Toole et al. 2014). Through this process, deep invaginations form from the plasma membrane, which can either bud synaptic vesicles directly, or can give rise to endosomal intermediates that then sort membrane proteins into the appropriate synaptic vesicle pools (Figure 7) (Heuser and Reese 1973, Clayton and Cousin 2009, Cousin 2009, Wu, O'Toole et al. 2014). As described in Section 2, Arf1 in its GTP conformation recruits the clathrin adaptors AP-1 and AP-3 to endosomal intermediates to facilitate budding (Ooi, Dell'Angelica et al. 1998, Robinson 2004, Newell-Litwa, Seong et al. 2007, Dell'Angelica 2009). A subset of synaptic



vesicles budding from the endosome are then targeted to the reserve pool in an AP-3/BLOC-1 dependent process (Figure 7) (Grabner, Price et al. 2006, Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Asensio, Sirkis et al. 2010).

Figure 7. Synaptic vesicle pool organization and endocytic pathways. Within the presynaptic compartment, synaptic vesicles are segregated into two functionally distinct pools- reserve pool and readily releasable pool (RRP). The readily releasable pool of vesicles contains vesicles competent for immediate fusion, which then recycle between the plasma membrane and the RRP via clathrin-meidated and AP-2 dependent endocytosis, through an early endosome compartment (not shown for simplicity). The reserve pool is recruited during periods of sustained high-frequency stimulation and is replenished through vesicle budding following activity-dependent bulk endocytosis rather than clathrin-mediated mechanisms.
Section 4. Drosophila melanogaster as a model system.

Why choose to study BLOC-1 regulation of synaptic neurotransmission in Drosophila melanogaster? The fruit fly presents a unique opportunity to address the questions I have raised in regards to the effects of complex genetics on neurotransmission in neurodevelopmental and psychiatric disorders that cannot be addressed in rodent models or cells in culture. While we cannot expect to perfectly model any complex neurological disease, such as schizophrenia, in the fruit fly, it does allow us to test for common endophenotypes in manipulated human genes or homologs as we try to unravel a convergent pathway of disease. Basic schizophrenia pathogenesis hypotheses tell us that the molecular defects concentrate in the synapse of affected individuals to modify individual synapses, and that synaptic changes give rise to an enhanced saliency to stimuli that manifests as the systems level defects responsible for positive symptoms of the disease. Drosophila offers a unique set of tools to assess molecular changes within the synapse and on individual synaptic function, as well as on complex, circuit-based behaviors. Through my dissertation research, I assess molecularlygoverned synaptic phenotypes as well as saliency to stimuli, and address the genetic fidelity and correlation between phenotypes. Thus, although we may not be able to reconstruct the disease, we can precisely manipulate Drosophila homologs of genes associated with schizophrenia in humans to test their influence on both behavioral and synaptic phenotypes in response to stimulation changes and challenges. In fact, this is exactly the case when we consider the first two studies of schizophrenia-associated genes already in Drosophila. The first study observed changes in sleep patterns when human DISC1, which was

introduced in Section 1, was expressed in fruit flies (Millar, Wilson-Annan et al. 2000). Sleep-wake cycles are commonly disrupted in schizophrenia patients, but are not the underlying cause of the disease (Bromundt, Köster et al. 2011),(Monti and Monti 2004). This study offered proof that correlative human psychiatric disease endophenotypes (i.e. sleep disruption) could be used as read outs in *Drosophila* transgenic models. The second, which was previously described in Section 2, demonstrated that loss of function mutations in *dysbindin* block synaptic homeostasis (Dickman and Davis 2009). While the first study demonstrates that similar phenotypes may exist between human patients and fruit flies, the latter suggests that *Drosophila* can be used to identify and study an underlying link- synaptic homeostasis- in mechanisms of the disease.

This use of the fruit fly as a model system to understand neurological disorders is best illustrated by the use of *Drosophila* to study Fragile X syndrome (FXS). FXS is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorder, stereotypies, epilepsy and dismorphia. FXS is caused by loss of function mutations in the Fragile X Mental Retardation 1 gene (*FMR1*) in humans. *FMR1* encodes an RNA binding protein that regulates translation of many proteins mostly as a transcriptional repressor (Krueger and Bear 2011),(Oostra and Verkerk 1992). The *FMR1* product, fmr1, is highly expressed in the central nervous system (Devys, Lutz et al. 1993). Unlike schizophrenia, FXS patients have a stereotyped set of behavioral and physical phenotypes in addition to mental retardation (Laxova 1994), many of which are recapitulated in *FMR1* knockout mice, such as hyperactivity, sleep disorders, and even enlarged testes

(1994). However, until the homologous Drosophila FMR1 gene (dfmr1) was identified and characterized as a highly conserved homolog of the mammalian gene (Wan, Dockendorff et al. 2000), little was known about the downstream targets of fmr1 and how these targets led to the dramatic phenotypes. Following identification of *dfmr1*, it was found that absence of the encoded protein dFMR1 in Drosophila leads to increased branching and dendritic arbour complexity in the larval NMJ, while overexpression of dFMR1 has the exact opposite effect (Zhang, Bailey et al. 2001). Additionally, it was found that dFMR1 null adults have defects in maintaining circadian rhythms and sleep patterns (Dockendorff, Su et al. 2002, Inoue, Shimoda et al. 2002, Morales, Hiesinger et al. 2002), have short- and long-term memory (McBride, Choi et al. 2005)/(Bolduc, Bell et al. 2008, Banerjee, Schoenfeld et al. 2010), display locomotor hyperactivity (Inoue, Shimoda et al. 2002), and have enlarged testes (Zhang, Matthies et al. 2004). If phenotypes in mutant flies so precisely replicate symptoms in humans, could response to treatment in flies also accurately predict response to treatment in humans? This predictability of and consistency of phenotypes from *Drosophila* to mice to humans presented a unique opportunity for the rapid screening and development of novel pharmacological interventions for treatment of FXS. It was quickly found that treatment of dFMR1 mutants with mGluR antagonists reversed the morphological and behavioral effects in fruit flies (McBride, Choi et al. 2005), and mGluR5 antagonists are now in clinical trials for use in humans (Jacquemont, Curie et al. 2011) (Berry-Kravis, Hessl et al. 2009).

Fragile X Syndrome and schizophrenia are very different genetic disorders, with FXS being a strictly monogenic disorder that gives rise to a consistent set of symptoms across patients, while schizophrenia likely arises from the loss of and interaction between many genes which gives rise to a greater spectrum of phenotypes. However, the successful use of endophenotypes in Drosophila to study FXS, and the subsequent identification of a means of pharmacological intervention, lays the groundwork for the use of the fruit fly as a legitimate model system to facilitate future understanding and treatment of more complex neurological disorders.

Drosophila as a model system has been so successful in garnering information towards our understanding of FXS largely due to the close homology between fmr1 and dfmr1 (O'Kane 2011). Importantly for the present studies, orthologous

Drosophila genes genome encoding to all eig mammal subu 1 been identified

Table 1. Homologues of human BLOC-1 subunits encoded by the fruit fly

g homologs	Human	Drosophila gene		E-value ^a	Amino acid identity ^b (%)
ight of the	subunit	Current name	Proposed name		identity (%)
lian BLOC-	BLOS1	CG30077	blos1	6×10^{-31} (1)	55
	BLOS2	CG14145	blos2	7×10^{-16} (1)	40
inits have recently	BLOS3	CG34255	blos3	9×10^{-6} (2)	22
	Cappuccino	CG14149	blos4	2×10^{-4} (1)	25
	Dysbindin	CG6856	dysbindin	6×10^{-15} (1)	38
	Muted	CG34131	muted	2×10^{-7} (2)	18
	Pallidin	CG14133	pallidin	1×10^{-3} (1)	24
d (Table 1)	Snapin	snapin	snapin	3×10^{-13} (1)	33

(Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). While these gene products had been identified in the fruit fly, the functions and interactions of the encoded proteins remained largely unexplored at the time of this study.

In Chapter II, I will focus on the role of genetic interactions between BLOC-1 subunits on synaptic neurotransmission at the Drosophila neuromuscular junction (NMJ). The Drosophila NMJ has been extensively studied as a model synapse for many decades (Bellen, Tong et al. 2010). In invertebrates, synaptic transmission at the NMJ is mediated by neurotransmitter glutamate, while acetylcholine is prevalent in the invertebrate central nervous system (CNS). In contrast, glutamate acts as the primary excitatory neurotransmitter within the vertebrate CNS, while acetylcholine is the neurotransmitter of choice at the vertebrate neuromuscular junction (Bellen, Tong et al. 2010, O'Kane 2011). Synaptic structures at the NMJ contain homologs to fusion machinery components, ion channels, and postsynaptic receptors found in the mammalian CNS, which contribute to the appeal of the Drosophila NMJ as a model synapse (Broadie 1995). Further, it has been well studied and is easily accessible for examination by both electrophysiological and immunohistochemical techniques, making it easy to identify defects in neurotransmission and morphology (Jan and Jan 1976, Südhof, De Camilli et al. 1993). In these studies, I will focus on muscle 6 in abdominal segments 2 and 3 of the third instar larvae, which is among the most well characterized of model synapses (Figure 8).

Additionally, the fruit fly possesses a simple, three chromosome (plus Y) genome, which is easily amenable to manipulation and thus, genetic studies. In particular, the GAL4/UAS system is a powerful genetic tool that allows for targeted gene expression or gene expression down regulation in the fruit fly (Duffy 2002).



Figure 8. Schematic of the *Drosophila* **neuromuscular junction.** At left, the musculature of the *Drosophila* third instar larva is shown in grey. Muscle organization is repeated in segments down the length of the animal. Red boxes highlight muscles 6 and 7 in abdominal segments A2 and A3. The central ganglion at the anterior of the animal is shown in black with emmanating nerves shown innervating each muscle segment. At right, an enlargement of the grey muscles showing electrophysiological experimental paradigm. Severed motor neurons (in blue, orange, and red) are taken into a glass stimulating electrode (upper left), and a pulse is delivered. Changes in membrane voltage is recorded at muscle 6.

GAL4 is a yeast transcription factor that regulates transcription of a number of yeast genes by binding to DNA sequences adjacent to the open reading frame (ORF) of genes called Upstream Activating Sequence (UAS) sites (Giniger, Varnum et al. 1985, Giniger and Ptashne 1988, Duffy 2002). In *Drosophila*, however, the GAL4 sequence (or 'driver') is engineered separate from the UAS site. Further, the UAS site is engineered with the responder gene of interest downstream (Fischer, Giniger et al. 1988, Brand and Perrimon 1993, Duffy 2002). Using this bipartite approach, the responder gene is under the control of the UAS element, which requires the presence of GAL4 for its own transcription.

Thus, in the absence of GAL4, the responder gene is transcriptionally silent. Additionally, by placing GAL4 transcription under the control of tissue-specific promotors, GAL4 expression can be controlled in time and space, restricted to a specific tissue or set of cells within a tissue, or restricted within a developmental window (Brand and Perrimon 1993, Duffy 2002). Thus, when flies carrying the responder gene are crossed to flies expressing GAL4, the resultant progeny will express the responder gene in a transcriptional pattern consistent with GAL4 expression (Figure 9). Conversely, GAL4 expression can also be suppressed through the use of the GAL4 inhibitor GAL80, which binds GAL4 and prevents transcriptional activation (Lee and Luo 1999).



Figure 9. GAL4/UAS system for targeted gene expression in *Drosophila.* Animals encoding the transgene containing the upstream activating sequence (UAS) and the target gene of interest (here, GFP) show wild-type pattern of expression (left larva). Animals expressing the GAL4 protein under tissue specific regulatory elements (RE) only express GAL4 in tissue where the RE are expressed (right larva). In animals containing both the UAS-GFP transgene and GAL4, GAL4 proteins bind the upstream activating sequence for the target gene (GFP), allowing for GFP expression in tissues which also express GAL4 (middle larva) (Duffy 2002).

Contributions of this dissertation research

My dissertation research addresses two fundamental questions that make significant contributions at the intersection of the fields of synaptic vesicle trafficking, neurological conditions, and polygenic disorders. Not only do I address fundamental questions regarding BLOC-1 assembly in a common model system, *Drosophila melanogaster*, but I also address the much broader questions of, "How do we study genetically and phenotypically complex polygenic neurological disorders in a laboratory setting?". My dissertation research focuses on BLOC-1 as an example of a protein complex, with a defined network of interacting partners, involved in synaptic vesicle trafficking and neurological disease. I address my central hypothesis that:

BLOC-1 interactions, both within the complex as well as with identified binding factors outside of the complex, regulate synaptic function, plasticity, and behavior.

In Chapter II, I will discuss the implications for studying components of a tightly interacting complex of proteins in isolation. I use BLOC-1 as an example protein complex to explore the consequences of loss-of-function mutations on synaptic functions dependent on BLOC-1 trafficking. Using a multiparameter approach, I demonstrate that perturbations to a single complex member can render the remaining components unstable, and the ramifications on synaptic function are genetically unpredictable. Additionally, combinations of loss-of-function mutations do not necessarily exacerbate a given phenotype. Rather, within a defined protein complex, loss-of-function combinations can have deleterious effects, leading to gain-of-function remnants and/or partial loss-of-function of the complex, a concept that has not yet been demonstrated in membranetrafficking. I extend this further to show that small changes at the single synaptic level can be indicative of impairments in plasticity and behavior that may underlie disease.

In Chapter III, I extend the question of studying complex genetic disorders to looking at interactions outside of the complex. I successfully use a biochemically curated interactome and experimental endophenotypes to guide investigation of underlying disease mechanisms. Additionally, by doing so, I demonstrate that components that biochemically interact and are sensitive to the cellular content on one another, converge in a functional pathway. Having identified vesicle fusion machinery as sensitive to BLOC-1 cellular levels, and confirmed the biochemical interactions of BLOC-1 with fusion machinery components, I test the ability of the identified network component NSF to converge in a functional pathway with BLOC-1, and to rescue BLOC-1 deficits in synaptic neurotransmission.

These studies provide insight into how network stability and genetic interactions at play in neurodevelopmental disorders can lead to a wide spectrum of phenotypes. Most importantly, my research demonstrates that polygenic disorders cannot be understood through classical monogenic experiments.

CHAPTER II

Gene Dosage in the Dysbindin Schizophrenia Susceptibility Network Differentially Affect Synaptic Function and Plasticity.

Ariana P. Mullin¹, Madhumala K. Sadanandappa², Wenpei Ma³, Dion K. Dickman³, K. Vijay Raghavan², Mani Ramaswami⁴, Subhabrata Sanyal⁵, Victor Faundez^{1,6#}

Department of Cell Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA¹. National Centre for Biological Sciences, Bangalore 560065, India². Department of Biology, Neurobiology Section, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA³. School of Genetics and Microbiology, School of Natural Sciences, Smurfit Institute of Genetics and Trinity College Institute of Neuroscience, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin-2, Ireland⁴. Biogen-Idec, 14 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA, USA⁵. Center for Social Translational Neuroscience⁶, Emory University, Atlanta, GA⁶.

Under Review, eLife

ABSTRACT

Neurodevelopmental disorders arise from single or multiple gene defects. However, the way multiple loci interact to modify phenotypic outcomes remains poorly understood. Here, we studied phenotypes associated with mutations in the schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin (dysb), in isolation or in combination with null alleles in the dysb network component Blos1. In humans, the *Blos1* ortholog *Bloc1s1* encodes a polypeptide that assembles, with dysbindin, into the octameric BLOC-1 complex. We biochemically confirmed BLOC-1 presence in *Drosophila* neurons, and measured synaptic output and complex adaptive behavior in response to BLOC-1 perturbation. Homozygous loss-offunction alleles of dysb, Blos1, or compound heterozygotes of these alleles impaired neurotransmitter release, synapse morphology, and homeostatic plasticity at the larval neuromuscular junction, and impaired olfactory habituation. This multiparameter assessment indicated that phenotypes were differentially sensitive to genetic dosages of loss-of-function BLOC-1 alleles. Our findings suggest that within a defined neurodevelopmental regulatory network, precise stoichiometry, rather than merely the number of alleles affected within the network, determines phenotypic outcomes.

INTRODUCTION

Multiple gene products converge into molecular and functional networks to influence neuronal traits, ranging from simple synapse mechanisms to complex behaviors (Kendler and Greenspan 2006). Components of these networks have been identified by studying single gene disruptions, which provide fundamental insight into the necessity and sufficiency of a single gene product for a neuronal phenotype. However, the general assumption in these studies is that gene products are organized into linear pathways rather than networks, such that the remaining components remain stable following disruption of a single gene This model is at odds with the genetics (Greenspan 2009). of neurodevelopmental disorders where complex behavioral and cognitive phenotypes emerge from the simultaneous modification of a number of genes, which align along a chromosomal segment rather than a pathway (Stefansson, Ophoff et al. 2009, Bassett, Scherer et al. 2010, Malhotra and Sebat 2012, Rapoport, Giedd et al. 2012, Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013, Stefansson, Meyer-Lindenberg et al. 2014). This raises the question of how two or more genes interact to specify simple and complex neuronal traits. We focus on this question as it has been largely unexplored, yet holds promise for our understanding of the pathogenesis of polygenic neurodevelopmental disorders.

Schizophrenia is a heritable polygenic neurodevelopmental disorder where defective synaptic mechanisms contribute to disruptions at higher levels of neuronal organization (Gottesman and Shields 1967, Mirnics, Middleton et al. 2000, Purcell, Wray et al. 2009, Faludi and Mirnics 2011, Purcell, Moran et al. 2014). Synaptic mechanisms underlying schizophrenia, however, remain obscure in large part due to the predominantly polygenic nature of this disorder. duplications, or inversions of submicroscopic Hemizygous deletions, chromosomal segments, known as copy number variations, are the most frequent genomic burden associated with schizophrenia (Stefansson, Ophoff et al. 2009, Bassett, Scherer et al. 2010, Malhotra and Sebat 2012, Rapoport, Giedd et al. 2012, Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013, Ahn, Gotay et al. 2014, Stefansson, Meyer-Lindenberg et al. 2014). A single copy number variation can span multiple genes, thus creating collections of gene dosage imbalances. For example, single copy deletions of the chromosomal segment 22q11.2 encompass between 35 to 60 genes, and are the strongest genetic risk factor for schizophrenia (Murphy 2002, Ahn, Gotay et al. 2014, Schneider, Debbane et al. 2014). How these combined gene dosage imbalances interact to confer schizophrenia risk and affect the synapse and associated circuitry is unknown.

Here we model a two-loci genetic deficiency affecting a schizophrenia susceptibility network in the fly. This network is centered on the human gene *DTNBP1* and its *Drosophila* ortholog *dysb*, both of which encode Dysbindin. We previously defined the human Dysbindin protein-protein interaction network (interactome) (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012). The core of this Dysbindin network is comprised of Dysbindin and seven closely associated proteins, which form an octameric complex known as the <u>b</u>iogenesis of <u>l</u>ysosome-related <u>o</u>rganelles <u>c</u>omplex 1 (BLOC-1)(Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012). Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2013). Genetic polymorphisms in *DTNBP1*, are

among the strongest risk factors for schizophrenia, (Talbot, Ong et al. 2009, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011) especially with the more severe, early-onset childhood schizophrenia (Gornick, Addington et al. 2005, Fatjó-Vilas, Papiol et al. 2011). DTNBP1 polymorphisms also influence cognitive and neuroanatomical traits in non-diseased humans either when DTNBP1 polymorphisms are considered in isolation or, importantly, in association with other synaptic function genetic loci, such as COMT (Straub, Jiang et al. 2002, Van Den Bogaert, Schumacher et al. 2003, Bray, Preece et al. 2005, Luciano, Miyajima et al. 2009, Markov, Krug et al. 2009, Markov, Krug et al. 2010, Mechelli, Viding et al. 2010, Cerasa, Quattrone et al. 2011, Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011, Tognin, Viding et al. 2011, Wolf, Jackson et al. 2011, Ayalew, Le-Niculescu et al. 2012, Papaleo, Burdick et al. 2014). Further, post-mortem brain analysis revealed that eighty percent of schizophrenia brains contain reduced levels of dysbindin in neuroanatomical regions compromised in schizophrenia patients (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004, Tang, LeGros et al. 2009, Talbot, Louneva et al. 2011). The association of Dysbindin with schizophrenia and its inclusion into the biochemically defined BLOC-1 network suggest that combined loss-offunction mutations affecting dysbindin and the BLOC-1 network should generate predictable synaptic and circuit phenotypes. These phenotypes should emulate phenotypic number variations associated with outputs in copy neurodevelopmental disorders.

In this study, we used *Drosophila* to understand the impact of fly loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 complex subunits on synaptic networks, as all eight mammalian BLOC-1 complex subunits possess fly orthologues and, similar to mammalian genes, seem to follow a simple autosomal recessive inheritance pattern (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). We predicted that phenotypes associated with gene copy reductions affecting BLOC-1 subunits should follow a recessive inheritance pattern, and that this pattern should be congruent across synaptic mechanisms that progressively scale up in complexity. We tested the effects of four BLOC-1 complex loss-of-function genotypes on neurotransmitter release, homeostatic plasticity, and behavioral/olfactory synapse morphology, habituation. Contrary to our prediction, we found that homozygous loss-offunction alleles of BLOC-1 complex subunit genes dysb or Blos1, or compound heterozygotes in the two genes, affected synaptic functions with divergent inheritance patterns rather that the predicted simple recessive pattern. We conclude that single synapse and circuit-based phenotypes associated with a single gene dosage imbalance are non-congruently modified by a second locus encoding a protein-protein interaction network. We propose that genetic control of the stoichiometry of a neurodevelopmental regulatory network diversifies its phenotypic output in normal and disease states.

RESULTS

BLOC-1 assembles into an octameric complex in Drosophila neurons.

Dysbindin exists as a member of the octameric biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex 1 (BLOC-1) in mammalian cells (Fig. 1A). While all eight mammalian BLOC-1 subunits have Drosophila orthologues, the existence of this complex in Drosophila has not yet been established, but has been predicted from yeast two-hybrid and proteomic studies (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010, Guruharsha, Rual et al. 2011). However, these studies only document a subset of the predicted interactions among the eight *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunit orthologues (Fig 1B). Thus, we first set out to determine if an orthologous Dysbindin-containing BLOC-1 complex assembles in the *Drosophila* central nervous system neurons (Fig. 1C). We focused on this cell type based on previous work documenting the localization and requirement of Dysbindin to the presynaptic compartment (Dickman and Davis 2009). To do this, we used Dysbindin as bait to immunoprecipitate Dysbindin and associated proteins from fly head lysates. UAS-Venus-tagged Dysbindin transgene was expressed under the pan-neuronal C155-GAL4 driver to identify neuronal proteins co-precipitating with recombinant Dysbindin in Drosophila. We prepared detergent-soluble tissue homogenates from fly heads carrying either the C155 driver alone as controls, or in combination with UAS-Venus-Dysbindin transgene to express tagged dysbindin (Fig 1D, compare lanes 1 and 2). Venus-tagged Dysbindin from head extracts was immunoprecipitated using a GFP antibody, and immune complexes were profiled by quantitative mass spectrometry. Immunoprecipitation of Venus-Dysbindin enriched all eight BLOC-1 *Drosophila* orthologues in comparison to the C155 control, determined by spectral count quantitation (Fig. 1E). Proteins non-selectively bound to GFP beads, such as tubulin and elongation factor 1 alpha, were similarly represented in spectral counts in both control and Venus-Dysbindin precipitated samples (Fig. 1E). The identity of the *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunit orthologues was confirmed by MS/MS peptide sequencing (Fig. 1F). We verified the Pallidin-Dysbindin interaction by immunoprecipitation of Venus-Dysbindin and specific detection of co-precipitating Pallidin by western blot (Fig 1G compare lanes 4 and 5), or by specific detection of Venus-Dysbindin in Pallidin precipitated immune complexes from *Drosophila* head extracts (Fig 1H compare lanes 3 and 5). Our data demonstrate that Dysbindin incorporates into BLOC-1 in *Drosophila* neurons, and that the architecture of *Drosophila* BLOC-1 highly resembles that found in the human BLOC-1 complex (Fig 1C).

BLOC-1 acts presynaptically to regulate quantal content at the NMJ.

The close biochemical identity of the *Drosophila* and mammalian BLOC-1 complexes suggests that mutations in *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunits should produce recessive, gene-dosage dependent phenotypes consistent with the recessive nature of individual BLOC-1 subunit mutations in mammalian cells(Huang, Kuo et al. 1999, Zhang, Li et al. 2002, Ciciotte, Gwynn et al. 2003, Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Gwynn, Martina et al. 2004, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004). We analyzed whether gene-dosage reductions in BLOC-1 subunits had the capacity to produce recessive synaptic phenotypes. We utilized a multiparameter assessment of synaptic functions to progressively test increasing levels of synapse

organization, ranging from spontaneous neurotransmitter release to circuitbased learning behavior. We began by measuring the spontaneous and evoked neurotransmitter release at the Drosophila third instar larval neuromuscular junction synapse (NMJ) in gene dosage imbalances affecting the BLOC-1 complex subunits Dysbindin and Blos1. The NMJ synapse is sensitive to loss-of-function alleles affecting Drosophila BLOC-1 subunits orthologues (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). We assessed animals for baseline miniature excitatory junctional potential (mEJP) amplitude and frequency, evoked excitatory junctional potential (EJP) amplitude, and quantal content. There were no significant differences in the EJP amplitude across diverse modifications in the gene dosage of dysb, Blos1, or combinations thereof (Fig 2F, representative traces shown in Fig 2A-E). Similarly, the different BLOC-1 loss-of-function alleles had no effect on the frequency of mEJPs (Fig. 2F). Consistent with previous reports, the amplitude of the mEJP was not altered in *dysb*¹ dysbindin mutant synapses as compared with two control strains, Canton-S or w1118 (Fig. 2G). In contrast, we found that animals carrying any of three *Blos1* null alleles, *Blos1*^{EY} (Fig2A, insert), Blos1ex2 and Blos1ex65 had increased mEJP amplitudes and correspondingly lower quantal content compared to both wild type strains (Fig. 2H, L and P, respectively. Red traces). While this increase in mEJP amplitude is in agreement with the initial characterization of *Blos1ex2*, we observed that this phenotype was consistent across all three null alleles (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). Additionally, we found this phenotype to be dominant, as it also was present in single copy loss of *Blos1* null alleles (Fig. 2H, L and P, respectively. Blue traces). Presynaptic expression of Blos1 (elav^{C155}-Gal4; UAS-Blos1) was sufficient to

rescue the observed changes in mEJP amplitude and quantal content (Fig 2C, K and O). These data demonstrate that Blos1 presynaptically regulates mEJP amplitude and that this phenotype is a dominant rather than a recessive trait of *Blos1* null alleles.

The distinct effect of the *Blos1* alleles and lack of effect of the dysbindin alleles on mini amplitude suggested the following two possibilities. First, Blos1 and dusb participate in different molecular and genetic networks, a hypothesis seemingly at odds with Blos1 and Dysbindin being subunits of the BLOC-1 complex. Second, dysb alleles reduce BLOC-1 function to a different extent as compared to Blos1 null mutants, suggesting a BLOC-1 complex loss-of-function threshold under which the mEJP phenotype is expressed. To discriminate between these possibilities, we tested the ability of dysb hypomorphic mutants ($dysb^1$) and the deletion Df (BSC 416), while entirely deletes the dysb gene as well as about 20 flanking genes (Dickman and Davis 2009) to genetically interact with *Blos1* null alleles in regulating mEJP amplitude and quantal content at the NMJ. Interestingly, we found that the $dysb^1$ allele expressed in trans with a single copy loss of *Blos1* rescued the mEJP amplitude and guantal content back to wild type levels (Fig. 2I, M and Q. Compare red and blue traces). We observed the same result in flies double heterozygous for *Df* (BSC 416) and the *Blos1*^{EY} null mutation (Fig. 2J, compare red and blue traces). As expected, *Blos1* expressed in trans with the $dysb^{RV}$, which is a perfect excision of the $dysb^1$ mutation, behaved similar to a single copy loss of *Blos1* (Fig. 2N, compare red and blue traces). Further, we found that the ability of *dysb* alleles to modify *Blos1* mEJP and resultant guantal content phenotypes is presynaptic, as adding back Dysbindin presynaptically (*elav*^{C155}-Gal4; UAS-dysb) in the *Blos1*^{EY/+};*dysb*^{1/+} transheterozygous animal did, in fact, lead to increased mEJP amplitude and reduced quantal content, similar to the effect observed in single copy loss of *Blos1* (Fig. 2R, compare red and green traces). Thus, these data demonstrate that BLOC-1 subunits participate in a common presynaptic molecular and genetic network to regulate baseline neurotransmission at the *Drosophila* NMJ. Additionally, these data show that neurotransmission is sensitive to the genetic dosage and precise stoichiometry of BLOC-1 subunits Dysbindin and Blos1 rather than an additive genetic effect of sequential reduction of individual subunits predicted from a recessive trait.

Normal synaptic growth and morphology require BLOC-1 function.

Spontaneous neurotransmission regulates synapse function and morphology, and is required in *Drosophila* for synaptic structural maturation (Sutton, Wall et al. 2004, Choi, Imlach et al. 2014). For example, gene mutations associated with neurodevelopmental disorders, such as in dFMRP, affect the morphology of *Drosophila* synapses while displaying spontaneous release phenotypes reminiscent of the *Blos1* null phenotype (Reeve, Bassetto et al. 2005, Gatto and Broadie 2008, Zhao, Wang et al. 2013). Therefore, we explored the morphology of the neuromuscular junction in BLOC-1 loss-of-function allele combinations. We sought to test whether synapse morphology phenotypes followed the dominant inheritance defined by the spontaneous release. We performed anti-HRP immunohistochemistry of larval muscle 6/7 synapses in order to quantify the number of boutons per unit muscle area (Fig. 3). We determined that *Blos1* null alleles have significantly increased number of boutons per muscle at the 6/7synapse (Fig. 3J and compare A with B-C). This increase in bouton number occurred without changes in muscle size across genotypes (Fig. 3K). The increased number of boutons was a dominant phenotype as it was also observed in heterozygous Blos1 mutants (Fig. 3 compare A with D-E. Fig. 3J), a genotypeto-phenotype correlation matching the changes in mEJP amplitude and quantal content. Importantly, when a single copy loss of *Blos1* null alleles was expressed in trans with either $dysb^1$ or the dysb deficiency, the bouton count phenotype was suppressed to resemble wild type numbers (Fig. 3J and compare D-E with F-G). The specificity of the suppression achieved with the $dysb^1$ allele was tested by expressing *Blos1* mutants in trans with the $dysb^1$ revertant ($dysb^{rv}$), a genotype that phenocopied the Blos1 heterozygotic animals (Fig. 3J and compare F-G and H-I). These results demonstrate that there is a one-to-one correspondence between genotypes and the bouton morphology and spontaneous release phenotypes at the NMJ. In both instances Blos1 loss-of-function alleles dominantly affect the phenotypes are suppressible by loss-of-function *dysb* allele in trans. These results indicate that similar BLOC-1 dependent genetic and molecular mechanisms control spontaneous release and synapse morphology.

Dysbindin and Blos1 are necessary for the function of synaptic vesicle pools

BLOC-1 loss-of-function allelic combinations have a one-to-one correspondence between genotypes and the bouton morphology and spontaneous release phenotypes. Thus we asked if this genotype-to-phenotype congruency was observed across multiple synaptic organization levels. We hypothesized that increasingly complex synaptic functions would be similarly sensitive to reductions in the genetic dosage of neuronal BLOC-1 subunits if a common BLOC-1-dependent molecular mechanism controls these synaptic functions. In contrast, if synaptic processes were to respond divergently to the same genetic dosage imbalances, it would indicate that different BLOC-1-dependent molecular mechanisms are required for diverse synapse functions. To differentiate between these hypotheses, we assessed the effect of BLOC-1 genetic dosage on the mobilization of synaptic vesicle pools in response to either a philanthotoxin or high-frequency stimulation challenge(Delgado, Maureira et al. 2000, Dickman and Davis 2009, Frank, Wang et al. 2013). We focused our efforts on the ability for the transheterozygotic *dysb* mutations to preclude the dominant effects of *Blos1* as it suggests that synaptic mechanisms require precise BLOC-1 subunit stoichiometry.

We first tested the effects of BLOC-1 loss-of-function alleles on philanthotoxininduced presynaptic homeostatic compensation at the NMJ. In response to an acute, 10-minute incubation with philanthotoxin, which irreversibly blocks non-NMDA glutamate receptors, wild type animals exhibit robust homeostatic compensation to this postsynaptic block, as observed through a reduction in mEJP amplitude while maintaining the amplitude of their EJP (Fig. 4 A-A1 compare black and blue traces) (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012, Davis 2013, Frank, Wang et al. 2013, Frank 2014). This synaptic compensation occurs by doubling their quantal content of neurotransmitter release over baseline (Fig. 4H). However, dysb¹ mutants failed to display such presynaptic homeostatic compensation in response to this toxin, as reflected by the unchanged quantal content after toxin incubation (Fig. 4 B compare black and blue traces and Fig. 4H). Importantly, single copy loss of dysbindin does not block synaptic homeostasis (Fig. 4F and H). Unlike what we observed with the mEJP and branching dominant phenotypes, Blos1 null (Fig. 4C and H) and heterozygous animals (Fig. 4D and H) have no defect in synaptic compensation. *Blos1*^{EY};*dysb*¹ However, transheterozygotic mutants blocked synaptic homeostasis to the same extent as dysb1 homozygotic mutants (Fig. 4 compare B and E and Fig. 4H). These results demonstrate that the BLOC-1 complex is necessary for synaptic homeostatic plasticity, yet the BLOC-1-dependent molecular mechanisms that synaptic homeostasis relies on differ from those required by spontaneous release and synapse morphology. This incongruence in inheritance supports the hypothesis that synaptic mechanisms are differentially sensitive to BLOC-1 gene dosage imbalances, which do not follow a simple recessive reduction of BLOC-1 complex function.

Increased quantal content during presynaptic homeostatic compensation requires a calcium-dependent increase in size of the readily releasable pool. Thus, we hypothesized that BLOC-1 loss-of-function allele combinations could alter the mobilization of synaptic vesicle pools following the genotype-to-phenotype pattern observed in homeostatic plasticity. To test this hypothesis, we measured the size of the total vesicle pool and the recycling pool in different BLOC-1 mutants. To do this, NMJ responses were recorded under different stimulation

frequencies in the presence of the vATPase inhibitor bafilomycin A1. This inhibitor prevents reloading of neurotransmitter into synaptic vesicles after exocytosis. Low frequency stimulation (3 Hz, Fig. 5A-C), engages the recycling pool of vesicles to maintain neurotransmission; however, intense, high frequency stimulation (10 Hz, Fig. 5D-E) mobilizes the reserve pool of vesicles to support neurotransmission(Delgado, Maureira et al. 2000, Kim, Kumar et al. 2009). None of the loss-of-function allele combinations affected the rate of vesicle depletion at low frequency stimulation (Fig. 5A-C), indicating that BLOC-1 is not required for the mobilization or engagement of the recycling pool. However, we found that *Blos1* homozygous mutants (Fig. 5E) but not *dysb1* mutants (Fig. 5A) had a significantly enhanced depletion rate of the total vesicle pool compared to wild type animals and *Blos1* single copy loss. The divergent effects of the *Blos1* and *dysb*¹ homozygous mutants on the mobilization of the total vesicle pool did not reflect BLOC-1 independent functions of these alleles as evidenced by transheterozygotic *Blos1*^{EY}; *dysb*¹ mutants, which phenocopied the *Blos1* homozygous animals when stimulated at 10 Hz (Fig. 5F). The accelerated rate of depletion of the total vesicle pool paired with a lack of effect on the recycling vesicle pool indicates a selective perturbation to the reserve pool of vesicles in these animals. We conclude that the reserve pool necessitates the BLOC-1 complex, but this BLOC-1 requirement molecularly differs from the BLOC-1 requirement for synaptic homeostatic plasticity.

Dysbindin and Blos1 are required for olfactory short-term habituation in *Drosophila*

The divergent effects of BLOC-1 subunit gene dosage reductions among four NMJ synapse phenotypes prompted us to ask, "How would a learning behavior respond to BLOC-1 subunits gene dosage reductions?" To address this question, we assessed BLOC-1 mutants in a short-term olfactory habituation assay. Shortterm olfactory habituation in adults involves a retrograde signal and mobilization of the reserve pool of vesicles to potentiate GABA-ergic neurotransmission in the local interneurons (LNs) of the olfactory circuit in Drosophila (Das, Sadanandappa et al. 2011, Sadanandappa, Blanco Redondo et al. 2013, Twick, Lee et al. 2014). Thus, we predicted that this complex learning behavior in adult flies would be affected by BLOC-1 mutations following a genotype-to-phenotype pattern similar to the reserve pool phenotypes (Fig. 5). We explored genotype-tophenotype relationships across different combinations of BLOC-1 loss-offunction alleles. BLOC-1 mutant flies are healthy and viable, with no defects in locomotion, and can therefore be tested in behavioral assays (data not shown). We trained wild type and mutant animals with a 30-minute aversive odor exposure (5% ethyl butyrate) to determine odorant-specific reductions in avoidance to a second odor exposure.

Wild type flies exhibit olfactory habituation as determined by a reduced avoidance response by prior exposure to ethyl butyrate (Fig. 6A, *CS*. Compare pre and post-test in blue). In contrast, animals homozygous for the *dysb*¹ mutation showed no reduction in avoidance behavior, indicating a deficit in short-term

olfactory habituation (Fig. 6A). While the hypomorph $dysb^{1}$ animals are viable and healthy, the *BSC 416 dysb* deficiency flies are not. Therefore, to test if the habituation phenotype was dysb allele-specific, we expressed the $dysb^{1}$ mutation in trans with the $dysb^{Df}$. Single-copy loss of dysb, either by the $dysb^{1}$ or the $dysb^{Df}$ mutation did not affect habituation (Fig. 6A). However, short-term olfactory habituation was impaired in $dysb^{1}$ animals in trans with the dysbindin deficiency (*BSC 416*) (Fig. 6A) confirming that loss of dysbindin inhibits shortterm olfactory habituation.

Short-term olfactory habituation requires plasticity in the GABAergic local interneurons and antennal lobe projection neurons, which form a circuit that relays information from olfactory sensory neurons to higher centers, the mushroom bodies and the lateral protocerebrum (Das, Sadanandappa et al. 2011, Sadanandappa, Blanco Redondo et al. 2013, Twick, Lee et al. 2014). We determined the requirement for Dysbindin within these neuronal subtypes by conditionally knocking-down dysbindin in a cell-type specific manner. We used *dysb* RNAi selectively expressed in the lateral interneurons and antennal lobe projection neurons with the LN1 and GH146-Gal4 drivers, respectively (Das, Sadanandappa et al. 2011, Sadanandappa, Blanco Redondo et al. 2013). Dysbindin requirement in both cell types for short-term olfactory habituation, demonstrate that Dysbindin is necessary for olfactory memory formation (Fig. 6B). Moreover, the Dysbindin cell specific requirement is temporally limited to the adult olfactory circuit as determined by experiments that restricted Dysbindin knock-down to the adult circuit using the transcriptional repressor tub-Gal80^{ts}

(Fig. 6C, 18°C). Repression of Gal80^{ts} at the non-permissive temperature led to the expression of dysbindin-RNAi and impaired olfactory habituation phenotype (Fig. 6C, 29°C), whereas at the permissive temperature of 18°C, olfactory habituation was normal. These data demonstrate that Dysbindin is acutely necessary in the local interneurons and projections neurons during adult *Drosophila* olfactory habituation.

We next asked if the observed defect in short-term habituation was specific to loss of the Dysbindin subunit, or if it could be attributed to the BLOC-1 complex. Homozygous loss of *Blos1* prevented olfactory short-term habituation (Fig. 6D). Similar to dysbindin, however, a single copy loss of *Blos1* was insufficient to produce the phenotype. While a single copy loss of each subunit did not preclude short-term habituation, transheterozygotic expression of these mutations did prevent olfactory short-term habituation (Fig. 6E). We conclude that BLOC-1 is required for olfactory short-term habituation in Drosophila. These results indicate that the genotype-to-phenotype relationships observed for the reserve vesicle pool differ from those observed in olfactory short-term habituation as illustrated by the *dysb* homozygous loss-of-function alleles. These data show that the BLOC-1 complex is required irrespective of the synapse organization level analyzed or the central or peripheral character of a synapse. However, these BLOC-1 complex requirements follow different genotype-to-phenotype relationships.

Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of BLOC-1 Genotype and Associated Phenotype

We used the array of genotypes and phenotypes exploring BLOC-1 synaptic functions to quantitatively determine co-segregation of traits with genotypes. We analyzed genotype-to-phenotype pairs using single linkage hierarchical clustering (Fig. 7). We assigned a value of o to wild type and 1 to mutant phenotypes, respectively. Clustering revealed that a homozygous *Blos1* null genotype (Fig. 7ABlos1-/-) is phenotypically closer to a Blos1 heterozygote (Fig. 7ABlos1-/+) than to homozygous dysb loss-of-function genotype (Fig. 7Adysb-/-). In contrast, the phenotypes observed in homozygous dysb loss-of-function null flies (Fig. 7Adysb-/-) co-segregated better with a dysb, Blos1 transheterozygotes (Fig. 7ABlos1/dysb). Similarly, mEJP amplitude and branching dominant traits were clustered together and away from the presynaptic homeostasis, reserve pool, and habituation phenotypes. Phenotype and genotype clustering were different from randomized phenotype-genotype pairs (Fig. 7B). This analysis shows that an array of six genotypes and five traits identify as a minimum two non-overlapping phenotypic clusters within a collection of BLOC-1 loss-of-function mutations. Our findings demonstrate that alleles reducing the function of a protein complex at the synapse are modified by a second complex subunit-encoding locus. However, these genetic interactions depart from Mendelian inheritance even though alleles affect the same restricted molecular network.

DISCUSSION

Here, we examined the impact of combined loss-of-function mutations affecting the BLOC-1 complex on synaptic neurotransmission in Drosophila. BLOC-1 is a closely associating octameric protein complex whose interaction network we defined in the fly through the schizophrenia susceptibility factor and BLOC-1 subunit Dysbindin (Fig. 1) (Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010, Guruharsha, Rual et al. 2011). We found that homozygous loss-of-function alleles of dysb, Blos1, or compound heterozygotes of these alleles impaired diverse presynaptic mechanisms. These identified deficits affect mechanisms of increasing complexity, from abnormal spontaneous neurotransmitter release and synapse morphology at the neuromuscular junction to olfactory habituation. This multiparameter assessment indicated that phenotypes were differentially sensitive to genetic reductions of BLOC-1 function in a way that departs from the predicted recessive inheritance of dysbindin loss-of-function. On one extreme, spontaneous neurotransmission and synapse morphology at the NMJ follow a dominant inheritance in response to Blos1 loss-of-function (Fig. 2-3). This phenotype is rescued by a second loss-of-function allele in *dysb*. This is particularly striking when we consider that the polypeptides encoded by these genes form a complex, as we demonstrated in Drosophila neurons (Fig. 1). In contrast, short-term olfactory habituation behaves as a recessive character (Fig. 6). We draw two conclusions from these findings that we would like to focus on. First, gene dosage reductions in two or more genetic loci affecting BLOC-1 do not phenocopy each other, nor do they confer a simple additive loss of function as has been described for recessive alleles. Rather, mutations to BLOC-1 are governed by the dosage dependent hypothesis, consistent with reports of the complex genetic interactions well described in regulatory gene complexes (Birchler 2000, 2001) but not yet observed in relation to either membrane-trafficking complexes or neuropsychiatric disorders. Second, genotype-to-phenotype correlations observed in a trait following a gene pair analysis better, although not precisely, predict how other traits may respond. These findings provide a perspective to the complexity and predictability of synaptic phenotypes derived from copy number variation associated to human neurodevelopmental disorders (Stefansson, Ophoff et al. 2009, Bassett, Scherer et al. 2010, Malhotra and Sebat 2012, Rapoport, Giedd et al. 2012, Moreno-De-Luca, Myers et al. 2013, Ahn, Gotay et al. 2014, Stefansson, Meyer-Lindenberg et al. 2014).

Dominant and recessive fly traits associated with mutations affecting BLOC-1 complexes support the dosage balance hypothesis, which predicts that mutations affecting genes encoding different subunits of a protein complex may confer distinct phenotypes and inheritance mechanisms (Veitia, Bottani et al. 2008, Birchler and Veitia 2012). The ultimate result is a range of resultant subcomplex remnants spanning from total complex depletion to combinations of residual subunits, referred to here as remnants. These remnants have been described in mice carrying mutations in genes encoding BLOC-1 complex subunits, including dysbindin. However, no phenotype has been assigned to these remnants to date (Huang, Kuo et al. 1999, Zhang, Li et al. 2002, Ciciotte, Gwynn et al. 2003, Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Gwynn, Martina et al. 2004, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Yang, He et al. 2012). We postulate that olfactory habituation, a BLOC-1 recessive

phenotype, is at one end of this spectrum and requires fully assembled octamericBLOC-1, which would be disrupted by any BLOC-1 subunit mutation. Further, olfactory habituation mechanisms would be unaffected by BLOC-1 remnants (Fig. 8). In contrast, traits that depart from a recessive inheritance pattern and display diverse responses to BLOC-1 subunit mutations may be caused by at least three non-mutually exclusive mechanisms related to the dosage balance hypothesis. First, mutations in different BLOC-1 subunits may result in similar reductions of BLOC-1 content and activity. However, traits may be differentially sensitive to total BLOC-1 cellular content. Second, divergent phenotypes in response to gene dosage reductions may reflect different functions engaged by distinct BLOC-1 subunits, performed by either monomeric subunits or monomers as part of other protein complexes. Finally, loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 subunits may lead to gain-of-function remnants (Fig. 8). Thus, some phenotypes may emerge from these BLOC-1 complex remnants leftover after uneven protein down-regulation of the octamer. The remnant hypothesis best explains the mEJP amplitude phenotypes, which lie at the other end of the spectrum from olfactory habituation. If increased mEJP amplitude is caused by *Blos1* mutations leaving behind "deleterious", Dysbindin-containing subcomplex remnants, then reducing Dysbindin levels by dysb mutations should restore mEJP amplitude to wild type levels. This prediction is satisfied by our results with multiple Blos1 and dysb allele combinations (Fig. 2). Thus, the mEJP amplitude phenotype suggests the existence of a class of neurodevelopmental disease phenotypes that do not simply result from network loss-of-function but rather from changes in the stoichiometry of network components. It is possible that a loss-of-function allele in *DTNBP1* or other gene may increase the risk or be causative of a disease trait when in isolation yet have no consequences when combined with another gene defect affecting the network. We speculate that philanthotoxin-induced homeostasis and reserve pool mobilization are differentially sensitive to BLOC-1 remnants, and that these phenotypes reside somewhere in the middle of this spectrum.

In this study, we modeled a two-gene synaptic neurodevelopmental defect in the fly in an effort to comprehend how multiple genes influence synaptic functions that may be compromised in schizophrenia. Our strategy is founded on the polygenic character of schizophrenia, illustrated by copy number variations that strongly confer disease risk (Gottesman and Shields 1967, Mirnics, Middleton et al. 2000, Purcell, Wray et al. 2009, Faludi and Mirnics 2011, Purcell, Moran et al. 2014). Here, we focus on the product of a gene associated to schizophrenia susceptibility and a modulator of cognition in normal humans, dysbindin. Moreover, similar to Drosophila dysb alleles, cognitive traits associated to alleles of the human *dysb* ortholog, *DTNBP1*, are modified by a second locus in a human dysbindin functional interactome(Papaleo, Burdick et al. 2014). Finally, mutations in Drosophila genes encoding the BLOC-1 subunits Dysbindin and Blos1 preclude short-term olfactory habituation, as established here (Fig. 6). We draw several parallels between our analyses in the fly and observed deficits in schizophrenia, which make our study of particular relevance. First, Drosophila olfactory habituation is mediated by GABAergic interneurons, which modulate the output of odorant-selective projection neurons to mushroom bodies (Das,

Sadanandappa et al. 2011, Sadanandappa, Blanco Redondo et al. 2013, Twick, Lee et al. 2014). We demonstrate the requirement of BLOC-1 function in these interneurons in short-term olfactory habituation. GABAergic interneuron dysfunction is also observed in mice lacking dysbindin, as well as in both the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of schizophrenia patients (Benes and Berretta 2001, Beasley, Zhang et al. 2002, Hashimoto, Volk et al. 2003, Hashimoto, Arion et al. 2008, Nakazawa, Zsiros et al. 2012). Second, impaired sensory habituation is a common manifestation in schizophrenia subjects (Gever and Braff 1987, Braff, Grillon et al. 1992, Holt, Weiss et al. 2005, Williams, Blackford et al. 2013, Hu, He et al. 2014). In humans, sensory habituation defects are considered an intermediate, or 'endo-', phenotype. In complex genetic disorders such as schizophrenia, endophenotypes may serve as useful biological markers, bridging diagnostic phenomenology with cellular and molecular mechanisms of disease (Gottesman and Gould 2003). As such, our studies are the first example of deconstructing an endophenotype, sensory habituation, into lower complexity synaptic mechanisms in *Drosophila*. We measured distinct functional properties of synapses that could be substrates of defective sensory habituation. While none of the synaptic functions assessed precisely matched their response to combinations of gene dosage reductions, sensory habituation clustered with synaptic plasticity mechanisms observed during high frequency stimulation and philanthotoxin-induced synaptic homeostasis (Fig. 7). Clustering of phenotypes and their underlying mechanisms is most clearly perceived through the study of combined heterozygotic gene defects. These findings demonstrate that mechanistic deconstruction of an endophenotype is better understood through

assessments spanning different levels of synaptic organization and complexity, as well as through genetic perturbations of two or more genes encoding network components.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Drosophila stocks, rearing, genetics, and electrophysiology

All fly stocks were reared and maintained at 25°C on normal media. For crosses, standard second and third chromosome balancers were used. $dysb^1$, UAS-Dysb, UAS-Venus-dysbindin, $dysb^{rv}$, $dysb^{Df}$ were obtained from Graeme Davis (UCSF); $blos1^{ex2}$, $blos1^{ex65}$, and UAS-blos1 were obtained from Esteban Dell'Angelica (UCLA)(Cheli, Daniels et al. 2010). w^{1118} , Canton S, Elav-GAL4^{C155} and other fly strains such as balancer chromosome containing and tissue-specific Elav-GAL4 driver stocks are part of the Sanyal or Ramaswami laboratory collection. $Blos1^{EY}$ was obtained from Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center and UAS-dysb RNAi was from NIG.

For all physiological intracellular recordings, data was obtained from muscle 6 of abdominal segment 2 or 3 of female, wandering, third instar larvae. Recordings were only used if the resting membrane potential was between -6omV and -90mV and the muscle input resistance was >5M Ω . For mEJP analysis and philanthotoxin experiments, intracellular recordings were performed in modified HL3 saline (in mM: NaCl 70, KCl 5, CaCl₂ 0.3, MgCl₂ 1.0, NaHCO₃ 10, Sucrose 115, Trehalose 5, BES [2 2-[bis(2-hydroxyethyl)amino]ethanesulfonic acid pH 7.2] 5). Severed motor neurons were taken up into a stimulating electrode and stimulated at 1Hz for 50s. For acute pharmacological homeostatic challenge, experiments were conducted as previously described (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). Briefly, semi-intact preparations were maintained with the CNS, fat, and gut intact and perfused with Phillanthatoxin-433 (PhTx;
Sigma). A stock solution of PhTx was prepared (4mM in DMSO) and diluted for use to 4 μ M in modified HL3. Preparations were incubated for 10 minutes in PhTx, rinsed in modified HL3, and dissections were then completed. Recordings were only used if the mEJP amplitude following toxin incubation was \leq 60% of baseline mEJP amplitude, indicative of the toxin gaining access to the muscle.

For vesicle pool separation experiments, physiological recordings were carried out in normal HL3 (in mM: NaCl 70, KCl 5, CaCl₂ 1.0, MgCl₂ 2.0, NaHCO₃ 10, Sucrose 115, Trehalose 5, BES [2 2-[bis(2-hydroxyethyl)amino]ethanesulfonic acid pH 7.2] 5). Prior to stimulation, animals were dissected in Ca²⁺-free HL3 and incubated in 1 μ M bafilomycin A1 for 15 minutes. After incubation, severed motor neurons were taken up into a stimulating electrode and stimulated for 30 minutes at either 3Hz (low-frequency) or 10Hz (high-frequency) in the presence of 1 μ M bafilomycin A1 (Sigma Aldrich, Cat No. B1793). Bafilomycin A1 was prepared as a 1mM stock solution in DMSO and diluted for us at 1 μ M in normal HL3. Semi-intact preparations were prepared as described (Kim, Kumar et al. 2009).

For all electrophysiological experiments, a magnetic glass microelectrode horizontal puller (PN-30 Narishige) was used to prepare microelectrodes (30-70 $M\Omega$ resistance, backfilled with 3M KCl). Amplification of signals was achieved using Axoclamp900A. Signals were digitized using Digidata 1440A and recorded using Clampfit 10.1. Analysis was done in MiniAnalysis (Synaptosoft Inc.) and Microsoft Excel. For baseline evoked responses and homeostasis assays, the average EJP was divided by the average mEJP to determine quantal content. For low- and high-frequency stimulation protocols, quantal content for each stimulated response was calculated, and then normalized as a percent of the first recorded response. Tau was calculated for the stimulation to 50% decay of initial response. Nonlinear summation correction was applied across all quantal content calculations.

Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy

Larval dissections, immunohistochemistry, and confocal microscopy were conducted according as previously described (Franciscovich, Mortimer et al. 2008). Wandering third instar female larvae were dissected in normal HL3, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 1 hour, and stained with HRP –FITC for 2 hours at room temperature (1:500). An inverted 510 Zeiss LSM microscope was used for confocal imaging. At least 15 animals were counted per genotype.

Immunoprecipitation and mass spectrometry

To determine interactions between *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunits, fly heads were prepared as previously described (Roos and Kelly 1998). Briefly, for each genotype, approximately 100 animals were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, heads were separated then collected by passing the frozen tissue through a microsieve in liquid nitrogen. The frozen tissue was ground into a powder using a mortar and pestle, and combined with 100 μ l lysis (Buffer A (150 mM NaCl, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, and 0.1 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4)+ 0.5% TritonX-100) with Complete anti-protease (catalog#11245200, Roche), also frozen and ground into a powder and stored at -80°C. Samples were thawed and sonicated, tissue debris was removed by centrifugation, and protein concentration determined by Bradford assay (BioRad, Villerica, CA). Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE on a 4-20% gel (Invitrogen) and immunoblot analysis was performed as previously described(Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013). Dyna magnetic beads (catalog #110.31, Invitrogen) coated with antibody (catalog #, Invitrogen) and incubated for 2 h at 4°C with 500µg of protein extract. The beads were then washed 4–6 times with buffer A (0.1% Triton X-100). Proteins were eluted with Laemmli sample buffer at 75°C. Samples were either resolved by SDS-PAGE and contents analyzed by immunoblot, or processed for mass spectrometry protein identification by MS Bioworks as described(Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013).

Short-term olfactory habituation

Short-term olfactory habituation was tested using a Y-maze apparatus as previously described (Das, Sadanandappa et al. 2011, Sadanandappa, Blanco Redondo et al. 2013). Briefly, four-day-old adult flies were starved overnight and the naïve response to ethyl butyrate (EB, 10⁻³ dilution in water) was tested (pretest response). To induce short-term habituation (STH), flies were then transferred to a 125 mL glass bottle containing a suspended, 1.5 mL Eppendorf with 5% EB in paraffin oil with the lid perforated for 30 minutes. Animals were then tested for response following the 30 minutes period (post-test response). For conditional dysbindin knock-down experiments parental flies were reared at 18°C until eclosion. Newly eclosed flies (0-12 hrs) were shifted to 29°C, whereas the control flies were maintained at 18°C. After 4 days, flies were subjected to short-term habituation protocol, as described above.

Statistical and cluster analysis

Experimental conditions were compared using Synergy Kaleida-Graph, version 4.1.3 (Reading, PA), or StatPlus Mac Built5.6.0pre/Universal (AnalystSoft, Vancouver, Canada). Tests are indicated in each figure. Cluster analysis was performed with Cluster 3.0 (http://rana.lbl.gov/EisenSoftware.htm)(Eisen, Spellman et al. 1998) and visualized using TreeView-1.1.6r4. Random genotype-phenotype pairs were generated with the engine random.org.



Figure 1. BLOC-1 assembles into an octameric complex in Drosophila neurons. Previously identified mammalian (A) and Drosophila (B) BLOC-1 subunit interactions. Dotted lines represent interactions identified by veast twohybrid (dotted lines), while shaded regions depict complex or subcomplexes formation based on immunoprecipitation or cosedimentation studies. Identification of Drosophila BLOC-1 subunits immunoprecipitating Venus-Dysbindin is consistent with octameric mammalian BLOC-1 architecture (C). Immunoblot with GFP antibodies confirms expression of the Venus-Dysbindin transgene from fly head lysates in animals expressing the transgene (lane 2) but not control animals (lane 1) (D). Lysates as shown in D were immunoprecipitated using GFP antibodies. Spectral counts of all eight BLOC-1 subunit orthologues were selectively enriched following immunoprecipitation with GFP antibodies from animals expressing the Venus-Dysbindin transgene (E, grey bars) compared to controls (E, blue bars). Proteins non-specifically bound to the GFP beads such as beta-tubulin and elongation factor 1alpha (EF1alpha) were represented with similar spectral counts in both samples (E). MS/MS peptide sequencing of select immunoprecipitated Drosophila BLOC-1 subunit orthologues (F). Specific detection of BLOC-1 ortholog Pallidin by immunoblot in Venus-Dysbindinexpressing fly head lysates immunoprecipitated with GFP antibodies (G, lane 5). Pallidin antibodies precipitate Venus-Dysbindin from Venus-Dysbindin expressing fly head lysates detected with GFP antibodies (H, lane 5).



Figure 2. BLOC-1 presynaptically regulates quantal content at the **Drosophila NMJ.** A-E) Representative EJP and mEJP traces showing Blos1 null (A, red, Blos1^{EY}) and Blos1 heterozygote (B, blue, Blos1^{EY/+}) increase mEJP but not EJP amplitude compared to control (Canton S, black). Presynaptic expression of UAS-Blos1 in a single copy *Blos1* loss (C, green) or single copy loss of *Blos1* in trans with the $dysb^1$ mutation (D, red) rescues mEJP amplitude as compared to Blos1 heterozygote (C-D, blue). Presynaptic expression of dysb in Blos1^{EY};dysb¹ transheterozygote (E, green) increases mEJP amplitude compared to the transheterozygote (E, red). No changes in EJP amplitude or mEJP frequency were observed in any of the genotypes (F). G-R) Event size plotted against frequency of event for BLOC-1 loss of function allelic combinations. Shift in the curve to the right indicates larger events in that genotype. All comparisons in F were performed with One-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test. G to R comparisons were performed by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. F to R data were obtained from 7-11 animals per genotype. G to R plots graph between 992 and 2880 randomly selected mEJP events.



Figure 3. Normal synaptic morphology requires BLOC-1 function. A-I) Representative images of HRP immunofluorescence at the 6/7 synapse in *Drosophila* for indicated genotypes. J) Significant increases in the number of synaptic boutons in BLOS1 null animals ($Blos1^{EY}$, $Blos1^{ex65}$) and animals carrying single copy loss of BLOS1 ($Blos1^{EY/+}$, $Blos1^{ex65/+}$, $Blos1^{eX65/rv}$, $Blos1^{ex65/rv}$), but no significant changes in synaptic bouton numbers in $Blos1^{EY/+}$; dysb^{1/+} or $Blos1^{ex65/+}$; dysb^{1/+} transheterozygotes. K) Muscle area across all genotypes was unaffected. All comparisons were performed with One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test. Data were obtained from 10-14 animals per genotype. * p between 0.0019 and 0.045 and ns indicate non-significant *p* values.



Figure 4. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic homeostasis. A-F) Representative EJP traces. Black indicates baseline stimulated response; blue indicates response following acute 10-minute incubation with 4uM PhTx for each genotype. A1-F1) Reduced mEJP amplitudes following PhTx incubation (blue) compared to baseline (black). Representative mEJP traces shown in inset. G) Reduction in mEJP amplitude following toxin incubation. H) w1118 control, Blos1^{EY}, and Blos1^{EY/+} animals display robust homeostatic increase in quantal content following toxin incubation, while dysb¹ and Blos1^{EY/+};dysb^{1/+} animals did not. A1 to F1 plots graph between 909 and 2888 randomly selected mEJP events. All comparisons in G and H were performed with One-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison. Data were obtained from 6-11 animals per genotype.



Figure 5. BLOC-1 gene-dosage regulates synaptic vesicle pool properties. Animals were stimulated at low frequency (3 Hz, A-C) and high frequency (10 Hz, D-F) in the presence of 1uM bafilomycin A1. Inset shows stimulation to 50% depletion compared to response at stimulation 0. No changes in rate of vesicle pool depletion were observed across genotypes at low frequency (A-C). At high frequency, no changes were observed in vesicle depletion rate in dysb¹ (D, red), or Blos1^{EY/+} (D, blue) compared to control (D, w1118, black). Blos1^{EY} (E, blue) and Blos1^{EY/+};dysb^{1/+} transheterozygote (F, blue) both displayed significantly faster vesicle depletion compared to the Blos1^{EY/+} (E-F, black). All comparisons in F and G were performed with One-Way ANOVA followed by Fishers's multiple comparison. Data were obtained from 6-9 animals per genotype.



Figure 6. BLOC-1 is required at local interneurons and projection neurons for short-term olfactory habituation in Drosophila. Following aversive odor exposure, control (Canton S, CS) or single copy loss of function (dysb^{1/+}, dysb^{DF/+}) animals show significant avoidance behavior, represented as % Response, compared to pre-exposure response (A, compare blue dots to black). dysb mutants (dysb¹ and dysb^{1/Df}) show no learned avoidance following aversive odor exposure. B) Specific expression of dysbindin RNAi in either the local interneurons (LN1 driver) or projection neurons (GH146 driver) is sufficient to prevent normal post-exposure avoidance response. C) Inhibition of dysbindin RNAi expression in the local interneurons or the projection neurons using the temperature-sensitive repressor tubGal80^{ts} at the permissive temperature (18°C) allowed for normal olfactory habituation. Repression of tubGal80^{ts} at the nonpermissive temperature (29°C) led to impaired odorant avoidance response. D) Blos1 homozygous mutations but not single copy loss prevent learned odorant avoidance behavior. (E) Blos1 mutations expressed in trans with dysb1 prevent learned odorant avoidance response. Dot plots represent each animal per genotype. Comparisons were made with Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 7. Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of BLOC-1 Genotype and their Associated Phenotypes. Genotype-to-phenotype pairs were analyzed by single linkage hierarchical clustering. Phenotypes are assigned a value of 0 to wild type (blue) and 1 to mutant phenotypes (orange), respectively. A depicts experimentally generated genotype-to-phenotype pairs. B represents randomly assigned genotype-to-phenotype pairs. Hierarchical clustering analysis was performed for A-B and clusters r values are presented in A. r experimental (r_{exp}) and r random (r_{ran}). All experimentally defined cluster r correlations are different from those predicted from random genotype-to-phenotype pairs. See text for details.



Mutant BLOC-1 Spectrum

Figure 8. How do BLOC-1 mutations produce divergent synaptic phenotypes? Model depicts the wild type BLOC-1 complex and two outcomes of gene loss-of-function alleles on the levels and putative architecture of BLOC-1 and remnants (blurred structures). Mutations induce a down-regulation of the whole BLOC-1 octamer (bottom left) and/or generate low levels of BLOC-1 remnants (bottom right). The extent of these two molecular outcomes would dependent of the mutations affecting BLOC-1 subunit genes. Phenotypes emerge either because of down-regulation of the BLOC-1 octamer or the appearance of remnants. See discussion for details.

Fig. no.	Genotype	Negative RI values for STH experiments		
		Naïve (N)	Exposed (N)	p-value
6A	CS	0.63 ± 0.03 (7)	0.33 ± 0.03 (7)	0.002141
	dysb ^{1/+}	0.60 ± 0.01 (10)	0.29 ± 0.04 (10)	0.0003214
	dysb ^{DEF/+}	0.58 ± 0.02 (10)	0.29 ± 0.03 (10)	0.0001796
	dysh ¹	0.64 ± 0.008 (8)	0.68 ± 0.02 (8)	NS
	dysb ^{1/DEF}	0.79 ± 0.03 (10)	0.79 ± 0.02 (10)	NS
6B	CS > UAS-dysb RNAi	0.62 ± 0.03 (9)	0.33 ± 0.05 (9)	0.001976
	LN1-GAL4 > UAS-dysb RNAi	0.64 ± 0.02 (8)	0.52 ± 0.04 (8)	NS
	GH146-GAL4 > UAS-dysb RNAi	0.69 ± 0.02 (9)	0.62 ± 0.04 (9)	NS
6C	LN1-GAL4; tub-GAL80 ^{ts} > UAS-dysb RNAi - 18°C	0.64 ± 0.009 (5)	0.27 ± 0.01 (5)	0.01193
	LN1-GAL4; tub-GAL80 ^{ts} > UAS-dysb RNAi - 29°C	0.69 ± 0.02 (5)	0.63 ± 0.02 (5)	NS
	GH146-GAL4, tub-GAL80 ^{ts} > UAS-dysb RNAi - 18°C	0.64 ± 0.02 (9)	0.25 ± 0.04 (9)	0.001084
	GH146-GAL4, tub-GAL80 ^{ts} > UAS-dysb RNAi - 29°C	0.68 ± 0.04 (8)	0.61 ± 0.03 (8)	NS
6D	cs	0.64 ± 0.02 (15)	0.39 ± 0.02 (15)	< .0001
	blos1 ^{ex2/+}	0.63 ± 0.006 (8)	0.38 ± 0.03 (8)	0.000891
	blos1 ^{ex65/+}	0.62 ± 0.007 (10)	0.38 ± 0.01 (10)	0.0001717
	blos1 ^{ex2}	0.60 ± 0.007 (11)	0.66 ± 0.02 (11)	0.02771
	blos1 ^{ex65}	0.57 ± 0.01 (11)	0.60 ± 0.02 (11)	NS
	blos1 ^{EY}	0.56 ± 0.05 (6)	0.47 ± 0.02 (6)	NS
6E	cs	0.64 ± 0.02 (15)	0.39 ± 0.02 (15)	< .0001
	blos1 ^{ex2/+} ; dysb ^{1/+}	0.63 ± 0.01 (9)	0.66 ± 0.02 (9)	NS
	blos1 ^{ex65/+} ; dysb ^{1/+}	0.62 ± 0.02 (9)	0.60 ± 0.02 (9)	NS

[#] RI values are ± SEM

Response index (RI) was calculated for naive- and odor-exposed flies, as the fraction of flies in the odorant

compartment minus the fraction of flies in the air compartment divided by the total number of files that participated in the experiment. See J Neurosci. 2013 Oct 16;33(42):16576-85. for details

Supplementary Table 1. Summary of results for olfactory short-term habituation experimental data shown in Figure 6.

CHAPTER III

NSF Acts Downstream of the Schizophrenia Susceptibility Factor, Dysbindin, to Regulate Synaptic Homeostasis.

Avanti Gokhale^{*a}, **Ariana P. Mullin^{*a}**, Stephanie A. Zlatic^a, Charles A. Easley IV^{a,b}, Megan E. Merrit^{a,b}, Nisha Raj^{a,b}, Jennifer Larimore^c, David E. Gordon^d, Andrew A. Peden^d, Subhabrata Sanyal^e, Victor Faundez^{a,f#}.

Department of Cell Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, 30322, USA^a. Laboratory for Translational Cell Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, 30322, USA^b. Department of Biology, Agnes Scott College, Decatur, 30030, GA^c.Department of Biomedical Science, The University of Sheffield, S10 2TN, UK^d. Biogen-Idec, 14 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA, 02493, USA^e. Center for Social Translational Neuroscience^f, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, 30322, USA.

Running Title: NSF is Downstream of Dysbindin

*These authors contributed equally to this work.

Under Review, PNAS

ABSTRACT

Synaptic homeostatic mechanisms maintain cellular and circuit excitability set points. Dysbindin, a schizophrenia susceptibility factor and subunit of the BLOC-1 complex, is required presynaptically for synaptic homeostatic plasticity at the Drosophila neuromuscular junction, suggesting disruption of synaptic homeostasis as a potential mechanism for neurodevelopmental disorders. However, molecular pathways mediating synaptic homeostasis downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1 remain mostly unknown. Here, we identified the N-Ethylmaleimide Sensitive Factor (NSF) as a factor sensitive to BLOC-1 deficiency. BLOC-1 interacts independently with NSF. To test the hypothesis that NSF is necessary for dysbindin function, we examined a role for NSF in dysbindin-BLOC-1-dependent synaptic homeostatic compensation at the Drosophila neuromuscular junction. While mutations in dysbindin preclude philanthotoxininduced homeostatic plasticity, a phenotype rescued by presynaptic expression of dysbindin, neuron-specific expression of dNSF1 fully rescued this defect. Our results demonstrate that NSF resides downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1, and that presynaptic homeostatic mechanisms require synaptic vesicle fusion machinery.

SIGNIFICANCE STATEMENT

One of the schizophrenia pathogenic hypotheses postulates defects in the communication between the pre- and post-synapse. Here we identified that a synaptic communication impairment caused by a mutation in a schizophrenia susceptibility gene is reversed by selective expression of membrane fusion machinery components at the pre-synapse. These findings identify a two-gene synaptic schizophrenia susceptibility pathway regulating neurotransmitter secretion.

INTRODUCTION

Neural circuits and their constituent neurons are capable of regulating their synaptic activity in the face of changing demands. At individual synapses, preand post-synaptic mechanisms combine in a process known as synaptic homeostasis to maintain synaptic activity within a set range in order to elicit the appropriate synaptic communication and postsynaptic response (Turrigiano 2008, Davis 2013). Genes that lead to defects in synaptic homeostasis are also associated with or cause a subset of neurodevelopmental disorders (Wondolowski and Dickman 2013). Thus, abnormal synaptic homeostasis could be a central link in the chain of events leading from genetic mutations to the phenotypes observed in complex neurodevelopmental disorders (Wondolowski and Dickman 2013). This concept is illustrated by the schizophrenia susceptibility factor dysbindin. Loss-of-function mutations in Drosophila dysbindin preclude a form of presynaptic homeostasis elicited by blockage of postsynaptic receptors at the neuromuscular junction (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). In addition, Snapin, a polypeptide that associates with dysbindin and SNAREs (Ilardi, Mochida et al. 1999, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Tian, Wu et al. 2005), is also required for presynaptic homeostatic plasticity in the fly (Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). This suggests that the network of protein-protein interactions engaged by dysbindin is necessary for presynaptic plasticity mechanisms. Dysbindin associates with seven other polypeptides, one of them Snapin, to form an octameric complex known as the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex 1 (BLOC-1) (Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). Moreover, the BLOC-1 complex also associates

with monomeric SNARES, regulating their subcellular distribution and content in the hippocampus (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). This evidence suggests that dysbindin-BLOC-1-dependent synaptic homeostasis mechanisms might require components of the SNARE-mediated fusion apparatus for normal plasticity.

The human dysbindin polypeptide and its gene, DTNBP1, are of particular interest as polymorphisms in DTNBP1 associate with an increased risk of schizophrenia, a neurodevelopmental disorder. DTNBP1 genetic polymorphisms are risk factors for schizophrenia onset particularly in the childhood form of this disorder, a more severe version of schizophrenia than the adult affliction (Straub, Jiang et al. 2002, Van Den Bogaert, Schumacher et al. 2003, Luciano, Miyajima et al. 2009, Markov, Krug et al. 2009, Markov, Krug et al. 2010, Mechelli, Viding et al. 2010, Cerasa, Quattrone et al. 2011, Fatjó-Vilas, Papiol et al. 2011, Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011, Tognin, Viding et al. 2011, Wolf, Jackson et al. 2011, Ayalew, Le-Niculescu et al. 2012). Post-mortem studies of adult schizophrenia brains reveal a reduction in dysbindin transcripts and protein (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004, Weickert, Rothmond et al. 2008). In fact, nearly 80% of affected subjects possess reduced dysbindin protein content in neuroanatomical regions affected by this disorder (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004). These genetic and neuropathological findings in humans strongly argue for dysbindin and/or dysbindin interactors as penetrant, loss-of-function links in the chain of events associated to schizophrenia development.

We screened for proteomic modifications triggered by dysbindin-BLOC-1 loss-offunction in mammalian neuronal cells by unbiased quantitative mass spectrometry with stable isotope labeling with aminoacids in cell culture (SILAC). Our screen prominently identified components of the fusion machinery, including select SNAREs and NSF, as factors whose content is sensitive to BLOC-1 loss-of-function in diverse cell types, including neurons. We tested the hypothesis that that factors sensitive to BLOC-1 perturbation would converge on to a dysbindin-BLOC-1-mediated mechanism. We focused on NSF, the most downstream component of the vesicle membrane fusion machinery, and asked whether NSF participates in dysbindin-BLOC-1-dependent synaptic homeostatic compensation at the Drosophila neuromuscular junction. As previously reported, we observed that mutations in fly dysbindin precluded the establishment of homeostatic synaptic plasticity induced by blockage of postsynaptic receptors at the neuromuscular junction, a phenotype that we readily rescued by presynaptic expression of Dysbindin (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). However, as predicted from our hypothesis, neuron-specific expression of *dNSF1*, the gene encoding *Drosophila* NSF, rescued this plasticity defect to the same extent as Dysbindin re-expression in the presynaptic compartment. Our results demonstrate that NSF resides downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1, and that presynaptic homeostatic mechanisms require synaptic vesicle fusion machinery. We propose that defects in synaptic homeostasis due to reduced levels of dysbindin and dysbindin interactors, such as NSF, contribute to the synaptic pathology that characterizes schizophrenia.

RESULTS

To further understand the role played by dysbindin-BLOC-1 in synaptic homeostasis, we first profiled the cellular proteome from control and shRNA BLOC-1 down-regulated neuroblastoma cells. Quantitative mass spectrometry using <u>stable</u> isotope labeling by <u>a</u>minoacids in cell <u>culture</u> (SILAC) identified proteins sensitive to BLOC-1 down-regulation. These included subunits of the BLOC-1 complex (Bloc1s5 muted and Bloc1s4 cappuccino) and vesicle fusion machinery components (munc18, tomosyn, syntaxin 7 and 17, SNAP25, VAMP7, and NSF, Fig.1A and SFig.1)(Rizo and Südhof 2012). BLOC-1 complex subunits along with the fusion machinery form a predicted network of proteinprotein/genetic interactions (Fig. 1B) where NSF is the most downstream component of the fusion machinery we identified. Thus we focused on this factor (Rizo and Südhof 2012).

We first confirmed that NSF is a BLOC-1-sensitive factor. We found cellular levels of NSF reduced in BLOC-1 down-regulated SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (Figs. 1C-D). Down-regulation of BLOC-1 was achieved through shRNA targeted against BLOC-1 subunits Bloc1s5 muted, Bloc1s6 pallidin, or Bloc1s8 dysbindin and confirmed by a reduction in Bloc1s8 dysbindin on immunoblots (Figs. 1C-D). BLOC-1 loss-of-function also reduced NSF cellular levels in human neurons differentiated from iPSC cells (SFig.2) and neuroectodermal cell lines (Figs. 1E-F). Moreover, reduced NSF content in neuroectodermal cells carrying BLOC-1 null alleles *Bloc1s5^{mu/mu}* or *Bloc1s6^{pa/pa}* (Setty, Tenza et al. 2008), is increased by re-expression of the missing subunit (Fig. 1E-F). NSF transcripts were unaffected

by BLOC-1 subunit mutations (not shown). Furthermore, decreased NSF expression in Bloc1s6 pallidin shRNA-treated cells is not due to reduced VAMP7 levels since exogenous expression of VAMP7 did not rescue the NSF phenotype (SFig.3). These results establish NSF as a BLOC-1 sensitive factor.

We next asked whether changes in NSF and SNARE levels detected in BLOC-1 deficiency reflected molecular associations of BLOC-1 with components of the fusion apparatus. To determine if BLOC-1, SNAREs and NSF might exist in complex together, we analyzed their sedimentation in sucrose gradients. The BLOC-1 complex, detected with Bloc1s8 dysbindin antibodies, mostly cosediments with NSF, with minimal overlap with the SNAREs VAMP7, SNAP25, and SNAP29 (Fig. 2A-B and SFig4. A-C). Endogenous or recombinant forms of these three SNARES co-precipitate with the BLOC-1 complex despite the low cosedimentation of SNAREs and BLOC-1 (SFig.4D(Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013)). Similarly, endogenous NSF associates with BLOC-1 complexes containing FLAGtagged dysbindin (Fig. 2C). FLAG antibodies precipitated the BLOC-1 subunit Bloc1s6 pallidin together with NSF (Fig. 2C, lane 2). This coprecipitation was prevented by addition of an excess of FLAG peptide (Fig. 2C lane 3). Conversely, antibodies against NSF precipitated endogenous NSF together with Bloc1s6 pallidin (Fig. 2D lane 2). Furthermore, an excess of recombinant full length GST-NSF prevented NSF-BLOC-1 copurification (Fig. 2D lane 3).

We conducted an unbiased identification of fusion machinery components associated with NSF-BLOC-1 complexes isolated using anti-NSF antibodies by mass spectrometry (Fig. 2E). In the absence of GST-NSF (Fig. 2E white bars), we found molecules known to interact with BLOC-1, such as subunits of the adaptor complex AP-3 and components of the HOPS complex (Salazar, Zlatic et al. 2009). α -SNAP and low levels of two SNARES, YKT6 and syntaxin 5, were the only component of the fusion apparatus co-precipitating with endogenous NSF. In contrast, the addition of GST-NSF increased the content NSF bound to beads 17fold, which in turn recruited three SNAP isoforms from cell lysates (24-fold increase), and increased the number of SNAREs identified to eleven. Among these were the BLOC-1-sensitive SNAREs SNAP29 and syntaxin 7. The increase in these fusion machinery components bound by GST-NSF occurred even though there was no increase in BLOC-1 binding observed (Fig. 2E). These results and the co-sedimentation profile of SNAREs, NSF, and BLOC-1 indicate that BLOC-1 forms complexes preferentially with either NSF or SNAREs.

The effect of the BLOC-1-NSF interaction on vesicle fusion was next tested in *Drosophila* S2 and HeLa cells. We asked whether BLOC-1 loss-of-function would impair NSF dependent fusion mechanisms. We assessed the effect of BLOC-1 down-regulation on the constitutive secretion of a pulse of GFP released from the endoplasmic reticulum of *Drosophila* S2 and HeLa cells (Gordon, Bond et al. 2010) (SFig. 5). Depletion of *Drosophila* syntaxin 5 using RNAi or treatment with brefeldin A prevented secretion of a pulse of GFP(Gordon, Bond et al. 2010), yet down-regulation of either *Drosophila* or human BLOC-1 subunits dysbindin, muted, or pallidin did not affect constitutive GFP secretion along the exocytic route. Thus, we excluded global effects of BLOC-1 deficiency on NSF-dependent processes.

We next asked whether NSF function is required for dysbindin-dependent phenotypes at the Drosophila neuromuscular junction. This synapse undergoes acute synaptic homeostatic compensation in response to the blockage of postsynaptic glutamatergic receptors with Philanthotoxin-433 (PhTx)(Davis 2013). Homozygotic mutations in BLOC-1 subunits dysbindin and snapin each block Philanthotoxin-induced homeostatic increase in quantal content, while heterozygotic mutations have no effect(Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). However, double heterozygotic mutations in *dysbindin* and *snapin* also reduce homeostatic compensation compared to wild type(Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). This suggested to us that this paradigm would be ideal for testing genetic interactions between dysbindin-BLOC-1 and NSF. Our results show that wild type synapses increase their quantal content by 182 ± 14.8 % following PhTx treatment (Fig. 3I). In contrast, and consistent with previous reports, animals carrying mutations in *dysbindin* (*dysb*¹) did not display homeostatic increase in quantal content (94.9 ± 13.5%, Fig. 3B-C and I). Neuronspecific expression of dysbindin rescued the $dysb_1$ synaptic homeostasis defect (c155-GAL4;UAS-dysbindin;dysb1, Figs. 3D,I). Strikingly, presynaptic expression of dNSF1-FLAG rescued the dysb1 synaptic homeostasis defect (c155-GAL4;UASdNSF1-FLAG, $dysb^{1}$) to the same extent as presynaptic dysbindin rescue (Fig. 3) compare D-E and G). Presynaptic addition of either dysbindin or dNSF1 restored homeostatic quantal content increase to wild type levels, $182.9 \pm 17.5\%$ and 171.3 \pm 10.4%, respectively (Fig. 3I). These results demonstrate that dysbindin and NSF genetically interact in a molecular pathway necessary for synaptic homeostasis at the presynapse.

DISCUSSION

Here, we identified a protein-protein interaction network centered around a schizophrenia susceptibility gene, which encompasses molecules implicated in neurodevelopmental disorders, and tested if these network constituents are necessary for synaptic plasticity. These predictions emerge from the proposed concept that abnormal synaptic homeostasis could be a central phenotype in neurodevelopmental disorders, bridging single gene molecular defects with the observed cognitive and anatomical phenotypes (Wondolowski and Dickman 2013). We tested this hypothesis by focusing on the schizophrenia susceptibility gene *DTNBP1* and its product dysbindin.

We screened for proteins whose cellular content is sensitive to genetic reduction of dysbindin and its closely associated BLOC-1 subunits. Our proteomic search prominently highlights components of the vesicle fusion apparatus: munc18, tomosyn, NSF, and the SNAREs syntaxin 7, syntaxin 17, SNAP23, 25, 29, and VAMP7. Importantly, most of the aforementioned vesicle fusion machinery components have been implicated by genomic and post-mortem studies in several neurodevelopmental disorders, including schizophrenia (Thompson, Sower et al. 1998, Mirnics, Middleton et al. 2000, Saito, Guan et al. 2001, Halim, Weickert et al. 2003, Behan, Byrne et al. 2009, Gil-Pisa, Munarriz-Cuezva et al. 2012), intellectual disability (Hamdan, Piton et al. 2009), and autism spectrum disorder (Matsunami, Hadley et al. 2013, Cukier, Dueker et al. 2014). Our strategy is validated by the identification of proteins previously known to be down-regulated in null alleles of BLOC-1 subunits and/or known to interact with BLOC-1. These proteins include subunits of the BLOC-1 complex (Bloc155 muted and Bloc154 cappuccino) and the SNARE VAMP7 (Li, Zhang et al. 2003, Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010, Ghiani and Dell'angelica 2011, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011, Yang, He et al. 2012). We further authenticated these fusion machinery components as part of a dysbindin-BLOC-1 network by a) co-immunoprecipitation of a fusion machinery component with dysbindin-BLOC-1 subunits, and/or b) down-regulation of a fusion machinery component after genetic or shRNA mediated reduction of dysbindin-BLOC-1 subunits. We centered on NSF since it is the most downstream component of the vesicle fusion machinery. We found that NSF associates with dysbindin and BLOC-1 subunits, and that NSF cellular levels are decreased following shRNA mediated or genomic reduction of BLOC-1 complex members. This phenotype was observed consistently in neuroblastoma and embryonic kidney human cells, neuroectodermal cells, and iPSC-derived human neurons.

The functional consequences of NSF reduction in BLOC-1 loss-of-function become evident only when the synapse is challenged. Constitutive secretion in *Drosophila* or mammalian non-neuronal cells is unaffected, as are spontaneous and evoked neurotransmission at the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction. However, a necessity for NSF in BLOC-1 loss-of-function phenotypes can be localized to a presynaptic homeostatic mechanism, which is engaged when postsynaptic receptors are blocked with philanthotoxin. After a brief incubation with philanthotoxin, the resultant reduction in post-synaptic signal transduction rapidly induces a compensatory increase in guantal content, a response known as presynaptic homeostatic plasticity (Davis 2013, Frank 2014). This adaptive compensatory mechanism is precluded by dysbindin mutations, and can be rescued by presynaptic expression of Dysbindin (Dickman and Davis 2009). However, we were able to rescue this phenotype in the *dysbindin* mutants to the exact same extent through presynaptic expression NSF. These findings demonstrate that NSF function resides downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1 and suggest that dysbindin-NSF-dependent mechanisms are required for a restricted pool of vesicle fusion events. Dysbindin and its interacting BLOC-1 subunits, as well as all of the fusion machinery identified in our studies with the exception of syntaxin 17, reside in synaptic vesicles (Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Takamori, Holt et al. 2006, Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Newell-Litwa, Chintala et al. 2010). Thus a functionally and/or biochemically defined subpopulation of synaptic vesicles may mediate compensatory synaptic homeostatic responses (Muller, Liu et al. 2012, Ramirez, Khvotchev et al. 2012, Bal, Leitz et al. 2013, Morgan, Comstra et al. 2013).

How does the BLOC-1-NSF interaction affect synaptic plasticity mechanisms? We believe a model integrating our findings has to consider three key elements. First, BLOC-1 subunits reside at endosomes as well as on synaptic vesicles in presynaptic terminals in neurons (Di Pietro, Falcon-Perez et al. 2006, Setty, Tenza et al. 2007, Ryder and Faundez 2009, Mullin, Gokhale et al. 2011). Second, BLOC-1 binds monomeric SNAREs rather than tetrahelical SNARE bundles in vitro (Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2009). Finally, NSF and SNAREs independently

bind to dysbindin-BLOC-1. Thus, we propose a scenario where BLOC-1 bound to a single SNARE, perhaps for SNARE sorting into vesicles, is resolved by NSF, making SNAREs permissive for vesicle fusion. Therefore, when NSF levels are reduced, such as in dysbindin or BLOC-1 mutants, SNARE-dependent mechanisms might be adversely affected (SFig.6). Resultant defects in synaptic plasticity mediated by the fusion apparatus downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1 complexes ultimately contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental disorders such as schizophrenia. Changes in the cellular proteome due to mutations in a schizophrenia susceptibility gene guided us to identify phenotypes connecting the pre- and post-synaptic cells. We propose this strategy is a simple yet rigorous approach to unravel mechanisms of complex neurodevelopmental disorders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture

SH-SY5Y (ATCC) cells were cultured in DMEM media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 g/ml penicillin and streptomycin (Hyclone) at 37°C in 10% CO2. SH-SY5Y cell line carrying 3x-FLAG Dysbindin (catalog #EX-Mm12550-M12) was previously described(Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012). MNT-1 cells were a generous gift of Dr. Vincent Hearing (Kushimoto, Basrur et al. 2001). Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 20% AIM-V medium (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), 10% FBS (heat inactivated at 65°C for 60 min), and 100 μ g/ml penicillin/streptomycin at 37°C and 5% CO2. *Bloc1s5^{mu/mu}*, *Bloc1s6^{pa/pa}*, and rescued melanocytes were a gift of Dr. Michael Marks (Setty, Tenza et al. 2007).

AE-iPSCs cells were obtained and cultured on human ESC-qualified Matrigel (BD Biosciences) with mTeSR-1 medium (STEMCELL Technologies) as described (Easley, Miki et al. 2012). The AE-iPSC cells were grown for a minimum of 5 days before being infected by the control and pallidin lentiviral particles for 7d in selection media as described above. After the 7d treatment the iPSCs were lifted and placed in a neural stem cell medium (DMEM F-12 +N2 supplement) containing high concentrations of EGF and FGF-2 (100ng/ml; Peprotech) and heparin (5ug/ml; Sigma) to produce cell aggregates termed EZ-spheres (Ebert, Shelley et al. 2013). To induce neuronal differentiation EZ spheres were removed from the N2/EGF/FGF/Heparin media and differentiated as follows: EZ spheres were cultured on poly-d-lysine/laminin-coated, acid etched glass coverslips for immunofluorescence or 10 cm culture dishes for biochemical analyses in Neural Differentiation Medium containing Neurobasal, B27, Glutamax (all from Life Technologies), with 20 ng/ml GDNF (glial-derived neurotrophic factor, Peprotech) and 10 ng/ml BDNF (brain-derived neurotrophic factor, Peprotech). Medium changes on differentiating cells occurred weekly. Neuronal differentiation was confirmed by immunofluorescence microscopy using MAP2 and beta-III-tubulin as neuronal markers.

For shRNA-mediated Bloc155 muted and Bloc156 pallidin knockdowns, shRNA in a pLKO.1 vector for lentiviral infection was obtained from Open Biosystems (Pallidin - Clone ID: TRCN0000122781; Muted – Clone ID: TRCN0000128812). Control shRNA in pLKO.1 was obtained from Addgene (vector 1864). For shRNAmediated dysbindin knockdowns, shRNA in a psiHIV-U6 vector for lentiviral infection was obtained from Genecopoeia (Dysbindin – Catalog number: HSH020444-1HIVU6). Control shRNA in a psiHIV-U6 vector was also obtained from Genecopoeia (Control catalog number – CSCHCTR001-HIVU6). SH-SY5Y cells were treated with lentiviral particles for 7 d to obtain efficient knockdown. After day 3 of lentiviral infection, cells were maintained DMEM media supplemented with 10% FBS and selected with puromycin (2ug/ml; Invitrogen) which was maintained afterwards.

cDNAS encoding EGFP-SNAP23 and SNAP525 were a gift of Dr. Gulia Baldini (Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. College of Medicine at the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences). cDNA encoding EGFP-SNAP29 was a gift from Dr. Zu-hang Sheng (NINDS, Bethesda, MA). NSF-GFP cDNA was a gift from Dr. Phyllis Hanson (Dept. of Cell Biology and Physiology, Washington University School of Medicine, St Lois, MS). Dr. Thierry Galli provided the VAMP7-RFP cDNA (Inst. Jacques Monod, Paris, France).

SILAC labeling and mass spectrometry analysis

SH-SY5Y cells were labeled using the protocol described (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013). Briefly, cells were grown in DMEM media with either "light" unlabeled arginine and lysine amino acids (RoKo) or "heavy" 13C- and 15N-labeled arginine and 13C- and 15N-labeled lysine amino acids (R10K8) supplemented with 10% FBS and 100g/ml penicillin and streptomycin, and in some cases 0.2ug/l neomycin. Cells were grown for a minimum of seven passages ensuring maximum incorporation (97.5%) of the amino acids in the cellular proteins. All reagents for SILAC labeling were obtained from Dundee Cell Products. Cell lysates were prepared as described below and analyzed by mass spectrometry as described (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013) using the services of MS Bioworks (http://www.msbioworks.com/). Briefly, SILAC labeled samples were separated on a 4–12% Bis-Tris Novex minigel (Invitrogen) using the MOPS buffer system. The gel was stained with Coomassie and the lane was excised into 20 equal segments using a grid. Gel pieces were processed using a robot (ProGest, DigiLab) with the following protocol. First, slices were washed with 25 mM ammonium bicarbonate followed by acetonitrile; then they were reduced with 10mM dithiothreitol at 60°C followed by alkylation with 50 mM iodoacetamide at room temperature (RT). Samples were digested with trypsin at 37°C for 4 h and guenched with formic acid, and the supernatant was analyzed directly without further processing. Each gel digest was analyzed by nano liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) with a Waters NanoAcquity HPLC system interfaced to a ThermoFisher LTQ Orbitrap Velos. Peptides were loaded on a trapping column and eluted over a 75 _m analytical column at 350nl/min; both columns were packed with Jupiter Proteo resin (Phenomenex). The mass spectrometer was operated in data-dependent mode, with MS performed in the Orbitrap at 60,000 FWHM resolution and MS/MS performed in the LTQ. The 15 most abundant ions were selected for MS/MS. Data were processed through the MaxQuant software v1.0.13.13 (www.maxquant.org), which served data recalibration of MS, filtering of database search results at the 1% protein and peptide false discovery rate, and calculation of SILAC heavy:light ratios. Data were searched using a local copy of Mascot.

Immunoprecipitation

To confirm interactions between BLOC-1 subunits and NSF, we performed crosslinking in intact cells with dithiobis (succinimidylpropionate) (DSP) followed by immunoprecipitation as previously described(Zlatic, Ryder et al. 2010, Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012, Ryder, Vistein et al. 2013). Briefly, untransfected SH-SY5Y cells or SH-SY5Y cells stably transfected with FLAG-dysbindin were placed on ice, rinsed twice with PBS, and incubated either with 10 mM DSP (Pierce), or as a vehicle control DMSO, diluted in PBS for 2 h on ice. Tris, pH 7.4, was added to the cells for 15 min to quench the DSP reaction. The cells were then rinsed twice with PBS and lysed in buffer A (150 mM NaCl, 10mM

HEPES, 1mM EGTA, and 0.1mM MgCl2, pH 7.4) with 0.5% Triton X-100 and Complete anti-protease (catalog #11245200, Roche), followed by incubation for 30 min on ice. Cells were scraped from the dish, and cell homogenates were centrifuged at 16,100 g for 10 min. The clarified supernatant was recovered, and at least 500 µg of protein extract was applied to 30 µl Dyna magnetic beads (catalog #110.31, Invitrogen) coated with antibody, and incubated for 2 h at 4°C. In some cases, immunoprecipitations were done in the presence of the antigenic 3x-FLAG peptide (340 µM; F4799, Sigma) or antigenic GST-NSF (66 nM; H00004905-P01, Novus Biologicals) as a control. The beads were then washed 4–6 times with buffer A with 0.1% Triton X-100. Proteins were eluted from the beads with sample. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE and contents analyzed by immunoblot.

Sucrose density sedimentation

Control or BLOC-1 knockdown SH-SY5Y cells were rinsed twice with PBS and lysed in buffer A with 0.5% Triton X-100 supplemented with Complete antiprotease, followed by incubation for 30 min on ice. Cells were scraped from the dish, and cell homogenates were centrifuged at 16,100 g for 10 min. The clarified supernatant was recovered and measured for total protein content. Samples were then analyzed by immunoblot or cell lysates were resolved by sucrose sedimentation in 5–30% sucrose gradients as previously described (Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012).

Immunofluorescence

Glass coverslips were coated with poly-D-lysine. The next day, coverslips were washed two times with cell culture water and air dried. The coverslips were then coated with laminin diluted in HBSS and placed in a 37°C tissue culture incubator for 2h. The coverslips were washed twice with cell culture water, air dried and the cells (EZ-spheres resuspended in conditioned media) were seeded onto the coverslips. The EZ spheres were grown on the coverslips for 2 weeks. At the end of the 2 weeks the cells are fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 min at room temperature. After fixation, all coverslips were washed two times in PBS and then blocked and permeabilized for 30 min at room temperature in a solution of 5%BSA, 0.1% triton -x-100 in PBS. Primary antibodies (Supplemental Table 1) were diluted in blocking solution and applied overnight at 4°C. After primary antibody incubation, coverslips were washed three times in a solution containing 0.1%triton-x100 in PBS. Coverslips were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies (Alexa mouse 488, Alexa rabbit 568) diluted in blocking solution. Coverslips were washed two times in blocking solution, one time in PBS, and one time in ultrapure water and then mounted on glass slides in ProLong antifade mounting medium. Coverslips were imaged by confocal microscopy as described (Zlatic, Grossniklaus et al. 2013).

S2 Drosophila and HeLa cell secretion assay

We used S2 or HeLa cells stably expressing a secretory reporter carrying a mutant FKBP protein (F36M) EGFP. Secretion was induced by AP21998 to

resolve EGFP protein aggregates in a synchronous pulse of reporter secretion. Secretion was estimated from the amount of EGFP fluorescence remaining in cells after siRNA downregulation using flow cytometry or in 96-well fluorescence plate reader (Synergy HT, Biotek). S2 cells were incubated with 20 µg of double stranded RNA (http://genomernai.dkfz.de/GenomeRNAi/) targeting syntaxin 5 as a positive control to inhibit constitutive secretion, *misfire* as a negative control (reagents DRSC10543 and AMB34062), and the *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunits *dysbindin* (reagents DRSC10730 and DRSC35459) and *muted* (reagents DRSC36270 and DRSC36270). S2 cells were maintained for four days in the presence of double stranded RNA. Secretion pulse lasted 80 minutes. Detailed procedures were already described (Gordon, Bond et al. 2010).

Drosophila stocks, rearing, genetics, and biochemical procedures.

All fly stocks were raised throughout life at 25°C and maintained on normal food. Appropriate second and third chromosome balancers were used for all crosses. $dysb^1$ and UAS-Dysb were from Graeme Davis (UCSF) and UAS-NSF::FLAG was from Richard Ordway (Penn State University). w^{1118} , Elav-GAL4^{C155} and other fly strains such as balancer chromosome containing stocks are part of the Sanyal laboratory collection. Antibodies to dNSF1 and alpha-SNAP were a gift from Leo Pallanck (University of Washington, Seattle).

Intracellular recordings from muscle 6 of abdominal segment 2 or 3 of female, wandering third instar larvae were carried out in modified HL3 saline (in mM: NaCl 70, KCl 5, CaCl₂ 0.3, MgCl₂ 10, NaHCO₃ 10, Sucrose 115, Trehalose 5, BES [2 2-[bis(2-hydroxyethyl)amino]ethanesulfonic acid pH 7.2] 5). For all physiological recordings, severed motor neurons were taken up into a stimulating electrode and stimulated at 1Hz for 50 s. Only those recordings where the resting membrane potential was between -60mV and -90mV and the muscle input resistance was $>_5M\Omega$ were used. For acute pharmacological homeostatic challenge, semi-intact preparations were maintained with the CNS, fat bodies, and gut intact and perfused with Phillanthatoxin-433 (PhTx; Sigma), as previously described (Dickman and Davis 2009, Dickman, Tong et al. 2012). PhTx was prepared as a stock solution (4mM in DMSO) and diluted in modified HL3 to 4µM. After 10 minutes in PhTx, preparations were rinsed in modified HL3 and dissections were completed. Only recordings where the observed mEJP amplitude following PhTx incubation was less than or equal to 60% of baseline were used, indicating that the PhTx had gained access to the muscle. Microelectrodes were prepared on a magnetic glass microelectrode horizontal puller (PN-30 Narishige) to $30-70M\Omega$ resistance and filled with 3M KCl. Signals were amplified using Axoclamp 900A, digitized using Digidata 1440A, and recorded in Clampfit 10.1. Signals were analyzed in MiniAnalysis (Synaptosoft Inc.) and Microsoft Excel. Quantal content was calculated by dividing the average EJP by the average mEJP. Correction for nonlinear summation was applied. Quantal content for each recording was calculated and then averaged across all animals for the given genotype.

Fly heads were prepared as described (van de Goor, Ramaswami et al. 1995) Briefly, approximately 100 flies per genotype were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and decapitated. Frozen heads were collected by passing the tissue through a
microsieve in liquid nitrogen. The tissue was then ground into a powder in a mortar and pestle. The powder was combined with 100 μl lysis buffer (Buffer A (150 mM NaCl, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, and 0.1 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4)+ 0.5% TritonX-100 with Complete anti-protease (catalog#11245200, Roche), also frozen and ground into a powder and stored at -80°C. After thawing samples were sonicated, tissue debris removed by centrifugation and protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (BioRad, Villerica, CA). Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE on a 4-20% gel (Invitrogen) and immunoblot analysis was performed as previously described(Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012). dNSF1 and dSNAP antibodies were gifts from Dr. Leo Pallanck(Babcock, Macleod et al. 2004).

Statistical analysis

Experimental conditions were compared using Synergy Kaleida-Graph, version 4.1.3 (Reading, PA), or StatPlus Mac Built5.6.0pre/Universal (AnalystSoft, Vancouver, Canada).

Antibodies used

Antibody	Catalog Number	Source	Dilutions	
			IB	IF
Polyclonal Anti Muted	-	Dell 'Angelica laboratory	1:1000	-
Polyclonal Anti Pallidin	10891-AP	Proteintech Group	1:1000	-
Monoclonal Anti Pallidin (2G6)	-	Dell 'Angelica laboratory	1:500	-
Polyclonal Anti Dysbindin	HPA029616	Sigma	1:125	-
Polyclonal Anti NSF (D31C7)	3924	Cell Signaling	1:1000	-
Monoclonal Anti Actin (AC-15)	A5451	Sigma	1:1000	-
Polyclonal Anti GFP	132002	Synaptic Systems	1:2000	-
Monoclonal Anti FLAG (M2)	F3165	Sigma	1:1000	-
Polyclonal Anti FLAG	A190-102A	Bethyl	1:1000	-
Polyclonal Anti SNAP29	111 303	Synaptic Systems	1:1000	-
SNAP 25		Synaptic Systems		-
Monoclonal VAMP7		A. Peden		-
Monoclonal Anti TrFr (H84)	12-6800	Zymed	1:1000	-
Monoclonal Anti	611296	BD Biosciences	1:500	-

Tomosyn				
Monoclonal Anti Munc18	610336	BD Biosciences	1:2000	-
Polyclonal Anti Syntaxin 7	-	A. Peden	1:1000	-
Monoclonal MAP2	M1406	Sigma	-	1:1000
Polyclonal B3 Tubulin	5568	Cell signaling technologies	-	1:200



Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency. A) Plots depict fusion machinery components whose content was modified by targeting the BLOC-1 subunits Bloc1s6 pallidin or Bloc1s5 muted. X axis depicts SILAC fold of change; Y axes indicate spectral counts and p value of the change. B) Interactome map of proteins modified after BLOC-1 down regulation. Pink and green lines depict predicted protein-protein and genetic interactions, respectively, as per Genemania. BLOC-1 complex subunits are in blue, NSF in red, BLOC-1 sensitive proteins in black, and proteins not identified here but predicted to be part of the interactome in gray. C) Down regulation of BLOC-1 subunits decreases NSF content in neuroblastoma cells. D) Quantification of data in C. E) We used two neuroectodermal-derived cells, MNT1 melanoma cells and immortalized melanocytes from BLOC-1 null mice. Loss of BLOC-1 reduced the content of NSF in both cells. Controls were the mutant melanocytes rescued by expression of the missing BLOC-1 gene (lane 1). F presents quantification of E. D and F all p values < 0.05.



Figure 2. BLOC-1 interacts with NSF or SNARES. A) Sucrose sedimentation of detergent-soluble cross-linked complexes from neuroblastoma cells. BLOC-1 was detected with antibodies against dysbindin. SNARE sedimentation was determined with VAMP7 antibodies. B) Relative distribution plot of data in A. C) DSP treated neuroblastoma cells expressing FLAG-dysbindin immunoprecipitate NSF with FLAG antibodies (lane 2). D) NSF antibodies immunoprecipitate Bloc1s6 pallidin (lane 2). Short and long exposures are presented. C and D lanes 3 are controls with an excess of antigen FLAG peptide or GST-NSF. E) Mass spectrometry analysis of replicate experiment as in D. White and blue bars depict lanes 2 and 3, respectively.



Figure 3. NSF presynaptically rescues dysbindin synaptic homeostasis defect. Representative EJP and mEJP traces without Philanthotoxin-433 (PhTx, black) and following PhTx incubation (blue). Representative mEJP traces are only shown for wild type w1118 animals. A) Wild type flies display homeostatic compensation, B-C) Mutations in *dysbindin* (*dysb*¹) block homeostatic compensation. D-E) dysb1 rescued by neuronal-specific expression of dysbindin (c155-GAL4; UAS-dysbindin; dysb1) or dNSF1 (c155-GAL4;; Uas-dNSF1-FLAG, dusb¹). F) Uas-dNSF1 construct is insufficient to rescue synaptic homeostasis defect without c155-GAL4 driver. G) Overlay of EJP traces after PhTx presented in C-E. H) No differences across genotypes in average mEJP amplitude after PhTx. I) Presynaptic expression of dysbindin or dNSF1 display PhTx-induced homeostatic increases in guantal content equal to that of wild type. Dots represent individual animals; n>6 for all genotypes and all conditions. ANOVA-Bonferroni test. J) immunoblot demonstrating the expression of the Uas-NSF1 transgene in animals with or without the *dysb*¹ mutation. dSNAP was used as a loading control.



Supplementary Figure 1. Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency. Down regulation of either BLOC-1 subunit Bloc1s6, pallidin, or Bloc1s5, muted, decreases the content of other fusion apparatus components: tomosyn, munc18, syntaxin 7 (Stx7), VAMP7 in neuroblastoma cells. C) Quantification of data in A-B. All p values < 0.05 unless otherwise indicated are not significant (NS), Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney Rank Sum Test. Dots represent independent biological replicates.



Supplementary Figure 2. Down-regulation of Bloc1s6 Pallidin in iPSCderived Human Neurons. Human iPSC cells carrying shRNAs control or targeting Bloc1s6 pallidin were differentiated into neuronal cells for 14 days in vitro. Cells differentiation was assessed by confocal microscopy with antibodies against the neuronal markers MAP2 and beta III-tubulin (A-B). Cellular content of NSF was determined by immunoblot (C). Loading controls were performed in parallel samples resolved by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie. Graph in D depicts NSF quantifications in four independent experiments.



Supplementary Figure 3. NSF and VAMP7 down-regulation phenotypes are independent of each other. Neuroblastoma cells (A, lanes 1-2), cells stably either expressing NSF-GFP (A, lanes 3-4), or expressing VAMP7-RFP (A, lanes 5-6) were treated with shRNA control (odd lanes) or against Bloc1s6 pallidin (even lanes) for seven days. Cell lysates were analyzed by immunoblot with antibodies against the indicated antigens. B) Box plot depicts quantification of at five to nine determinations as a ratio of antigen content between Bloc1s6 down-regulated cells and control shRNA-treated cells. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's all pair comparisons. Significant results compare a specified antigen to actin. Non-significant results compare antigen expression either in the absence or presence of recombinant NSF or VAMP7. Neither exogenous expression of NSF nor VAMP7 rescues the NSF and VAMP7 down-regulation phenotypes induced by down-regulation of the BLOC-1 complex.



Supplementary Figure 4. Interaction of the BLOC-1 complex with SNAP23, 25 and 29. A-B) Relative distribution plots of BLOS-1 complex, SNAREs and NSF. Sucrose sedimentation of detergent soluble cross-linked complexes from neuroblastoma cells. BLOC-1 was detected with antibodies against dysbindin. SNARE sedimentation was determined with SNAP25 and SNAP29 antibodies. C) Immunoprecipitations of BLOC-1 complexes from FLAGdysbindin expressing neuroblastoma cells. Recombinant BLOC-1 complexes resolved by sucrose sedimentation were immunoprecipitated with FLAG antibodies and immune complexes analyzed for the presence of endogenous SNAP25 and SNAP29. D) FLAG-dysbindin expressing neuroblastoma cells were transiently transfected with EGFP tagged version of SNAP23, 25 and 29. Cells were treated with DSP and BLOC-1 complexes precipitated with FLAG antibodies in the absence (lanes 5-9) or presence (lanes 10-13) of an excess FLAG peptide as antigenic competition. Immune complexes were resolved by SDS-PAGE and their composition was analyzed with antibodies against FLAG to detect recombinant Bloc1s8 dysbindin, Bloc1s6 pallidin, EGFP, and transferrin receptor (TrfR) as a control for non-specific membrane protein binding to beads.



Supplementary Figure 5. A pulse of a constitutive secretion cargo is not impaired by BLOC-1 deficiency. A) S2 *Drosophila* cells expressing a signal peptide EGFP-FKBP chimera retained in the endoplasmic reticulum were treated with mock transfection, one or two siRNA duplexes against syntaxin 5 (positive control), *misfire* (negative control), and the *Drosophila* BLOC-1 subunits *dysbindin* and *muted*. EGFP secretion was induced by disaggregation of chimeras by incubation with AP21998 and the amount of EGFP retained in cells after 80minutes of secretion was measured by flow cytometry. B) HeLa cells were treated with shRNA control or against Bloc1s6 pallidin for seven days. EGFP secretion was induced by incubation with AP21998. We measured EGFP retained in cells after 80 minutes of secretion by fluorescence plate reader in 96-well plates. Cells were incubated with brefeldin A 10 μ g/ml as control to inhibit secretion. Data are depicted as box plots and compared by One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's all pair comparisons (n=16 from two biological replicates).



Supplementary Figure 6. Model of BLOC-1-SNARE-NSF interactions.

Step A, depicts a vesicle budding from either a donor plasma membrane or endosome in presynaptic terminals. Dysbindin-BLOC-1 complexes bind a single v-R-SNARE (blue lines) or t-Q-SNARE (red lines, binding to BLOC-1 not shown), possibly for SNARE sorting. In step B, the SNARE-BLOC-1 complex is resolved by NSF, releasing unbound BLOC-1 and fusion-competent v-R-SNARE. Step C represents a SNARE-dependent vesicle fusion event followed by resolution of a SNARE tetrahelical bundle by NSF in step D. **CHAPTER IV**

DISCUSSION

Ariana Paone Mullin

Department of Cell Biology and Program in Neuroscience Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322

Overview

The goal of this dissertation research was to address the question of whether genetic disruptions affecting a network of closely interacting proteins, such as in a protein complex, congruently alter synaptic functions regulated by components of that network. This principle arises from the pathologies and phenotypes observed in chromosomal deletion syndromes, many of which give rise to neurodevelopmental disorders, including schizophrenia. For my dissertation research, I focused on the Biogenesis of Lysosome-Related Organelles Complex-1 (BLOC-1). Polymorphisms in the gene *DTNBP1* encoding the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin (Bloc1s6) associate with changes in brain activation patterns (Fallgatter, Herrmann et al. 2006, Donohoe, Morris et al. 2008, Markov, Krug et al. 2009, Narr, Szeszko et al. 2009, Mechelli, Viding et al. 2010, Wolf, Jackson et al. 2011), are considered schizophrenia susceptibility risk factors (Ioannidis, Boffetta et al. 2008). Additionally, post-mortem analyses of brains of schizophrenia patients reveal a loss of dysbindin in the hippocampal formation (Talbot, Eidem et al. 2004). I use this protein complex to test my central hypothesis that:

BLOC-1 binding partners identified in a biochemically curated interactome converge in a defined functional pathway to regulate synaptic function.

This prediction stems from the observations that BLOC-1 regulates the delivery of specific cargo, such as Pi4KIIa and VAMP7, to the nerve terminal (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009, Larimore, Tornieri et al. 2011) and that synaptic function is

altered in dysbindin null animals (Dickman and Davis 2009, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). Additionally, changes in dysbindin expression regulate neurotransmitter release in mice (Chen, Feng et al. 2008), as well as deficits in NMDA receptor surface expression and signaling (Tang, Yang et al. 2009)·(Karlsgodt, Robleto et al. 2011)·(Jeans, Malins et al. 2011). Together, this evidence supports a greater role in BLOC-1 regulation of synaptic activity. In this work, I explore the following question in addressing my central hypothesis:

How do genetic modifications affecting a defined protein interaction network, in this case defined by dysbindincontaining BLOC-1, regulate properties of synaptic vesicle release and plasticity which lead to complex behaviors?

To test my central hypothesis and answer this question, I use a biochemically curated interactome centered around the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin to guide my investigation. This interactome identified the remaining BLOC-1 subunits as sensitive to dysbindin perturbation. I use the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction as a model synapse for testing the role of these interactions on regulation of multiple synaptic functions. Additionally, I employ the *Drosophila* olfactory system to test the ability of these interactions to regulate a circuit-based learning behavior (short-term olfactory habituation). This approach led to the following findings concerning the interaction between BLOC-1 subunits, described in Chapter II:

1) Orthologous BLOC-1 subunits in *Drosophila melanogaster* coprecipitate with the BLOC-1 subunit dysbindin. The identification of all eight BLOC-1 orthologues by mass spectrometry analysis confirms the assembly and presence of an orthologous octameric BLOC-1 complex in *Drosophila* neurons.

- 2) BLOC-1 acts presynaptically to regulate quantal content and morphology at the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction. Loss of Blos1 is a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype, which can be suppressed in the absence of dysbindin.
- 3) Dysbindin and Blos1 are necessary for the function of multiple synaptic vesicle pools. Unlike quantal content and NMJ morphology, function of synaptic vesicle pools behaves in a recessive, partial loss-of-function manner.
- 4) Dysbindin and Blos1 are required for olfactory short-term habituation in *Drosophila*. In contrast to the above traits, STH follows a strict recessive inheritance pattern.

Additionally, the dysbindin-centric interactome identified synaptic vesicle fusion machinery as BLOC-1 sensitive factors, the interactions of which I tested and drew the following conclusions towards in Chapter III:

- Fusion apparatus content is altered in BLOC-1 deficiency. SILAC analysis following downregulation of BLOC-1 subunits in SH-Sy5Y cells revealed concurrent downregulation of synaptic vesicle fusion machinery, including NSF.
- 2) BLOC-1 interacts with NSF or SNAREs, but not simultaneously.Biochemical analysis confirmed BLOC-1 interaction with both NSF and

SNARES. However, mass spectrometry analysis revealed that NSF bound either SNAREs or BLOC-1 in cells in culture.

3) NSF acts downstream of dysbindin to presynaptically rescue the dysbindin synaptic homeostasis defect.

These findings support three novel hypotheses, which I will discuss in turn below. First, phenotypes arising from loss-of-function mutations to members of the BLOC-1 complex are governed by the dosage balance hypothesis. This hypothesis was first formulated following observations that changes in chromosome number had much more dramatic effects on organismal phenotypes than did wholegenome changes (Blakeslee, Belling et al. 1920, Birchler and Veitia 2007). In the earliest studies of the dosage balance hypothesis, it was readily established that sex determination is tightly regulated by the ratio between the two sex chromosomes, in plants as well as animals (Dellaporta and Calderon-Urrea 1993, Birchler and Veitia 2007). Until recently, interpretations of the dosage balance hypothesis have largely postulated that phenotypes arise from a misregulation of the ratio of *regulatory* genes in cases of aneuploidy (Birchler, Bhadra et al. 2001, Birchler, Riddle et al. 2005, Birchler and Veitia 2007, Veitia, Bottani et al. 2008). This was well supported by the identification of modifiers of the *white* eye color gene in Drosophila, which fell into one of two major categories based on molecular basis: signal transduction, or transcription/chromatin binding factors (Birchler and Veitia 2007, Veitia, Bottani et al. 2008). While factors which form transcriptional regulatory complexes are indeed overrepresented in cases of haploinsufficiencies, the dosage balance hypothesis has since been predicted to

govern the activity of other protein-protein complexes as well (Birchler and Veitia 2007). Importantly, however, this work is the first to observe the dosage balance hypothesis in the membrane-trafficking field, which traditionally predicts that loss-of-function to subunits within a complex would have identical phenotypes. In fact, the ability for loss-of-function mutations to subunits within a complex to phenocopy each other is often noted as a defining characteristic of what constitutes a subunit of a complex. Thus, this study highlights an outdated conception of the interactions of the subunits of a protein complex within the membrane-trafficking field to which BLOC-1 belongs. Further, the novelty of my findings lie not in the observation of the dosage dependent effect, as this is an established genetic phenomenon, but rather in the observation of this effect with specific regards to BLOC-1, the regulation of synaptic transmission, and the significance of these interactions in understanding complex neuropsychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders.

The dosage balance hypothesis predicts that there is a relationship between the number of interactions that a component has, and the degree of variation that occurs when that component is either under- or over-expressed. In fact, an inverse relationship between the degree of connectivity of a gene or its encoded protein within a network and the genetic variation associated to that locus has been well-described using quantitative genetics in yeast, where the higher the connectivity of a component within a network, the lesser the extent of variation associated with gene expression (Lemos, Meiklejohn et al. 2004). The high conservation of genes within tightly connected networks suggests that variation

of these genes would have a greater impact on the organism than variation of less connected, peripheral network components (Lemos, Meiklejohn et al. 2004, Veitia, Bottani et al. 2008). Additionally, the dosage balance hypothesis predicts that loss-of-function mutations in two or more genetic loci encoding polypeptides belonging to the same protein interaction network do not follow a simple genetics pattern of phenocopying each other or confering additive functional consequences; rather, phenotypes are governed by differential sensitivities to interactive and stoichiometric genetic dosages of complex constituents (Birchler and Veitia 2007). Second, genotype-to-phenotype correlations observed in a trait following a gene pair analysis can better, although not precisely, predict how other traits may respond. Finally, polypeptides that are associated with a disease, form a biochemical network, and are all sensitive to genetic perturbation of a common network constituent, converge in a defined functional pathway where endophenotypes can be assessed.

In the following sections, I will first briefly summarize the findings that led to these hypotheses. I will then discuss each of these hypotheses in detail and use them to explore the implications for our understanding of BLOC-1 in synaptic functions, as well as expand the implications for these findings with respect to the larger context of complex genetic disorders, such as copy number variations associated to human neurodevelopmental diseases. In doing so, I will briefly discuss future directions for this work as well as provide an outlook on how *Drosophila* can provide a viable model system for understanding complex neurological disorders.

Summary of Results

In this research, I used the Drosophila NMJ to test synaptic properties regulated by loss-of-function alleles affecting the BLOC-1 subunits dysbindin and blos1, in isolation or in combination. Loss-of-function alleles affecting Blos1 alone were dominant, gain-of-function mutations resulting in increased mEJP amplitudes and elaborated synaptic morphology. Blos1 mutation gain-of-function dominant phenotypes, however, were suppressed by single copy loss of dysbindin. From these findings, I concluded that gene dosage reductions in two or more genetic loci encoding polypeptides belonging to the same membrane-trafficking protein interaction network follow the dosage dependent hypothesis rather than confer an additional or equal loss of function phenotype. Additionally, when the Blos1 loss-of-function allele was expressed in trans with the dysbindin loss-of-function allele, acute philanthotoxin-induced synaptic homeostasis was impaired to the same extent as in double copy loss of dysbindin. Animals carrying the transheterozygotic mutations to *blos1* and *dysbindin* also had defects in the synaptic vesicle reserve pool, as observed by rapid signal depletion during high frequency stimulation in the presence of bafilomycin A1. This phenotype was also observed in blos1 null animals, but not in dysb1 animals. However, when combinations of these alleles were tested in a behavioral paradigm, olfactory short-term habituation, double copy loss of both blos1 and dysb animals demonstrated impaired phenotypes. Additionally, the transheterozygotic animals were also impaired in STH, but single copy loss of either *blos1* or *dysbindin* had no effect. Thus, hierarchical clustering analysis demonstrated that the genetic

patterns underlying these three phenotypes clustered together better than any of these grouped with either the quantal content analysis or the assessment of synaptic morphology. Taken together, these findings support the conclusion that genotype-to-phenotype correlations observed in a trait following a gene pair analysis such as the transheterozygotic condition, better, although not precisely, predict how other traits may respond. Finally, I used SILAC labeling to identify cellular factors that are sensitive to BLOC-1 downregulation by shRNA targeted against dysbindin or muted in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. Proteins identified by mass spectrometry analysis included the synaptic vesicle fusion machinery components SNAP25, Syntaxin family members STX1A, STX12, STX4, STX5, STX 3, and NSF. Changes in cellular content of these factors in response to BLOC-1 downregulation were confirmed in independent shRNA experiments in human iPSCs and SH-SY5Y cells in culture, and interactions between SNARE proteins or NSF and BLOC-1 were confirmed by immunoprecipitation. Identification of BLOC-1 sensitive proteins directly involved in synaptic vesicle regulation allowed me to test the hypothesis that these factors converge in a BLOC-1-regulated pathway- namely, that of acute, philanthotoxin-induced synaptic homeostasis. NSF expressed presynaptically in dysb¹ animals rescued their loss of synaptic homeostatic compensation ability, suggesting that NSF resides downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1 to regulate this pathway. This finding supports that polypeptides that form a biochemical network and are all sensitive to genetic perturbation of a common network constituent, converge in a defined functional pathway.

Hypothesis 1: Phenotypes arising from loss-of-function mutations to members of the BLOC-1 complex are governed by the dosage balance hypothesis.

The simplest predictions regarding loss-of-function mutations to components within a protein complex or even within a larger network are that: first, loss-offunction mutations to separate members of the complex would phenocopy each other, or second, that combinations of loss-of-function mutations to multiple components would exacerbate the extent of a phenotype. However, the dosage balance hypothesis postulates that stoichiometry between components rather than the total number of components governs the phenotypic outcome. This first hypothesis predicts just this- that loss-of-function mutations in two or more genetic loci encoding polypeptides belonging to BLOC-1 do not confer equivalent or additional loss of function consequences. Rather, phenotypes are governed by differential sensitivities to genetic dosages of BLOC-1 constituents. This hypothesis further predicts that mutations which affect the different genes encoding protein complex subunits may yield disparate phenotypes as well as mechanisms of inheritance.

In the discussion of Chapter II, I propose that the observed dominant and recessive phenotypes following combinations of BLOC-1 loss of function mutations support this dosage balance hypothesis. The data I present in Chapter II strongly supports the mechanisms of inheritance aspect of this hypothesis, which is best evidenced by the recessive nature of loss-of-function mutations on olfactory short-term habituation compared to the dominant gain of function effect of *Blos1* mutations on quantal content and branching phenotypes. Further, I propose that the observed phenotypes are ultimately a result of remnants of BLOC-1, and I suggest three non-mutually exclusive possibilities:

1) Mutations to different BLOC-1 subunits may result in similar reductions of BLOC-1 content and activity.

2) Divergent phenotypes in response to gene dosage reductions may reflect different functions engaged by distinct BLOC-1 subunits, performed by either monomeric subunits or monomers as part of other protein complexes.

3) Loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 subunits may lead to gainof-function remnants.

I discuss these possibilities in detail in Chapter II, and thus will not further elaborate on them here. However, there is an additional non-mutually exclusive possibility that arises from this hypothesis that I have not yet discussed but warrants contemplation, as it is equally as likely as any of the aforementioned:

4) Loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 subunits may lead to

BLOC-1 partial loss-of-function subcomplexes.

These hypotheses are summarized in Figure 1, along with the phenotypes that may be attributed to each possibility. The gene dosage hypothesis predicts that following loss-of-function mutations to complex subunits, components of the complex remain within the cell. In Hypothesis 3, I suggest that the residual complex elements assemble into gain-of-function remnants. However,

Loss-of-function mutation (1) (i.e. STH) affecting BLOC-1 No Octamer	 (2) Gain-of-function monomers (i.e. mEJP amplitude, branching) → (3) Gain-of-function remnants
<u>\</u>	(i.e. PhTx-homeostasis, RP mobilization)
	(4) Partial Loss-of-function residual subcomplexes

Possible BLOC-1 Remnants Predicted by the Dosage Balance Hypothesis

Figure 1. Possible BLOC-1 Remnants Predicted by the Dosage Balance Hypothesis. Flowchart summarizing the four non-mutually exclusive possibilities of the effects of loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 as derived from the dosage balance hypothesis. Phenoypes studies in Chapter II are displayed between possible remnants from which they may arise.

Hypothesis 4 predicts that the residual elements represent loss-of-function pieces of the complex. This interpretation predicts that the specific functions of BLOC-1 depend not necessarily on the entire octamer, but are carried out by subdomains of the assembled complex. Several lines of evidence support this possibility. First, loss-of-function mutations to members of a protein complex result in downregulation of the remaining subunits. This is certainly the case for BLOC-1, as evidenced by dramatic reductions in dysbindin protein levels in pallid mice brain extracts (Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2010). It is currently believed that the residual expression levels represent unstable monomeric forms of the remaining subunits, but the participation of these remaining subunits outside the traditional complex roles has not yet been studied in detail. Second, two stable, heterotrimeric subcomplexes of BLOC-1 were recently defined in vitro, containing Pallidin-Cappuccino-BLOS1 and Dysbindin-Snapin-BLOS2 (Lee, Nemecek et al. 2012). While no specific function has yet to be attributed to these subcomplexes, the authors speculate that the two subcomplexes could comprise flexible domains within the octamer to allow BLOC-1 to interact with multiple binding partners simultaneously. Finally, while specific interactions between subunits within the complex have been defined (Starcevic and Dell'Angelica 2004, Nazarian, Starcevic et al. 2006), and many binding partners outside of the complex have been identified (Di Pietro, Falcón-Pérez et al. 2006, Nazarian, Starcevic et al. 2006, Salazar, Craige et al. 2006, Ghiani, Starcevic et al. 2009, Rodriguez-Fernandez and Dell'Angelica 2009, Salazar, Zlatic et al. 2009, Larimore, Tornieri et al. 2011, Gokhale, Larimore et al. 2012), it is still unknown how the various subunits differentially engage in these binding events. Unfortunately, the tools in the field, specifically the lack of antibodies against each of the subunits, in mammals and even more so in flies, have limited the extent to which BLOC-1 architecture and specific binding have been able to be studied, such that it is currently unknown which BLOC-1 subunits mediate binding with the various interactors.

Taken together, this suggests the possibility that BLOC-1 itself is segregated into distinct functional domains, which are defined by extra-complex interactions and mediate specific functions. Thus, loss-of-function mutations affecting BLOC-1 may lead to differential downregulation of subdomains containing subcomplexes. The ultimate result in this instance would be deficits in one BLOC-1 mediated function but retention of another, and would be determined by the initial subunit affected. Analysis of BLOC-1-mediated vesicle pool engagement in Chapter II supports this final possibility. Here, we see that dysbindin mutants are defective in philanthotoxin-induced homeostatic response, while blos1 mutants are unaffected. Conversely, blos1 mutants display early vesicle depletion during high frequency stimulation while dysbindin mutants are unaffected. It would follow from this hypothesis that dysbindin-containing subdomains and blos1-containing subdomains mediate different BLOC-1 cellular engagements. However, transheterozygotes possessing single copy loss of each dysbindin and blos1 display deficits in both phenotypes. Thus, it would also follow that the subdomains described must overlap. If this is the case, we would expect there to be a phenotype that is affected by all three conditions and requires synaptic vesicle sorting or recruitment similar to that required by homeostatic compensation or reserve pool engagement. In fact, this is exactly what we observe in the case of olfactory short-term habituation, which hierarchical clustering analysis groups with homeostatic compensation and reserve pool mechanisms.

The loss-of-function of various subdomains may occur due to altered interactions with binding partners at various stages of the synaptic vesicle lifecycle. Thus, BLOC-1 loss of function mutations that specifically disrupt binding between BLOC-1 and a known interactor, such as AP-3, would only perturb cellular functions dependent on this interaction, but not cellular functions that are independent of this interaction (Figure 2). This is evidenced by the bafilomycin assay reported in Chapter II. During low frequency stimulation, synaptic transmission is sustained through recycling of vesicles at the level of the readily releasable pool, with minimal recruitment from the reserve pool of vesicles. BLOC-1 is likely not to be involved in this process, as the mutations studied here had no effect on the rate of vesicle depletion under low frequency stimulation. Lack of involvement of BLOC-1 on this pool of vesicles is further supported in

Chapter III, as constitutive secretion in *Drosophila* S2 cells is unaffected by BLOC-1 downregulation (Supplementary Figure 5). Alternatively, it could be that the remnants that are remaining in these mutations have no effect on this pool of vesicles. However, at high frequency stimulation, transmission is sustained by the engagement of the reserve pool of vesicles. During high frequency stimulation, vesicle recycling to replenish the depleting reserve pool occurs through activitydependent bulk endocytosis. Through this process, deep invaginations of the plasma membrane form, which can then sort vesicles directly via clathrindynamin mediated budding steps (Figure 2, Pathway 1). Alternatively, these plasma membrane invaginations can give rise to endosomal compartments, where cargo can be sorted into synaptic vesicles for vesicle pool replenishment (Figure 2, Pathway 2). The generation of synaptic vesicles from activitydependent bulk endosomes is mediated by AP-3 and AP-1 in parallel pathways, whereby distinct vesicle populations are distinguished by vSNARE-binding specificity. Thus, BLOC-1 loss of function remnants may be interfering with the cell's ability to generate or replenish the reserve pool and maintain synaptic neurotransmission through BLOC-1-AP-3 dependent sorting mechanisms at activity-dependent bulk endosomes (Figure 2). The engagement of the reserve pool of vesicles during high frequency stimulation, however, is inherently different from presynaptic compensation mechanisms that are required during acute synaptic homeostasis. This is evident by the divergent genotype-tophenotype correlations observed in these studies. Blockade of the postsynaptic receptors is thought to trigger the release of a retrograde signal that leads to acute synaptic homeostatic compensation through two mechanisms: 1) an increase in

releasable vesicle pool size, and 2) an increased rate of vesicle turnover 16129401. This process does not require the replenishment of the reserve pool of vesicles ; thus it is not dependent on the BLOC-1-AP-3 interaction.



Figure 2. Cellular processes within the presynaptic compartment involving BLOC-1 are potentially governed by distinct BLOC-1 molecular interactions. Blue region represents BLOC-1 mediated pathway that is sensitive to residual BLOC-1 following dysbindin loss of function; purple region represents BLOC-1 mediated pathway that is sensitive to residual BLOC-1 follow blos1 loss of function. Activity-dependent bulk endocytosis following high frequency stimulation gives rise to two vesicle budding pathways. Pathway 1 involves direct clathrin-dynamin vesicle budding from the plasma-membrane connected invaginations. In pathway 2, these invaginations give rise to activity dependent bulk endosomes which in turn bud synaptic vesicles via AP-1 (not shown) or AP-3 dependent sorting mechanisms.

Rather, separate dysbindin-BLOC-1 interactions may be responsible for facilitating the increase in quantal content during homeostatic compensation through three processes related to the aforementioned mechanisms. As suggested by the data in Chapter III, NSF may have a role in the vesicle cycle that is downstream of the role of BLOC-1, such that the cell can compensate for the absence of BLOC-1 with the addition of NSF but NSF does not replace a function of BLOC-1. BLOC-1 may designate a subset of vesicles within the readily releasable pool such that at least two opportunities arise for the interaction of NSF and BLOC-1 to regulate releasable vesicle properties. First, BLOC-1 decorated vesicles in the readily releasable pool may need to shed v-SNAREbound BLOC-1 before vesicle tethering can occur. NSF may resolve BLOC-1-SNARE interactions to render v-SNAREs competent for interactions with tethering factors (Figure 3, Top panel, A. SNAREs not depicted for simplicity). Alternatively, following the resolution of tetrahelical SNARE complexes after fusion events, NSF may hand newly freed, unbound SNAREs over to BLOC-1 for trafficking back to the readily releasable pool (Figure 3, Top panel, B). BLOC-1 may then determine a return route from the plasma membrane in vesicle recycling, targeting rapidly recycling vesicles from the active zone to a readily releasable pool, likely through interactions with SNAREs (Figure 3, Top panel, C). In the absence of BLOC-1, NSF may be available to interact with coat complexes for which it has a lower affinity to similarly prepare v-SNAREs and vesicles for docking, and is thus able to increase the number of released vesicles in this manner (Fig 3, bottom panel, A). Further, vesicles of the readily releasable pool do not get labeled with BLOC-1 (Figure 3, Bottom panel, B). Additionally,

the ability of NSF to rescue the cell's potential for homeostatic compensation in the absence of dysbindin-BLOC-1 supports a need for increased vesicle turnover rates and direct recycling during synaptic homeostasis (Figure 3, Bottom panel, C.).



Figure 3. Potential steps of NSF and BLOC-1 involvement and interaction during fast vesicle cycling at the plasma membrane. *TOP PANEL*: (A): BLOC-1 (purple) decorates a subset of vesicles in the readily releasable pool through interactions with v-SNAREs (not shown for simplicity) and is shed in an NSF-dependent step to make v-SNAREs available for vesicle tethering and fusion. 'Other' coat proteins are depicted in green. (B). NSF resolves tetrahelical SNARE bundles, and acts to 'hand-off' freed SNARE-containing vesicles to BLOC-1. (C). BLOC-1 may target a subset of recycling vesicles to the readily releasable pool. *BOTTOM PANEL*: Addition of NSF compensates for loss of BLOC-1. (A) In the absence of BLOC-1, NSF sheds 'other' coat proteins (green) for which it has lower affinity to increase the number of released vesicles. (B) Loss of BLOC-1 decreases number of BLOC-1 decorated vesicles at the RRP. (C) Increased NSF supports greater ability for vesicle turnover.

Hypothesis 2: Genotype-to-phenotype correlations observed in a trait following a gene pair analysis can better, although not precisely, predict how other traits may respond.

The hierarchical clustering analysis presented in Chapter II highlights both the power and limitations of predicting phenotypes based on a single genotype, as well as in the absence of knowledge of how a particular gene assembles into a protein interaction network. The data behind this analysis demonstrates that the correlations between genotype and phenotype cannot be predicted based on a single allele when the gene in question participates in an interconnected biochemical and genetic pathway. In these cases, using a gene pair analysis provides greater insight into the predicted phenotype, the complexity of the genes involved, and the potentially divergent mechanisms of inheritance than can be drawn from information concerning a single allele.

In Chapter I Section 4, I introduced the advantages of using *Drosophila* as a model system by citing the Fragile X Syndrome success story. One key aspect of these studies is the fact that this syndrome is purely monogenic, and thus there is a perfect genotype-to-phenotype correlation, such that we know that loss of FMR1 *causes* FXS. In the case of schizophrenia, and other polygenic disorders, our approach need not be entirely different. Similar to the work on FXS, I predict that using an endophenotype to study chromosomal deletion syndromes and neurodevelopmental disorders in a model system will prove successful. However, in studying these disorders, it is not sufficient to predict outcomes simply based on the loss of a single gene associated to the disorder. Rather, endophenotypes in

model systems, such as Drosophila, are more successfully predicted when we consider two or more genes involved. While this may seem intuitive, most experimental 'models' of schizophrenia and other polygenic neurodevelopmental disorders are still pushing the analysis of a single gene or a single gene product on neurodevelopmental, synaptic, and behavioral phenotypes. Additionally, more than one endophenotype for a disorder may need to be identified and characterized, as demonstrated by the segregation of the observed phenotypes in Chapter II into two distinct genotype-to-phenotype clusters. Monogenic disorders, such as FXS, provide support for the belief that the better the genotype-to-phenotype correlation, the predictable genetic more or pharmacological manipulations to the system can be. Through my dissertation research, I propose we move away from monogenic analyses as we move forward in understanding these complex genetic diseases, which span a large spectrum of phenotypes and the number of genes involved seems to be continually expanding.

Hypothesis 3: Polypeptides that are associated with a disease, form a biochemical network, and are all sensitive to genetic perturbation of a common network constituent, converge in a defined functional pathway where endophenotypes can be assessed.

In Chapter I Section 1: Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Mechanisms and Boundary Definitions from Genomes, Interactomes, and Proteomes, I introduce the notion that biochemically curated interactomes could be used to guide investigation of complex genetic disorders. I present an argument for putting attention to the degree of phenotypic and genotypic overlap between chromosomal deletions associated with NDDs, highlighting that if we expand our definition of overlapping risk factors to include putative binding partners, the genetic overlap between associated genes jumps from 1 in 700 to an astounding 147 in 700 (Cristino, Williams et al. 2013). If we consider that there are currently nearly 9000 polymorphisms associated to over 1000 genes that we have identified as associated with risk of schizophrenia(Allen, Bagade et al. 2008), the question of where to begin in unraveling the contribution of each of these factors is overwhelming. Thus, the field of schizophrenia genetics necessitates a highthroughput genetic screening method that focuses on the synapse. Here, I present evidence for the effective use of such a method and discuss the possibilities my research presents to the field at large.

Chapter III serves as proof of principle for this argument. I introduce the derived interactome for dysbindin, confirm the observed interactions with fusion machinery biochemically, and test the hypothesis that these factors converge in a functional pathway. The ability of NSF to rescue acute synaptic homeostasis abilities in dysbindin mutants suggests that NSF resides downstream of dysbindin-BLOC-1 in regulating this process, as described above. Further, in Chapter II, I demonstrate that the removal of a single copy of blos1 in the dysb1/+ animal conveys a deficit in homeostatic compensation, while single copy loss of either allele alone bears no significance. Based on these results, I propose that the philanthoxin-induced synaptic homeostasis can serve as one endophenotype for studying schizophrenia genetics in *Drosophila*, and that this assay may be a viable, high-throughput screening method for:

1) Assessing genetic interactions within a complex or interactome that will convey loss-of-function phenotypes, as is the case with dysbindin-blos1, and

2) Identifying steps and factors downstream of the 'guilty' genes that can rescue the endophenotype.

By using a biochemically curated and confirmed interactome to investigate endophenotypes, such as synaptic homeostasis, we will be able to identify combinations of genetic variations that may convey greater risk of disease than others. Additionally, by using this approach to identify factors that can rescue the endophenotype, we will be able to generate a robust understanding of the factors and pathways involved, as was the case with the study of *fmr1* and *dfmr1* as described in Chapter 1. In following this example, we may be able to use these combined approaches to generate a new age of targeted therapeutics. **CHAPTER V**

REFERENCES

Ariana Paone Mullin

Department of Cell Biology and Program in Neuroscience Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322
- (1994). "Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium." <u>Cell</u> **78**(1): 23-33.
- Abazyan, B., J. Nomura, G. Kannan, K. Ishizuka, K. L. Tamashiro, F. Nucifora, V. Pogorelov, B. Ladenheim, C. Yang, I. N. Krasnova, J. L. Cadet, C. Pardo, S. Mori, A. Kamiya, M. W. Vogel, A. Sawa, C. A. Ross and M. V. Pletnikov (2010).
 "Prenatal interaction of mutant DISC1 and immune activation produces adult psychopathology." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 68(12): 1172-1181.
- Adam, D. (2013). Mental health: On the spectrum. <u>Nature</u>. England. **496**: 416-418.
 Ahn, K., N. Gotay, T. M. Andersen, A. A. Anvari, P. Gochman, Y. Lee, S. Sanders,
 S. Guha, A. Darvasi, J. T. Glessner, H. Hakonarson, T. Lencz, M. W. State, Y. Y.
 Shugart and J. L. Rapoport (2014). "High rate of disease-related copy number
 variations in childhood onset schizophrenia." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> **19**(5): 568-572.
- Allen, N. C., S. Bagade, M. B. McQueen, J. P. Ioannidis, F. K. Kavvoura, M. J. Khoury, R.
 E. Tanzi and L. Bertram (2008). "Systematic meta-analyses and field synopsis of genetic association studies in schizophrenia: the SzGene database." <u>Nat Genet</u> **40**(7): 827-834. American Psychiatric Association (2013). <u>DSM-5, Development</u>, American Psychiatric Association.
- Amir, R. E., I. B. Van den Veyver, M. Wan, C. Q. Tran, U. Francke and H. Y. Zoghbi (1999). "Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2." <u>Nat Genet</u> 23(2): 185-188.
- Asensio, C. S., D. W. Sirkis and R. H. Edwards (2010). "RNAi screen identifies a role for adaptor protein AP-3 in sorting to the regulated secretory pathway." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 191(6): 1173-1187.
- Autry, A. E. and L. M. Monteggia (2012). "Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neuropsychiatric disorders." <u>Pharmacol Rev</u> **64**(2): 238-258.

- Ayalew, M., H. Le-Niculescu, D. F. Levey, N. Jain, B. Changala, S. D. Patel, E. Winiger, A. Breier, A. Shekhar, R. Amdur, D. Koller, J. I. Nurnberger, A. Corvin, M. Geyer, M. T. Tsuang, D. Salomon, N. J. Schork, A. H. Fanous, M. C. O'Donovan and A. B. Niculescu (2012). "Convergent functional genomics of schizophrenia: from comprehensive understanding to genetic risk prediction." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 17(9): 887-905.
- Babcock, M., G. T. Macleod, J. Leither and L. Pallanck (2004). "Genetic analysis of soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein function in *Drosophila* reveals positive and negative secretory roles." <u>J Neurosci</u> 24(16): 3964-3973.
- Baker, P. F., A. L. Hodgkin and E. B. Ridgway (1971). "Depolarization and calcium entry in squid giant axons." J Physiol **218**(3): 709-755.
- Bal, M., J. Leitz, A. L. Reese, D. M. Ramirez, M. Durakoglugil, J. Herz, L. M. Monteggia and E. T. Kavalali (2013). "Reelin mobilizes a VAMP7-dependent synaptic vesicle pool and selectively augments spontaneous neurotransmission." <u>Neuron</u> 80(4): 934-946.
- Bamford, N. S., H. Zhang, Y. Schmitz, N. P. Wu, C. Cepeda, M. S. Levine, C. Schmauss, S.
 S. Zakharenko, L. Zablow and D. Sulzer (2004). "Heterosynaptic dopamine neurotransmission selects sets of corticostriatal terminals." <u>Neuron</u> 42(4): 653-663.
- Banerjee, P., B. P. Schoenfeld, A. J. Bell, C. H. Choi, M. P. Bradley, P. Hinchey, M. Kollaros, J. H. Park, S. M. McBride and T. C. Dockendorff (2010). "Short- and long-term memory are modulated by multiple isoforms of the fragile X mental retardation protein." J Neurosci 30(19): 6782-6792.

- Bao, Y., J. A. Lopez, D. E. James and W. Hunziker (2008). "Snapin interacts with the Exo70 subunit of the exocyst and modulates GLUT4 trafficking." J Biol Chem 283(1): 324-331.
- Bassett, A. S., S. W. Scherer and L. M. Brzustowicz (2010). "Copy number variations in schizophrenia: critical review and new perspectives on concepts of genetics and disease." <u>Am J Psychiatry</u> 167(8): 899-914.
- Baust, T., M. Anitei, C. Czupalla, I. Parshyna, L. Bourel, C. Thiele, E. Krause and B.
 Hoflack (2008). "Protein networks supporting AP-3 function in targeting lysosomal membrane proteins." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 19(5): 1942-1951.
- Beasley, C. L., Z. J. Zhang, I. Patten and G. P. Reynolds (2002). "Selective deficits in prefrontal cortical GABAergic neurons in schizophrenia defined by the presence of calcium-binding proteins." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 52(7): 708-715.
- Behan, A. T., C. Byrne, M. J. Dunn, G. Cagney and D. R. Cotter (2009). "Proteomic analysis of membrane microdomain-associated proteins in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder reveals alterations in LAMP, STXBP1 and BASP1 protein expression." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 14(6): 601-613.
- Bellen, H. J., C. Tong and H. Tsuda (2010). "100 years of *Drosophila* research and its impact on vertebrate neuroscience: a history lesson for the future." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Neurosci</u> 11(7): 514-522.
- Benes, F. M. and S. Berretta (2001). "GABAergic interneurons: implications for understanding schizophrenia and bipolar disorder." <u>Neuropsychopharmacology</u> 25(1): 1-27.
- Berry-Kravis, E., D. Hessl, S. Coffey, C. Hervey, A. Schneider, J. Yuhas, J. Hutchison, M. Snape, M. Tranfaglia, D. V. Nguyen and R. Hagerman (2009). "A pilot open label, single dose trial of fenobam in adults with fragile X syndrome." J Med Genet 46(4): 266-271.

- Bethani, I., T. Lang, U. Geumann, J. J. Sieber, R. Jahn and S. O. Rizzoli (2007). "The specificity of SNARE pairing in biological membranes is mediated by both proofreading and spatial segregation." <u>EMBO J</u> 26(17): 3981-3992.
- Birchler, J. A., U. Bhadra, M. P. Bhadra and D. L. Auger (2001). "Dosage-dependent gene regulation in multicellular eukaryotes: implications for dosage compensation, aneuploid syndromes, and quantitative traits." <u>Dev Biol</u> 234(2): 275-288.
- Birchler, J. A., N. C. Riddle, D. L. Auger and R. A. Veitia (2005). "Dosage balance in gene regulation: biological implications." <u>Trends Genet</u> **21**(4): 219-226.
- Birchler, J. A. and R. A. Veitia (2007). "The gene balance hypothesis: from classical genetics to modern genomics." <u>Plant Cell</u> **19**(2): 395-402.
- Birchler, J. A. and R. A. Veitia (2012). "Gene balance hypothesis: connecting issues of dosage sensitivity across biological disciplines." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 109(37): 14746-14753.
- Blakeslee, A. F., J. Belling and M. E. Farnham (1920). "Chromosomal duplication and mendelian phenomena in datura mutants." <u>Science</u> **52**(1347): 388-390.
- Bolduc, F. V., K. Bell, H. Cox, K. S. Broadie and T. Tully (2008). "Excess protein synthesis in *Drosophila* fragile X mutants impairs long-term memory." <u>Nat</u> <u>Neurosci</u> 11(10): 1143-1145.
- Bonifacino, J. S. and B. S. Glick (2004). "The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion." <u>Cell</u> **116**(2): 153-166.
- Bonifacino, J. S. and L. M. Traub (2003). "Signals for sorting of transmembrane proteins to endosomes and lysosomes." <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **72**: 395-447.
- Borner, G. H., M. Harbour, S. Hester, K. S. Lilley and M. S. Robinson (2006). "Comparative proteomics of clathrin-coated vesicles." J Cell Biol **175**(4): 571-578.
- Braff, D. L., C. Grillon and M. A. Geyer (1992). "Gating and habituation of the startle reflex in schizophrenic patients." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> **49**(3): 206-215.

- Brand, A. H. and N. Perrimon (1993). "Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes." <u>Development</u> 118(2): 401-415.
- Brandon, N. J., J. K. Millar, C. Korth, H. Sive, K. K. Singh and A. Sawa (2009). "Understanding the role of DISC1 in psychiatric disease and during normal development." <u>J Neurosci</u> 29(41): 12768-12775.
- Bray, N. J., A. Preece, N. M. Williams, V. Moskvina, P. R. Buckland, M. J. Owen and M.
 C. O'Donovan (2005). "Haplotypes at the dystrobrevin binding protein 1 (*DTNBP1*) gene locus mediate risk for schizophrenia through reduced *DTNBP1* expression." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 14(14): 1947-1954.
- Brito, G. C. and D. W. Andrews (2011). "Removing bias against membrane proteins in interaction networks." <u>BMC Syst Biol</u> **5**: 169.
- Broadie, K., A. Prokop, H. J. Bellen, C. J. O'Kane, K. L. Schulze and S. T. Sweeney (1995).
 "Syntaxin and synaptobrevin function downstream of vesicle docking in *Drosophila*." <u>Neuron</u> 15(3): 663-673.
- Broadie, K. S. (1995). "Genetic dissection of the molecular mechanisms of transmitter vesicle release during synaptic transmission." <u>J Physiol Paris</u> **89**(2): 59-70.
- Brocker, C., S. Engelbrecht-Vandre and C. Ungermann (2010). "Multisubunit tethering complexes and their role in membrane fusion." <u>Curr Biol</u> **20**(21): R943-952.
- Bromundt, V., M. Köster, A. Georgiev-Kill, K. Opwis, A. Wirz-Justice, G. Stoppe and C. Cajochen (2011). "Sleep-wake cycles and cognitive functioning in schizophrenia."
 <u>Br J Psychiatry</u> 198(4): 269-276.
- Buxton, P., X. M. Zhang, B. Walsh, A. Sriratana, I. Schenberg, E. Manickam and T. Rowe (2003). "Identification and characterization of Snapin as a ubiquitously expressed SNARE-binding protein that interacts with SNAP23 in non-neuronal cells." <u>Biochem J</u> 375(Pt 2): 433-440.

- Cai, H., K. Reim, F. Varoqueaux, S. Tapechum, K. Hill, J. B. Sørensen, N. Brose and R. H. Chow (2008). "Complexin II plays a positive role in Ca2+-triggered exocytosis by facilitating vesicle priming." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 105(49): 19538-19543.
 Calfa, G., A. K. Percy and L. Pozzo-Miller (2011). "Experimental models of Rett syndrome based on Mecp2 dysfunction." <u>Exp Biol Med (Maywood)</u> 236(1): 3-19.
- Cannon, T. D., J. Kaprio, J. Lonnqvist, M. Huttunen and M. Koskenvuo (1998). "The genetic epidemiology of schizophrenia in a Finnish twin cohort. A population-based modeling study." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> **55**(1): 67-74.
- Cardno, A. G., E. J. Marshall, B. Coid, A. M. Macdonald, T. R. Ribchester, N. J. Davies, P. Venturi, L. A. Jones, S. W. Lewis, P. C. Sham, Gottesman, II, A. E. Farmer, P. McGuffin, A. M. Reveley and R. M. Murray (1999). "Heritability estimates for psychotic disorders: the Maudsley twin psychosis series." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> 56(2): 162-168.
- Cerasa, A., A. Quattrone, M. C. Gioia, P. Tarantino, G. Annesi, F. Assogna, C. Caltagirone, V. De Luca and G. Spalletta (2011). "Dysbindin C-A-T haplotype is associated with thicker medial orbitofrontal cortex in healthy population." <u>Neuroimage</u> 55(2): 508-513.
- Cesca, F., P. Baldelli, F. Valtorta and F. Benfenati (2010). "The synapsins: key actors of synapse function and plasticity." <u>Prog Neurobiol</u> **91**(4): 313-348.
- Chahrour, M. and H. Y. Zoghbi (2007). "The story of Rett syndrome: from clinic to neurobiology." <u>Neuron</u> **56**(3): 422-437.
- Cheli, V. T., R. W. Daniels, R. Godoy, D. J. Hoyle, V. Kandachar, M. Starcevic, J. A. Martinez-Agosto, S. Poole, A. DiAntonio, V. K. Lloyd, H. C. Chang, D. E. Krantz and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2010). "Genetic modifiers of abnormal organelle biogenesis in a *Drosophila* model of BLOC-1 deficiency." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 19(5): 861-878.

- Chen, X. W., Y. Q. Feng, C. J. Hao, X. L. Guo, X. He, Z. Y. Zhou, N. Guo, H. P. Huang, W. Xiong, H. Zheng, P. L. Zuo, C. X. Zhang, W. Li and Z. Zhou (2008). "*DTNBP1*, a schizophrenia susceptibility gene, affects kinetics of transmitter release." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 181(5): 791-801.
- Ching, M. S., Y. Shen, W. H. Tan, S. S. Jeste, E. M. Morrow, X. Chen, N. M. Mukaddes, S. Y. Yoo, E. Hanson, R. Hundley, C. Austin, R. E. Becker, G. T. Berry, K. Driscoll, E. C. Engle, S. Friedman, J. F. Gusella, F. M. Hisama, M. B. Irons, T. Lafiosca, E. LeClair, D. T. Miller, M. Neessen, J. D. Picker, L. Rappaport, C. M. Rooney, D. P. Sarco, J. M. Stoler, C. A. Walsh, R. R. Wolff, T. Zhang, R. H. Nasir and B. L. Wu (2010). "Deletions of NRXN1 (neurexin-1) predispose to a wide spectrum of developmental disorders." <u>Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet</u> 153b(4): 937-947.
- Choi, B. J., W. L. Imlach, W. Jiao, V. Wolfram, Y. Wu, M. Grbic, C. Cela, R. A. Baines, M. N. Nitabach and B. D. McCabe (2014). "Miniature neurotransmission regulates *Drosophila* synaptic structural maturation." <u>Neuron</u> 82(3): 618-634.
 Ciciotte, S. L., B. Gwynn, K. Moriyama, M. Huizing, W. A. Gahl, J. S. Bonifacino and L. L. Peters (2003). "Cappuccino, a mouse model of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome, encodes a novel protein that is part of the pallidin-muted complex
 - (BLOC-1)." <u>Blood</u> **101**(11): 4402-4407.
- Clayton, E. L. and M. A. Cousin (2009). "The molecular physiology of activity-dependent bulk endocytosis of synaptic vesicles." <u>J Neurochem</u> 111(4): 901-914.
 Cohen, D., G. Lazar, P. Couvert, V. Desportes, D. Lippe, P. Mazet and D. Heron (2002). "MECP2 mutation in a boy with language disorder and schizophrenia." <u>Am J Psychiatry</u> 159(1): 148-149.

- Comery, T. A., J. B. Harris, P. J. Willems, B. A. Oostra, S. A. Irwin, I. J. Weiler and W. T. Greenough (1997). "Abnormal dendritic spines in fragile X knockout mice: maturation and pruning deficits." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 94(10): 5401-5404.
 Consortium, I. S. (2008). "Rare chromosomal deletions and duplications increase risk of schizophrenia." Nature 455(7210): 237-241.
- Cousin, M. A. (2009). "Activity-dependent bulk synaptic vesicle endocytosis--a fast, high capacity membrane retrieval mechanism." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> **39**(3): 185-189.
 Craige, B., G. Salazar and V. Faundez (2008). "Phosphatidylinositol-4-Kinase Type II Alpha Contains an AP-3 Sorting Motif and a Kinase Domain that are both Required for Endosome Traffic." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **19**: 1415-1426.
- Cristino, A. S., S. M. Williams, Z. Hawi, J. Y. An, M. A. Bellgrove, C. E. Schwartz, L. D. Costa and C. Claudianos (2013). "Neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders represent an interconnected molecular system." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 10.1038/mp.2013.16.
- Cukier, H. N., N. D. Dueker, S. H. Slifer, J. M. Lee, P. L. Whitehead, E. Lalanne, N. Leyva, I. Konidari, R. C. Gentry, W. F. Hulme, D. V. Booven, V. Mayo, N. K. Hofmann, M. A. Schmidt, E. R. Martin, J. L. Haines, M. L. Cuccaro, J. R. Gilbert and M. A. Pericak-Vance (2014). "Exome sequencing of extended families with autism reveals genes shared across neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders." <u>Mol Autism</u> 5(1): 1.
- Das, S., M. K. Sadanandappa, A. Dervan, A. Larkin, J. A. Lee, I. P. Sudhakaran, R. Priya,
 R. Heidari, E. E. Holohan, A. Pimentel, A. Gandhi, K. Ito, S. Sanyal, J. W. Wang,
 V. Rodrigues and M. Ramaswami (2011). "Plasticity of local GABAergic interneurons drives olfactory habituation." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 108(36): E646-654.

- Davis, G. W. (2013). "Homeostatic signaling and the stabilization of neural function." <u>Neuron</u> **80**(3): 718-728.
- De Mei, C., M. Ramos, C. Iitaka and E. Borrelli (2009). "Getting specialized: presynaptic and postsynaptic dopamine D2 receptors." <u>Curr Opin Pharmacol</u> **9**(1): 53-58.
- Delgado, R., C. Maureira, C. Oliva, Y. Kidokoro and P. Labarca (2000). "Size of vesicle pools, rates of mobilization, and recycling at neuromuscular synapses of a *Drosophila* mutant, shibire." <u>Neuron</u> **28**(3): 941-953.
- Dell'Angelica, E. C. (2009). "AP-3-dependent trafficking and disease: the first decade." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **21**(4): 552-559.
- Dellaporta, S. L. and A. Calderon-Urrea (1993). "Sex determination in flowering plants." <u>Plant Cell</u> **5**(10): 1241-1251.
- Denker, A., I. Bethani, K. Kröhnert, C. Körber, H. Horstmann, B. G. Wilhelm, S. V. Barysch, T. Kuner, E. Neher and S. O. Rizzoli (2011). "A small pool of vesicles maintains synaptic activity in vivo." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 108(41): 17177-17182.
- Denker, A., K. Kröhnert and S. O. Rizzoli (2009). "Revisiting synaptic vesicle pool localization in the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction." <u>J Physiol</u> 587(Pt 12): 2919-2926.
- Denker, A. and S. O. Rizzoli (2010). "Synaptic vesicle pools: an update." <u>Front Synaptic</u> <u>Neurosci</u> **2**: 135.
- Devys, D., Y. Lutz, N. Rouyer, J. P. Bellocq and J. L. Mandel (1993). "The FMR-1 protein is cytoplasmic, most abundant in neurons and appears normal in carriers of a fragile X premutation." <u>Nat Genet</u> **4**(4): 335-340.
- Di Pietro, S. M. and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2005). "The cell biology of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome: recent advances." <u>Traffic</u> **6**(7): 525-533.

- Di Pietro, S. M., J. M. Falcon-Perez, D. Tenza, S. R. Setty, M. S. Marks, G. Raposo and E.C. Dell'angelica (2006). "BLOC-1 Interacts with BLOC-2 and the AP-3 Complex to Facilitate Protein Trafficking on Endosomes." Mol Biol Cell 17(9): 4027-4038.
- Dickman, D. K. and G. W. Davis (2009). "The schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin controls synaptic homeostasis." <u>Science</u> **326**(5956): 1127-1130.
- Dickman, D. K., A. Tong and G. W. Davis (2012). "Snapin is critical for presynaptic homeostatic plasticity." J Neurosci **32**(25): 8716-8724.
- Dockendorff, T. C., H. S. Su, S. M. McBride, Z. Yang, C. H. Choi, K. K. Siwicki, A. Sehgal and T. A. Jongens (2002). "*Drosophila* lacking dfmr1 activity show defects in circadian output and fail to maintain courtship interest." <u>Neuron</u> **34**(6): 973-984.
- Doherty, J. L., M. C. O'Donovan and M. J. Owen (2012). "Recent genomic advances in schizophrenia." <u>Clin Genet</u> **81**(2): 103-109.
- Domschke, K. (2013). "Clinical and molecular genetics of psychotic depression." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> **39**(4): 766-775.
- Donohoe, G., T. Frodl, D. Morris, I. Spoletini, D. M. Cannon, A. Cherubini, C. Caltagirone, P. Bossu, C. McDonald, M. Gill, A. P. Corvin and G. Spalletta (2010).
 "Reduced occipital and prefrontal brain volumes in dysbindin-associated schizophrenia." <u>Neuropsychopharmacology</u> 35(2): 368-373.
- Donohoe, G., D. W. Morris, S. Clarke, K. A. McGhee, S. Schwaiger, J. M. Nangle, H. Garavan, I. H. Robertson, M. Gill and A. Corvin (2007). "Variance in neurocognitive performance is associated with dysbindin-1 in schizophrenia: a preliminary study." <u>Neuropsychologia</u> 45(2): 454-458.
- Donohoe, G., D. W. Morris, P. De Sanctis, E. Magno, J. L. Montesi, H. P. Garavan, I. H. Robertson, D. C. Javitt, M. Gill, A. P. Corvin and J. J. Foxe (2008). "Early visual processing deficits in dysbindin-associated schizophrenia." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> **63**(5): 484-489.

- Duffy, J. B. (2002). "GAL4 system in *Drosophila*: a fly geneticist's Swiss army knife." <u>Genesis</u> **34**(1-2): 1-15.
- Dulubova, I., S. Sugita, S. Hill, M. Hosaka, I. Fernandez, T. C. Südhof and J. Rizo (1999).
 "A conformational switch in syntaxin during exocytosis: role of munc18." <u>EMBO</u>
 <u>J</u> 18(16): 4372-4382.
- Dwyer, S., L. Carroll, K. K. Mantripragada, M. J. Owen, M. C. O'Donovan and N. M. Williams "Mutation screening of the *DTNBP1* exonic sequence in 669 schizophrenics and 710 controls using high-resolution melting analysis." <u>Am J</u> <u>Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet</u> 153B(3): 766-774.
- Easley, C. A. t., T. Miki, C. A. Castro, J. A. Ozolek, C. F. Minervini, A. Ben-Yehudah and G. P. Schatten (2012). "Human amniotic epithelial cells are reprogrammed more efficiently by induced pluripotency than adult fibroblasts." <u>Cell Reprogram</u> **14**(3): 193-203.
- Ebert, A. D., B. C. Shelley, A. M. Hurley, M. Onorati, V. Castiglioni, T. N. Patitucci, S. P. Svendsen, V. B. Mattis, J. V. McGivern, A. J. Schwab, D. Sareen, H. W. Kim, E. Cattaneo and C. N. Svendsen (2013). "EZ spheres: a stable and expandable culture system for the generation of pre-rosette multipotent stem cells from human ESCs and iPSCs." <u>Stem Cell Res</u> 10(3): 417-427.
- Eggermann, E., I. Bucurenciu, S. P. Goswami and P. Jonas (2012). "Nanodomain coupling between Ca²⁺ channels and sensors of exocytosis at fast mammalian synapses." <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> **13**(1): 7-21.
- Eisen, M. B., P. T. Spellman, P. O. Brown and D. Botstein (1998). "Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 95(25): 1 4863-14868.
- English, J. A., K. Pennington, M. J. Dunn and D. R. Cotter (2011). "The neuroproteomics of schizophrenia." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> **69**(2): 163-172.

- Falcon-Perez, J. M., M. Starcevic, R. Gautam and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2002). "BLOC-1, a novel complex containing the pallidin and muted proteins involved in the biogenesis of melanosomes and platelet-dense granules." J Biol Chem 277(31): 28191-28199.
- Fallgatter, A. J., M. J. Herrmann, C. Hohoff, A. C. Ehlis, T. A. Jarczok, C. M. Freitag and J. Deckert (2006). "*DTNBP1* (dysbindin) gene variants modulate prefrontal brain function in healthy individuals." <u>Neuropsychopharmacology</u> 31(9): 2002-2010.
 Faludi, G. and K. Mirnics (2011). "Synaptic changes in the brain of subjects with schizophrenia." <u>Int J Dev Neurosci</u> 29(3): 305-309.
- Fatjó-Vilas, M., S. Papiol, G. Estrada, I. Bombín, V. Peralta, A. Rosa, M. Parellada, S. Miret, M. Martín, L. Lázaro, S. Campanera, M. J. Muñoz, S. Lera-Miguel, B. Arias, M. E. Navarro, J. Castro-Fornieles, M. J. Cuesta, C. Arango and L. Fañanás (2011). "Dysbindin-1 gene contributes differentially to early- and adult-onset forms of functional psychosis." <u>Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet</u> 156B(3): 322-333.
- Faundez, V., J. T. Horng and R. B. Kelly (1998). "A function for the AP3 coat complex in synaptic vesicle formation from endosomes." <u>Cell</u> **93**(3): 423-432.
- Fei, E., X. Ma, C. Zhu, T. Xue, J. Yan, Y. Xu, J. Zhou and G. Wang (2010). "Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of dysbindin-1, a schizophrenia related protein, regulates synapsin I expression." J Biol Chem.
- Feng, Y., F. Zhang, L. K. Lokey, J. L. Chastain, L. Lakkis, D. Eberhart and S. T. Warren (1995). "Translational suppression by trinucleotide repeat expansion at FMR1." <u>Science</u> 268(5211): 731-734.
- Feng, Y. Q., Z. Y. Zhou, X. He, H. Wang, X. L. Guo, C. J. Hao, Y. Guo, X. C. Zhen and W.
 Li (2008). "Dysbindin deficiency in sandy mice causes reduction of snapin and displays behaviors related to schizophrenia." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 106(2-3): 218-228.

- Fischer, J. A., E. Giniger, T. Maniatis and M. Ptashne (1988). "GAL4 activates transcription in *Drosophila*." <u>Nature</u> **332**(6167): 853-856.
- Franciscovich, A. L., A. D. Mortimer, A. A. Freeman, J. Gu and S. Sanyal (2008).
 "Overexpression screen in *Drosophila* identifies neuronal roles of GSK-3 beta/shaggy as a regulator of AP-1-dependent developmental plasticity." <u>Genetics</u> 180(4): 2057-2071.
- Frank, C. A. (2014). "Homeostatic plasticity at the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction." <u>Neuropharmacology</u> **78**: 63-74.
- Frank, C. A., X. Wang, C. A. Collins, A. A. Rodal, Q. Yuan, P. Verstreken and D. K. Dickman (2013). "New approaches for studying synaptic development, function, and plasticity using *Drosophila* as a model system." <u>J Neurosci</u> 33(45): 17560-17568.
- Gaffield, M. A., S. O. Rizzoli and W. J. Betz (2006). "Mobility of synaptic vesicles in different pools in resting and stimulated frog motor nerve terminals." <u>Neuron</u> 51(3): 317-325.
- Gatto, C. L. and K. Broadie (2008). "Temporal requirements of the fragile X mental retardation protein in the regulation of synaptic structure." <u>Development</u> **135**(15): 2637-2648.
- Gauthier, J., N. Champagne, R. G. Lafreniere, L. Xiong, D. Spiegelman, E. Brustein, M. Lapointe, H. Peng, M. Cote, A. Noreau, F. F. Hamdan, A. M. Addington, J. L. Rapoport, L. E. Delisi, M. O. Krebs, R. Joober, F. Fathalli, F. Mouaffak, A. P. Haghighi, C. Neri, M. P. Dube, M. E. Samuels, C. Marineau, E. A. Stone, P. Awadalla, P. A. Barker, S. Carbonetto, P. Drapeau and G. A. Rouleau (2010). "De novo mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 in patients ascertained for schizophrenia." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(17): 7863-7868.

- Gauthier, J., T. J. Siddiqui, P. Huashan, D. Yokomaku, F. F. Hamdan, N. Champagne, M. Lapointe, D. Spiegelman, A. Noreau, R. G. Lafreniere, F. Fathalli, R. Joober, M. O. Krebs, L. E. DeLisi, L. Mottron, E. Fombonne, J. L. Michaud, P. Drapeau, S. Carbonetto, A. M. Craig and G. A. Rouleau (2011). "Truncating mutations in NRXN2 and NRXN1 in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia." <u>Hum Genet</u> 130(4): 563-573.
- Gerrish, A., H. Williams, V. Moskvina, M. J. Owen, M. C. O'Donovan and N. M. Williams
 (2009). "An examination of MUTED as a schizophrenia susceptibility gene."
 <u>Schizophr Res</u> 107(1): 110-111.
- Geyer, M. A. and D. L. Braff (1987). "Startle habituation and sensorimotor gating in schizophrenia and related animal models." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> **13**(4): 643-668.
- Ghiani, C. A. and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2011). "Dysbindin-containing complexes and their proposed functions in brain: from zero to (too) many in a decade." <u>ASN Neuro</u> 3(2).
- Ghiani, C. A., M. Starcevic, I. A. Rodriguez-Fernandez, R. Nazarian, V. T. Cheli, L. N. Chan, J. S. Malvar, J. de Vellis, C. Sabatti and E. C. Dell'angelica (2009). "The dysbindin-containing complex (BLOC-1) in brain: developmental regulation, interaction with SNARE proteins and role in neurite outgrowth." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 15: 204–215.
- Gil-Pisa, I., E. Munarriz-Cuezva, A. Ramos-Miguel, L. Uriguen, J. J. Meana and J. A. Garcia-Sevilla (2012). "Regulation of munc18-1 and syntaxin-1A interactive partners in schizophrenia prefrontal cortex: down-regulation of munc18-1a isoform and 75 kDa SNARE complex after antipsychotic treatment." <u>Int J Neuropsychopharmacol</u> 15(5): 573-588.
- Giniger, E. and M. Ptashne (1988). "Cooperative DNA binding of the yeast transcriptional activator GAL4." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **85**(2): 382-386.

- Giniger, E., S. M. Varnum and M. Ptashne (1985). "Specific DNA binding of GAL4, a positive regulatory protein of yeast." <u>Cell</u> **40**(4): 767-774.
- Giraudo, C. G., W. S. Eng, T. J. Melia and J. E. Rothman (2006). "A clamping mechanism involved in SNARE-dependent exocytosis." <u>Science</u> **313**(5787): 676-680.
- Gokhale, A., J. Larimore, E. Werner, L. So, A. Moreno-De-Luca, C. Lese-Martin, V. V. Lupashin, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2012). "Quantitative proteomic and genetic analyses of the schizophrenia susceptibility factor dysbindin identify novel roles of the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex 1." <u>J Neurosci</u> 32(11): 3697-3711.
- Gokhale, A., P. Perez-Cornejo, C. Duran, H. C. Hartzell and V. Faundez (2012). "A comprehensive strategy to identify stoichiometric membrane protein interactomes." <u>Cell Logist</u> 2(4): 189-196.
- Goldstein, L. S. (2012). "New frontiers in human cell biology and medicine: can pluripotent stem cells deliver?" <u>J Cell Biol</u> 199(4): 577-581.
 Gordon, D. E., L. M. Bond, D. A. Sahlender and A. A. Peden (2010). "A targeted siRNA screen to identify SNAREs required for constitutive secretion in mammalian cells." <u>Traffic</u> 11(9): 1191-1204.
- Gornick, M. C., A. M. Addington, A. Sporn, N. Gogtay, D. Greenstein, M. Lenane, P. Gochman, A. Ordonez, R. Balkissoon, R. Vakkalanka, D. R. Weinberger, J. L. Rapoport and R. E. Straub (2005). "Dysbindin (*DTNBP1*, 6p22.3) is associated with childhood-onset psychosis and endophenotypes measured by the Premorbid Adjustment Scale (PAS)." J Autism Dev Disord **35**(6): 831-838.
- Gottesman, II and T. D. Gould (2003). "The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions." <u>Am J Psychiatry</u> **160**(4): 636-645.

- Gottesman, II and J. Shields (1967). "A polygenic theory of schizophrenia." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **58**(1): 199-205.
- Grabner, C. P., S. D. Price, A. Lysakowski, A. L. Cahill and A. P. Fox (2006). "Regulation of large dense-core vesicle volume and neurotransmitter content mediated by adaptor protein 3." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 103(26): 10035-10040.
 Greenspan, R. J. (2009). "Selection, gene interaction, and flexible gene

networks." <u>Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol</u> 74: 131-138.

- Guimera, R. and M. Sales-Pardo (2009). "Missing and spurious interactions and the reconstruction of complex networks." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **106**(52): 22073-22078.
- Guo, A. Y., J. Sun, B. P. Riley, D. L. Thiselton, K. S. Kendler and Z. Zhao (2009). "The dystrobrevin-binding protein 1 gene: features and networks." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 14(1): 18-29.
- Guruharsha, K. G., J. F. Rual, B. Zhai, J. Mintseris, P. Vaidya, N. Vaidya, C. Beekman, C. Wong, D. Y. Rhee, O. Cenaj, E. McKillip, S. Shah, M. Stapleton, K. H. Wan, C. Yu, B. Parsa, J. W. Carlson, X. Chen, B. Kapadia, K. VijayRaghavan, S. P. Gygi, S. E. Celniker, R. A. Obar and S. Artavanis-Tsakonas (2011). "A protein complex network of *Drosophila* melanogaster." <u>Cell</u> 147(3): 690-703.
- Gwynn, B., J. A. Martina, J. S. Bonifacino, E. V. Sviderskaya, M. L. Lamoreux, D. C. Bennett, K. Moriyama, M. Huizing, A. Helip-Wooley, W. A. Gahl, L. S. Webb, A. J. Lambert and L. L. Peters (2004). "Reduced pigmentation (rp), a mouse model of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome, encodes a novel component of the BLOC-1 complex." <u>Blood</u> 104(10): 3181-3189.
- Halim, N. D., C. S. Weickert, B. W. McClintock, T. M. Hyde, D. R. Weinberger, J. E. Kleinman and B. K. Lipska (2003). "Presynaptic proteins in the prefrontal cortex

of patients with schizophrenia and rats with abnormal prefrontal development." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> **8**(9): 797-810.

- Hamdan, F. F., A. Piton, J. Gauthier, A. Lortie, F. Dubeau, S. Dobrzeniecka, D. Spiegelman, A. Noreau, S. Pellerin, M. Cote, E. Henrion, E. Fombonne, L. Mottron, C. Marineau, P. Drapeau, R. G. Lafreniere, J. C. Lacaille, G. A. Rouleau and J. L. Michaud (2009). "De novo STXBP1 mutations in mental retardation and nonsyndromic epilepsy." <u>Ann Neurol</u> 65(6): 748-753.
- Hashimoto, R., K. Ohi, T. Okada, Y. Yasuda, H. Yamamori, H. Hori, T. Hikita, S. Taya, O. Saitoh, A. Kosuga, M. Tatsumi, K. Kamijima, K. Kaibuchi, M. Takeda and H. Kunugi (2009). "Association analysis between schizophrenia and the AP-3 complex genes." <u>Neurosci Res</u> 65(1): 113-115.
- Hashimoto, T., D. Arion, T. Unger, J. G. Maldonado-Aviles, H. M. Morris, D. W. Volk, K.
 Mirnics and D. A. Lewis (2008). "Alterations in GABA-related transcriptome in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 13(2): 147-161.
- Hashimoto, T., D. W. Volk, S. M. Eggan, K. Mirnics, J. N. Pierri, Z. Sun, A. R. Sampson and D. A. Lewis (2003). "Gene expression deficits in a subclass of GABA neurons in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia." <u>J Neurosci</u> 23(15): 6315-6326.
- Haucke V., E. Neher, S. J. Sigrist (2011). "Protein scaffolds in the coupling of synaptic exocytosis and endocytosis. <u>Nat Rev Neurosci.</u> 12: 127-138.
- Heuser, J. E. and T. S. Reese (1973). "Evidence for recycling of synaptic vesicle membrane during transmitter release at the frog neuromuscular junction." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> 57(2): 315-344.
- Hikita, T., S. Taya, Y. Fujino, S. Taneichi-Kuroda, K. Ohta, D. Tsuboi, T. Shinoda, K. Kuroda, Y. Funahashi, J. Uraguchi-Asaki, R. Hashimoto and K. Kaibuchi (2009).

"Proteomic analysis reveals novel binding partners of dysbindin, a schizophreniarelated protein." <u>J Neurochem</u> **110**(5): 1567-1574.

- Holt, D. J., A. P. Weiss, S. L. Rauch, C. I. Wright, M. Zalesak, D. C. Goff, T. Ditman, R. C. Welsh and S. Heckers (2005). "Sustained activation of the hippocampus in response to fearful faces in schizophrenia." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 57(9): 1011-1019.
 Hoopmann, P., A. Punge, S. V. Barysch, V. Westphal, J. Bückers, F. Opazo, I. Bethani, M. A. Lauterbach, S. W. Hell and S. O. Rizzoli (2010). "Endosomal sorting of readily releasable synaptic vesicles." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 107(44): 19055-19060.
- Howes, O. D. and S. Kapur (2009). "The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III--the final common pathway." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> **35**(3): 549-562.
- Hu, F. K., S. He, Z. Fan and J. Lupianez (2014). "Beyond the inhibition of return of attention: reduced habituation to threatening faces in schizophrenia." <u>Front Psychiatry</u> 5: 7.
- Hua, Z., S. Leal-Ortiz, S. M. Foss, C. L. Waites, C. C. Garner, S. M. Voglmaier and R. H.
 Edwards (2011). "v-SNARE composition distinguishes synaptic vesicle pools."
 <u>Neuron</u> 71(3): 474-487.
- Huang, L., Y. M. Kuo and J. Gitschier (1999). "The pallid gene encodes a novel, syntaxin 13-interacting protein involved in platelet storage pool deficiency." <u>Nat Genet</u> 23(3): 329-332.
- Iizuka, Y., Y. Sei, D. R. Weinberger and R. E. Straub (2007). "Evidence that the BLOC-1 protein dysbindin modulates dopamine D2 receptor internalization and signaling but not D1 internalization." <u>J Neurosci</u> 27(45): 12390-12395.
- Ilardi, J. M., S. Mochida and Z. H. Sheng (1999). "Snapin: a SNARE-associated protein i mplicated in synaptic transmission." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> **2**(2): 119-124.

- Ingason, A., D. Rujescu, S. Cichon, E. Sigurdsson, T. Sigmundsson, O. P. Pietilainen, J. E. Buizer-Voskamp, E. Strengman, C. Francks, P. Muglia, A. Gylfason, O. Gustafsson, P. I. Olason, S. Steinberg, T. Hansen, K. D. Jakobsen, H. B. Rasmussen, I. Giegling, H. J. Moller, A. Hartmann, C. Crombie, G. Fraser, N. Walker, J. Lonnqvist, J. Suvisaari, A. Tuulio-Henriksson, E. Bramon, L. A. Kiemeney, B. Franke, R. Murray, E. Vassos, T. Toulopoulou, T. W. Muhleisen, S. Tosato, M. Ruggeri, S. Djurovic, O. A. Andreassen, Z. Zhang, T. Werge, R. A. Ophoff, M. Rietschel, M. M. Nothen, H. Petursson, H. Stefansson, L. Peltonen, D. Collier, K. Stefansson and D. M. Clair (2010). "Copy number variations of chromosome 16p13.1 region associated with schizophrenia." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 16(1): 17-25.
- Inoue, S., M. Shimoda, I. Nishinokubi, M. C. Siomi, M. Okamura, A. Nakamura, S. Kobayashi, N. Ishida and H. Siomi (2002). "A role for the *Drosophila* fragile X-related gene in circadian output." <u>Curr Biol</u> 12(15): 1331-1335.
- Ioannidis, J. P., P. Boffetta, J. Little, T. R. O'Brien, A. G. Uitterlinden, P. Vineis, D. J. Balding, A. Chokkalingam, S. M. Dolan, W. D. Flanders, J. P. Higgins, M. I. McCarthy, D. H. McDermott, G. P. Page, T. R. Rebbeck, D. Seminara and M. J. Khoury (2008). "Assessment of cumulative evidence on genetic associations: interim guidelines." Int J Epidemiol 37(1): 120-132.
- Iqbal, Z., G. Vandeweyer, M. van der Voet, A. M. Waryah, M. Y. Zahoor, J. A. Besseling,
 L. T. Roca, A. T. Vulto-van Silfhout, B. Nijhof, J. M. Kramer, N. Van der Aa, M.
 Ansar, H. Peeters, C. Helsmoortel, C. Gilissen, E. L. M. V. L, J. A. Veltman, A. P.
 de Brouwer, R. Frank Kooy, S. Riazuddin, A. Schenck, H. van Bokhoven and L.
 Rooms (2013). "Homozygous and heterozygous disruptions of ANK3: at the
 crossroads of neurodevelopmental and psychiatric disorders." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u>
 22(10): 1960-1970.

- Ito, H., R. Morishita, T. Shinoda, I. Iwamoto, K. Sudo, K. Okamoto and K. Nagata "Dysbindin-1, WAVE2 and Abi-1 form a complex that regulates dendritic spine formation." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 15(10): 976-986.
- Jacquemont, S., A. Curie, V. des Portes, M. G. Torrioli, E. Berry-Kravis, R. J. Hagerman,
 F. J. Ramos, K. Cornish, Y. He, C. Paulding, G. Neri, F. Chen, N. Hadjikhani, D.
 Martinet, J. Meyer, J. S. Beckmann, K. Delange, A. Brun, G. Bussy, F. Gasparini,
 T. Hilse, A. Floesser, J. Branson, G. Bilbe, D. Johns and B. Gomez-Mancilla
 (2011). "Epigenetic modification of the FMR1 gene in fragile X syndrome is associated with differential response to the mGluR5 antagonist AFQ056." <u>Sci</u>
 <u>Transl Med</u> 3(64): 64ra61.
- Jahn, R. and R. H. Scheller (2006). "SNAREs--engines for membrane fusion." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 7(9): 631-643.
- Jan, L. Y. and Y. N. Jan (1976). "Properties of the larval neuromuscular junction in *Drosophila* melanogaster." <u>J Physiol</u> **262**(1): 189-214.
- Janvier, K. and J. S. Bonifacino (2005). "Role of the endocytic machinery in the sorting of lysosome-associated membrane proteins." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **16**(9): 4231-4242.
- Jarousse, N. and R. B. Kelly (2001). "The AP2 binding site of synaptotagmin 1 is not an internalization signal but a regulator of endocytosis." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **154**(4): 857-866.
- Jarousse, N. and R. B. Kelly (2001). "Endocytotic mechanisms in synapses." <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **13**(4): 461-469.
- Jeans, A., R. Malins, Z. Padamsey, M. Reinhart and N. Emptage (2011). "Increased expression of dysbindin-1A leads to a selective deficit in NMDA receptor signaling in the hippocampus." <u>Neuropharmacology</u> **61**(8): 1345-1353.
- Ji, Y., F. Yang, F. Papaleo, H. X. Wang, W. J. Gao, D. R. Weinberger and B. Lu (2009).
 "Role of dysbindin in dopamine receptor trafficking and cortical GABA function."
 <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 106(46): 19593-19598.

- Jia, D., T. S. Gomez, Z. Metlagel, J. Umetani, Z. Otwinowski, M. K. Rosen and D. D. Billadeau (2010). "WASH and WAVE actin regulators of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP) family are controlled by analogous structurally related complexes." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 107(23): 10442-10447.
- Jorquera, R. A., S. Huntwork-Rodriguez, Y. Akbergenova, R. W. Cho and J. T. Littleton (2012). "Complexin controls spontaneous and evoked neurotransmitter release by regulating the timing and properties of synaptotagmin activity." <u>J Neurosci</u> **32**(50): 18234-18245.
- Kaeser, P. S., L. Deng, Y. Wang, I. Dulubova, X. Liu, J. Rizo and T. C. Südhof (2011). "RIM proteins tether Ca2+ channels to presynaptic active zones via a direct PDZdomain interaction." <u>Cell</u> 144(2): 282-295.
- Kantheti, P., X. Qiao, M. E. Diaz, A. A. Peden, G. E. Meyer, S. L. Carskadon, D. Kapfhamer, D. Sufalko, M. S. Robinson, J. L. Noebels and M. Burmeister (1998).
 "Mutation in AP-3 delta in the mocha mouse links endosomal transport to storage deficiency in platelets, melanosomes, and synaptic vesicles." <u>Neuron</u> 21(1): 111-122.
- Karayiorgou, M., T. J. Simon and J. A. Gogos (2010). "22q11.2 microdeletions: linking DNA structural variation to brain dysfunction and schizophrenia." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Neurosci</u> 11(6): 402-416.
- Karlsgodt, K. H., K. Robleto, H. Trantham-Davidson, C. Jairl, T. D. Cannon, A. Lavin and J. D. Jentsch (2011). "Reduced dysbindin expression mediates N-methyl-Daspartate receptor hypofunction and impaired working memory performance." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 69(1): 28-34.
- Katz, B. and R. Miledi (1969). "Spontaneous and evoked activity of motor nerve endings in calcium Ringer." <u>J Physiol</u> 203(3): 689-706.

- Katz, R. I., T. N. Chase and I. J. Kopin (1969). "Effect of ions on stimulus-induced release of amino acids from mammalian brain slices." <u>J Neurochem</u> **16**(3): 961-967.
- Kendler, K. S. and R. J. Greenspan (2006). "The nature of genetic influences on behavior: lessons from "simpler" organisms." <u>Am J Psychiatry</u> 163(10): 1683-1694.
- Kilpinen, H., T. Ylisaukko-Oja, W. Hennah, O. M. Palo, T. Varilo, R. Vanhala, T. Nieminen-von Wendt, L. von Wendt, T. Paunio and L. Peltonen (2008).
 "Association of DISC1 with autism and Asperger syndrome." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 13(2): 187-196.
- Kim, S. M., V. Kumar, Y. Q. Lin, S. Karunanithi and M. Ramaswami (2009). "Fos and Jun potentiate individual release sites and mobilize the reserve synaptic vesicle pool at the *Drosophila* larval motor synapse." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **106**(10): 4000-4005.
- King, B. H. and C. Lord (2011). "Is schizophrenia on the autism spectrum?" <u>Brain Res</u> 1380: 34-41.
- Kirov, G., D. Gumus, W. Chen, N. Norton, L. Georgieva, M. Sari, M. C. O'Donovan, F. Erdogan, M. J. Owen, H. H. Ropers and R. Ullmann (2008). "Comparative genome hybridization suggests a role for NRXN1 and APBA2 in schizophrenia." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 17(3): 458-465.
- Kirov, G., D. Rujescu, A. Ingason, D. A. Collier, M. C. O'Donovan and M. J. Owen (2009).
 "Neurexin 1 (NRXN1) deletions in schizophrenia." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> 35(5): 851-854.
 Korkmaz, B. (2011). "Theory of mind and neurodevelopmental disorders of childhood." <u>Pediatr Res</u> 69(5 Pt 2): 101r-108r.
- Krueger, D. D. and M. F. Bear (2011). "Toward fulfilling the promise of molecular medicine in fragile X syndrome." <u>Annu Rev Med</u> **62**: 411-429.

- Kubota, K., N. Kumamoto, S. Matsuzaki, R. Hashimoto, T. Hattori, H. Okuda, H. Takamura, M. Takeda, T. Katayama and M. Tohyama (2009). "Dysbindin engages in c-Jun N-terminal kinase activity and cytoskeletal organization."
 <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **379**(2): 191-195.
- Kushimoto, T., V. Basrur, J. Valencia, J. Matsunaga, W. D. Vieira, V. J. Ferrans, J. Muller, E. Appella and V. J. Hearing (2001). "A model for melanosome biogenesis based on the purification and analysis of early melanosomes." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 98(19): 10698-10703.
- Lam, C. W., W. L. Yeung, C. H. Ko, P. M. Poon, S. F. Tong, K. Y. Chan, I. F. Lo, L. Y. Chan, J. Hui, V. Wong, C. P. Pang, Y. M. Lo and T. F. Fok (2000). "Spectrum of mutations in the MECP2 gene in patients with infantile autism and Rett syndrome." <u>J Med Genet</u> 37(12): E41.
- Larimore, J., K. Tornieri, P. V. Ryder, A. Gokhale, S. A. Zlatic, B. Craige, J. D. Lee, K. Talbot, J. F. Pare, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2011). "The schizophrenia susceptibility factor dysbindin and its associated complex sort cargoes from cell bodies to the synapse." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 22(24): 4854-4867.
- Laxova, R. (1994). "Fragile X syndrome." <u>Adv Pediatr</u> 41: 305-342.
 Le Borgne, R., A. Alconada, U. Bauer and B. Hoflack (1998). "The mammalian AP-3 adaptor-like complex mediates the intracellular transport of lysosomal membrane glycoproteins." J Biol Chem 273(45): 29451-29461.
- Lee, H. H., D. Nemecek, C. Schindler, W. J. Smith, R. Ghirlando, A. C. Steven, J. S. Bonifacino and J. H. Hurley (2012). "Assembly and architecture of biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex-1 (BLOC-1)." J Biol Chem 287(8): 5882-5890.
- Lee, T. and L. Luo (1999). "Mosaic analysis with a repressible cell marker for studies of gene function in neuronal morphogenesis." <u>Neuron</u> **22**(3): 451-461.

- Lemos, B., C. D. Meiklejohn and D. L. Hartl (2004). "Regulatory evolution across the protein interaction network." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(10): 1059-1060.
- Levey, A. I., S. M. Hersch, D. B. Rye, R. K. Sunahara, H. B. Niznik, C. A. Kitt, D. L. Price,
 R. Maggio, M. R. Brann and B. J. Ciliax (1993). "Localization of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in brain with subtype-specific antibodies." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u>
 <u>Sci U S A</u> 90(19): 8861-8865.
- Li, W., Y. Feng, C. Hao, X. Guo, Y. Cui, M. He and X. He (2007). "The BLOC interactomes form a network in endosomal transport." <u>J Genet Genomics</u> **34**(8): 669-682.
- Li, W., M. E. Rusiniak, S. Chintala, R. Gautam, E. K. Novak and R. T. Swank (2004). "Murine Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome genes: regulators of lysosome-related organelles." <u>Bioessays</u> 26(6): 616-628.
- Li, W., Q. Zhang, N. Oiso, E. K. Novak, R. Gautam, E. P. O'Brien, C. L. Tinsley, D. J. Blake, R. A. Spritz, N. G. Copeland, N. A. Jenkins, D. Amato, B. A. Roe, M. Starcevic, E. C. Dell'Angelica, R. W. Elliott, V. Mishra, S. F. Kingsmore, R. E. Paylor and R. T. Swank (2003). "Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 7 (HPS-7) results from mutant dysbindin, a member of the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex 1 (BLOC-1)." Nat Genet 35(1): 84-89.
- Lionel, A. C., A. K. Vaags, D. Sato, M. J. Gazzellone, E. B. Mitchell, H. Y. Chen, G. Costain, S. Walker, G. Egger, B. Thiruvahindrapuram, D. Merico, A. Prasad, E. Anagnostou, E. Fombonne, L. Zwaigenbaum, W. Roberts, P. Szatmari, B. A. Fernandez, L. Georgieva, L. M. Brzustowicz, K. Roetzer, W. Kaschnitz, J. B. Vincent, C. Windpassinger, C. R. Marshall, R. R. Trifiletti, S. Kirmani, G. Kirov, E. Petek, J. C. Hodge, A. S. Bassett and S. W. Scherer (2013). "Rare exonic deletions implicate the synaptic organizer Gephyrin (GPHN) in risk for autism, schizophrenia and seizures." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 22(10): 2055-2066.

- Lu, L., Q. Cai, J. H. Tian and Z. H. Sheng (2009). "Snapin associates with late endocytic compartments and interacts with late endosomal SNAREs." <u>Biosci Rep</u> 29(4): 261-269.
- Luciano, M., F. Miyajima, P. A. Lind, T. C. Bates, M. Horan, S. E. Harris, M. J. Wright, W. E. Ollier, C. Hayward, N. Pendleton, A. J. Gow, P. M. Visscher, J. M. Starr, I. J. Deary, N. G. Martin and A. Payton (2009). "Variation in the dysbindin gene and normal cognitive function in three independent population samples." <u>Genes Brain Behav</u> 8(2): 218-227.
- Lugnegard, T., M. Unenge Hallerback, F. Hjarthag and C. Gillberg (2013). "Social cognition impairments in Asperger syndrome and schizophrenia." <u>Schizophr Res</u> **143**(2-3): 277-284.
- Luo, X., L. Huang, P. Jia, M. Li, B. Su, Z. Zhao and L. Gan (2014). "Protein-protein interaction and pathway analyses of top schizophrenia genes reveal schizophrenia susceptibility genes converge on common molecular networks and enrichment of nucleosome (chromatin) assembly genes in schizophrenia susceptibility loci." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> 40(1): 39-49.
- Malhotra, D., S. McCarthy, J. J. Michaelson, V. Vacic, K. E. Burdick, S. Yoon, S. Cichon,
 A. Corvin, S. Gary, E. S. Gershon, M. Gill, M. Karayiorgou, J. R. Kelsoe, O. Krastoshevsky, V. Krause, E. Leibenluft, D. L. Levy, V. Makarov, A. Bhandari, A. K. Malhotra, F. J. McMahon, M. M. Nothen, J. B. Potash, M. Rietschel, T. G. Schulze and J. Sebat (2011). "High frequencies of de novo CNVs in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia." <u>Neuron</u> 72(6): 951-963.
- Malhotra, D. and J. Sebat (2012). "CNVs: harbingers of a rare variant revolution in psychiatric genetics." <u>Cell</u> **148**(6): 1223-1241.
- Markov, V., A. Krug, S. Krach, A. Jansen, T. Eggermann, K. Zerres, T. Stocker, N. J. Shah, M. M. Nothen, J. Treutlein, M. Rietschel and T. Kircher (2010). "Impact of

schizophrenia-risk gene dysbindin 1 on brain activation in bilateral middle frontal gyrus during a working memory task in healthy individuals." <u>Hum Brain</u> <u>Mapp</u> **31**(2): 266-275.

- Markov, V., A. Krug, S. Krach, C. Whitney, T. Eggermann, K. Zerres, T. Stocker, N. J. Shah, M. M. Nothen, J. Treutlein, M. Rietschel and T. Kircher (2009). "Genetic variation in schizophrenia-risk-gene dysbindin 1 modulates brain activation in anterior cingulate cortex and right temporal gyrus during language production in healthy individuals." <u>Neuroimage</u> **47**(4): 2016-2022.
- Marley, A. and M. von Zastrow (2010). "Dysbindin promotes the post-endocytic sorting of G protein-coupled receptors to lysosomes." <u>PLoS One</u> **5**(2): e9325.
- Martins-de-Souza, D. (2012). Proteomics tackling schizophrenia as a pathway disorder. <u>Schizophr Bull</u>. United States. **38:** 1107-1108.
- Matsunami, N., D. Hadley, C. H. Hensel, G. B. Christensen, C. Kim, E. Frackelton, K. Thomas, R. P. da Silva, J. Stevens, L. Baird, B. Otterud, K. Ho, T. Varvil, T. Leppert, C. G. Lambert, M. Leppert and H. Hakonarson (2013). "Identification of rare recurrent copy number variants in high-risk autism families and their prevalence in a large ASD population." <u>PLoS One</u> 8(1): e52239.
- Mayer, A., W. Wickner and A. Haas (1996). "Sec18p (NSF)-driven release of Sec17p (alpha-SNAP) can precede docking and fusion of yeast vacuoles." <u>Cell</u> **85**(1): 83-94.
- McBride, S. M., C. H. Choi, Y. Wang, D. Liebelt, E. Braunstein, D. Ferreiro, A. Sehgal, K. K. Siwicki, T. C. Dockendorff, H. T. Nguyen, T. V. McDonald and T. A. Jongens (2005). "Pharmacological rescue of synaptic plasticity, courtship behavior, and mushroom body defects in a *Drosophila* model of fragile X syndrome." <u>Neuron</u> 45(5): 753-764.

- McCarthy, S. E., V. Makarov, G. Kirov, A. M. Addington, J. McClellan, S. Yoon, D. O. Perkins, D. E. Dickel, M. Kusenda, O. Krastoshevsky, V. Krause, R. A. Kumar, D. Grozeva, D. Malhotra, T. Walsh, E. H. Zackai, P. Kaplan, J. Ganesh, I. D. Krantz, N. B. Spinner, P. Roccanova, A. Bhandari, K. Pavon, B. Lakshmi, A. Leotta, J. Kendall, Y. H. Lee, V. Vacic, S. Gary, L. M. Iakoucheva, T. J. Crow, S. L. Christian, J. A. Lieberman, T. S. Stroup, T. Lehtimaki, K. Puura, C. Haldeman-Englert, J. Pearl, M. Goodell, V. L. Willour, P. Derosse, J. Steele, L. Kassem, J. Wolff, N. Chitkara, F. J. McMahon, A. K. Malhotra, J. B. Potash, T. G. Schulze, M. M. Nothen, S. Cichon, M. Rietschel, E. Leibenluft, V. Kustanovich, C. M. Lajonchere, J. S. Sutcliffe, D. Skuse, M. Gill, L. Gallagher, N. R. Mendell, N. Craddock, M. J. Owen, M. C. O'Donovan, T. H. Shaikh, E. Susser, L. E. Delisi, P. F. Sullivan, C. K. Deutsch, J. Rapoport, D. L. Levy, M. C. King and J. Sebat (2009). "Microduplications of 16p11.2 are associated with schizophrenia." Nat Genet 41(11): 1223-1227.
- McMahon, H. T. and T. C. Südhof (1995). "Synaptic core complex of synaptobrevin, syntaxin, and SNAP25 forms high affinity alpha-SNAP binding site." J Biol Chem 270(5): 2213-2217.
- Mead, C. L., M. A. Kuzyk, A. Moradian, G. M. Wilson, R. A. Holt and G. B. Morin (2010).
 "Cytosolic protein interactions of the schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin." J Neurochem 113(6): 1491-1503.
- Mechelli, A., E. Viding, A. Kumar, W. Pettersson-Yeo, P. Fusar-Poli, S. Tognin, M. C.
 O'Donovan and P. McGuire (2010). "Dysbindin modulates brain function during visual processing in children." <u>Neuroimage</u> 49(1): 817-822.
- Melia, T. J. (2007). "Putting the clamps on membrane fusion: how complexin sets the stage for calcium-mediated exocytosis." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **581**(11): 2131-2139.

- Mengual, E. and V. M. Pickel (2002). "Ultrastructural immunocytochemical localization of the dopamine D2 receptor and tyrosine hydroxylase in the rat ventral pallidum." <u>Synapse</u> **43**(3): 151-162.
- Millar, J. K., J. C. Wilson-Annan, S. Anderson, S. Christie, M. S. Taylor, C. A. Semple, R.
 S. Devon, D. M. St Clair, W. J. Muir, D. H. Blackwood and D. J. Porteous (2000).
 "Disruption of two novel genes by a translocation co-segregating with schizophrenia." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 9(9): 1415-1423.
- Mirnics, K., F. A. Middleton, A. Marquez, D. A. Lewis and P. Levitt (2000). "Molecular characterization of schizophrenia viewed by microarray analysis of gene expression in prefrontal cortex." <u>Neuron</u> **28**(1): 53-67.
- Misura, K. M., R. H. Scheller and W. I. Weis (2001). "Self-association of the H3 region of syntaxin 1A. Implications for intermediates in SNARE complex assembly." J Biol
 <u>Chem</u> 276(16): 13273-13282.
- Monck, J. R. and J. M. Fernandez (1994). "The exocytotic fusion pore and neurotransmitter release." <u>Neuron</u> **12**(4): 707-716.
- Monti, J. M. and D. Monti (2004). "Sleep in schizophrenia patients and the effects of antipsychotic drugs." <u>Sleep Med Rev</u> **8**(2): 133-148.
- Morales, J., P. R. Hiesinger, A. J. Schroeder, K. Kume, P. Verstreken, F. R. Jackson, D. L. Nelson and B. A. Hassan (2002). "*Drosophila* fragile X protein, DFXR, regulates neuronal morphology and function in the brain." <u>Neuron</u> 34(6): 961-972.
- Moreno-De-Luca, A., S. M. Myers, T. D. Challman, D. Moreno-De-Luca, D. W. Evans and D. H. Ledbetter (2013). "Developmental brain dysfunction: revival and expansion of old concepts based on new genetic evidence." <u>Lancet Neurol</u> **12**(4): 406-414.
- Moreno-De-Luca, D., J. G. Mulle, E. B. Kaminsky, S. J. Sanders, S. M. Myers, M. P. Adam, A. T. Pakula, N. J. Eisenhauer, K. Uhas, L. Weik, L. Guy, M. E. Care, C. F. Morel, C. Boni, B. A. Salbert, A. Chandrareddy, L. A. Demmer, E. W. Chow, U.

Surti, S. Aradhya, D. L. Pickering, D. M. Golden, W. G. Sanger, E. Aston, A. R. Brothman, T. J. Gliem, E. C. Thorland, T. Ackley, R. Iyer, S. Huang, J. C. Barber, J. A. Crolla, S. T. Warren, C. L. Martin and D. H. Ledbetter (2010). "Deletion 17q12 is a recurrent copy number variant that confers high risk of autism and schizophrenia." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **87**(5): 618-630.

- Morgan, J. R., H. S. Comstra, M. Cohen and V. Faundez (2013). "Presynaptic membrane retrieval and endosome biology: defining molecularly heterogeneous synaptic vesicles." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol</u> **5**(10): a016915.
- Morgan, N. V., S. Pasha, C. A. Johnson, J. R. Ainsworth, R. A. Eady, B. Dawood, C. McKeown, R. C. Trembath, J. Wilde, S. P. Watson and E. R. Maher (2006). "A germline mutation in BLOC1S3/reduced pigmentation causes a novel variant of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome (HPS8)." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 78(1): 160-166.
- Morris, D. W., K. A. McGhee, S. Schwaiger, P. Scully, J. Quinn, D. Meagher, J. L. Waddington, M. Gill and A. P. Corvin (2003). "No evidence for association of the dysbindin gene [*DTNBP1*] with schizophrenia in an Irish population-based study." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 60(2-3): 167-172.
- Morris, D. W., K. Murphy, N. Kenny, S. M. Purcell, K. A. McGhee, S. Schwaiger, J. M. Nangle, G. Donohoe, S. Clarke, P. Scully, J. Quinn, D. Meagher, P. Baldwin, N. Crumlish, E. O'Callaghan, J. L. Waddington, M. Gill and A. P. Corvin (2008).
 "Dysbindin (*DTNBP1*) and the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex 1 (BLOC-1): main and epistatic gene effects are potential contributors to schizophrenia susceptibility." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 63(1): 24-31.
- Mulle, J. G., A. F. Dodd, J. A. McGrath, P. S. Wolyniec, A. A. Mitchell, A. C. Shetty, N. L. Sobreira, D. Valle, M. K. Rudd, G. Satten, D. J. Cutler, A. E. Pulver and S. T. Warren (2010). "Microdeletions of 3q29 confer high risk for schizophrenia." <u>Am</u> <u>J Hum Genet</u> 87(2): 229-236.

- Muller, M., K. S. Liu, S. J. Sigrist and G. W. Davis (2012). "RIM controls homeostatic plasticity through modulation of the readily-releasable vesicle pool." <u>J Neurosci</u> 32(47): 16574-16585.
- Mullin, A. P., A. Gokhale, J. Larimore and V. Faundez (2011). "Cell biology of the BLOC-1 complex subunit dysbindin, a schizophrenia susceptibility gene." <u>Mol Neurobiol</u> 44(1): 53-64.
- Mullin, A. P., A. Gokhale, A. Moreno-De-Luca, S. Sanyal, J. L. Waddington and V. Faundez (2013). "Neurodevelopmental disorders: mechanisms and boundary definitions from genomes, interactomes and proteomes." <u>Transl Psychiatry</u> 3: e329.
- Murphy, K. C. (2002). "Schizophrenia and velo-cardio-facial syndrome." <u>Lancet</u> **359**(9304): 426-430.
- Mutsuddi, M., D. W. Morris, S. G. Waggoner, M. J. Daly, E. M. Scolnick and P. Sklar (2006). "Analysis of high-resolution HapMap of *DTNBP1* (Dysbindin) suggests no consistency between reported common variant associations and schizophrenia." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **79**(5): 903-909.
- Nagai, T., Y. Kitahara, A. Shiraki, T. Hikita, S. Taya, K. Kaibuchi and K. Yamada (2010). "Dysfunction of dopamine release in the prefrontal cortex of dysbindin deficient sandy mice: an in vivo microdialysis study." <u>Neurosci Lett</u> **470**(2): 134-138.
- Nakazawa, K., V. Zsiros, Z. Jiang, K. Nakao, S. Kolata, S. Zhang and J. E. Belforte (2012). "GABAergic interneuron origin of schizophrenia pathophysiology." <u>Neuropharmacology</u> **62**(3): 1574-1583.
- Narr, K. L., P. R. Szeszko, T. Lencz, R. P. Woods, L. S. Hamilton, O. Phillips, D. Robinson, K. E. Burdick, P. DeRosse, R. Kucherlapati, P. M. Thompson, A. W. Toga, A. K. Malhotra and R. M. Bilder (2009). "*DTNBP1* is associated with imaging phenotypes in schizophrenia." <u>Hum Brain Mapp</u> **30**(11): 3783-3794.

- Nazarian, R., M. Starcevic, M. J. Spencer and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2006).
 "Reinvestigation of the dysbindin subunit of BLOC-1 (biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex-1) as a dystrobrevin-binding protein." <u>Biochem J</u> 395(3): 587-598.
- Newell-Litwa, K., S. Chintala, S. Jenkins, J. F. Pare, L. McGaha, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2010). "Hermansky-Pudlak protein complexes, AP-3 and BLOC-1, differentially regulate presynaptic composition in the striatum and hippocampus." <u>J Neurosci</u> **30**(3): 820-831.
- Newell-Litwa, K., G. Salazar, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2009). "Roles of BLOC-1 and adaptor protein-3 complexes in cargo sorting to synaptic vesicles." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **20**(5): 1441-1453.
- Newell-Litwa, K., G. Salazar, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2009). "Roles of BLOC-1 and AP-3 Complexes in Cargo Sorting to Synaptic Vesicles." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **20**(5): 1441-1453.
- Newell-Litwa, K., E. Seong, M. Burmeister and V. Faundez (2007). "Neuronal and nonneuronal functions of the AP-3 sorting machinery." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **120**(Pt 4): 531-541.
- Numakawa, T., Y. Yagasaki, T. Ishimoto, T. Okada, T. Suzuki, N. Iwata, N. Ozaki, T. Taguchi, M. Tatsumi, K. Kamijima, R. E. Straub, D. R. Weinberger, H. Kunugi and R. Hashimoto (2004). "Evidence of novel neuronal functions of dysbindin, a susceptibility gene for schizophrenia." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **13**(21): 2699-2708.
- O'Kane, C. J. (2011). "*Drosophila* as a model organism for the study of neuropsychiatric disorders." <u>Curr Top Behav Neurosci</u> 7: 37-60.
- O'Roak, B. J., L. Vives, S. Girirajan, E. Karakoc, N. Krumm, B. P. Coe, R. Levy, A. Ko, C. Lee, J. D. Smith, E. H. Turner, I. B. Stanaway, B. Vernot, M. Malig, C. Baker, B. Reilly, J. M. Akey, E. Borenstein, M. J. Rieder, D. A. Nickerson, R. Bernier, J. Shendure and E. E. Eichler (2012). "Sporadic autism exomes reveal a highly

interconnected protein network of de novo mutations." <u>Nature</u> **485**(7397): 246-250.

- Okuda, H., R. Kuwahara, S. Matsuzaki, S. Miyata, N. Kumamoto, T. Hattori, S. Shimizu,
 K. Yamada, K. Kawamoto, R. Hashimoto, M. Takeda, T. Katayama and M.
 Tohyama (2010). "Dysbindin regulates the transcriptional level of myristoylated alanine-rich protein kinase C substrate via the interaction with NF-YB in mice brain." <u>PLoS One</u> 5(1): e8773.
- Ooi, C. E., E. C. Dell'Angelica and J. S. Bonifacino (1998). "ADP-Ribosylation factor 1 (ARF1) regulates recruitment of the AP-3 adaptor complex to membranes." <u>J Cell</u>
 <u>Biol</u> 142(2): 391-402.
- Oostra, B. A. and A. J. Verkerk (1992). "The fragile X syndrome: isolation of the FMR-1 gene and characterization of the fragile X mutation." <u>Chromosoma</u> **101**(7): 381-387.
- Opazo, F., A. Punge, J. Bückers, P. Hoopmann, L. Kastrup, S. W. Hell and S. O. Rizzoli (2010). "Limited intermixing of synaptic vesicle components upon vesicle recycling." <u>Traffic</u> 11(6): 800-812.
- Otto, H., P. I. Hanson and R. Jahn (1997). "Assembly and disassembly of a ternary complex of synaptobrevin, syntaxin, and SNAP-25 in the membrane of synaptic vesicles." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **94**(12): 6197-6201.
- Owoeye, O., T. Kingston, P. J. Scully, P. Baldwin, D. Browne, A. Kinsella, V. Russell, E. O'Callaghan and J. L. Waddington (2013). "Epidemiological and clinical characterization following a first psychotic episode in major depressive disorder: comparisons with schizophrenia and bipolar I disorder in the Cavan-Monaghan First Episode Psychosis Study (CAMFEPS)." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> **39**(4): 756-765.
- Oyama, S., H. Yamakawa, N. Sasagawa, Y. Hosoi, E. Futai and S. Ishiura (2009). "Dysbindin-1, a schizophrenia-related protein, functionally interacts with the

DNA- dependent protein kinase complex in an isoform-dependent manner." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(1): e4199.

- Pan, P. Y., J. H. Tian and Z. H. Sheng (2009). "Snapin facilitates the synchronization of synaptic vesicle fusion." <u>Neuron</u> 61(3): 412-424.
- Papaleo, F., M. C. Burdick, J. H. Callicott and D. R. Weinberger (2014). "Epistatic interaction between COMT and *DTNBP1* modulates prefrontal function in mice and in humans." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 19(3): 311-316.
- Peden, A. A., R. E. Rudge, W. W. Lui and M. S. Robinson (2002). "Assembly and function of AP-3 complexes in cells expressing mutant subunits." <u>J Cell Biol</u> 156(2): 327-336.
- Perreault, M. L., A. Hasbi, M. Alijaniaram, T. Fan, G. Varghese, P. J. Fletcher, P. Seeman,
 B. F. O'Dowd and S. R. George (2010). "The dopamine D1-D2 receptor heteromer localizes in dynorphin/enkephalin neurons: increased high affinity state following amphetamine and in schizophrenia." J Biol Chem 285(47): 36625-36634.
- Peters, K., S. Wiltshire, A. K. Henders, M. Dragovic, J. C. Badcock, D. Chandler, S. Howell, C. Ellis, S. Bouwer, G. W. Montgomery, L. J. Palmer, L. Kalaydjieva and A. Jablensky (2008). "Comprehensive analysis of tagging sequence variants in *DTNBP1* shows no association with schizophrenia or with its composite neurocognitive endophenotypes." <u>Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet</u> 147b(7): 1159-1166.
- Porteous, D. J., J. K. Millar, N. J. Brandon and A. Sawa (2011). "DISC1 at 10: connecting psychiatric genetics and neuroscience." <u>Trends Mol Med</u> **17**(12): 699-706.
- Purcell, S. M., J. L. Moran, M. Fromer, D. Ruderfer, N. Solovieff, P. Roussos, C. O'Dushlaine, K. Chambert, S. E. Bergen, A. Kahler, L. Duncan, E. Stahl, G. Genovese, E. Fernandez, M. O. Collins, N. H. Komiyama, J. S. Choudhary, P. K.

Magnusson, E. Banks, K. Shakir, K. Garimella, T. Fennell, M. DePristo, S. G.
Grant, S. J. Haggarty, S. Gabriel, E. M. Scolnick, E. S. Lander, C. M. Hultman, P.
F. Sullivan, S. A. McCarroll and P. Sklar (2014). "A polygenic burden of rare disruptive mutations in schizophrenia." <u>Nature</u> **506**(7487): 185-190.

- Purcell, S. M., N. R. Wray, J. L. Stone, P. M. Visscher, M. C. O'Donovan, P. F. Sullivan and P. Sklar (2009). "Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder." <u>Nature</u> 460(7256): 748-752.
- Raingo, J., M. Khvotchev, P. Liu, F. Darios, Y. C. Li, D. M. Ramirez, M. Adachi, P. Lemieux, K. Toth, B. Davletov and E. T. Kavalali (2012). "VAMP4 directs synaptic vesicles to a pool that selectively maintains asynchronous neurotransmission." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> 15(5): 738-745.
- Ramirez, D. M. and E. T. Kavalali (2012). "The role of non-canonical SNAREs in synaptic vesicle recycling." <u>Cell Logist</u> **2**(1): 20-27.
- Ramirez, D. M., M. Khvotchev, B. Trauterman and E. T. Kavalali (2012). "Vti1a identifies a vesicle pool that preferentially recycles at rest and maintains spontaneous neurotransmission." <u>Neuron</u> **73**(1): 121-134.
- Rapoport, J. L., J. N. Giedd and N. Gogtay (2012). "Neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia: update 2012." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 17(12): 1228-1238.
- Reeve, S. P., L. Bassetto, G. K. Genova, Y. Kleyner, M. Leyssen, F. R. Jackson and B. A. Hassan (2005). "The *Drosophila* fragile X mental retardation protein controls actin dynamics by directly regulating profilin in the brain." <u>Curr Biol</u> 15(12): 1156-1163.
- Reim, K., M. Mansour, F. Varoqueaux, H. T. McMahon, T. C. Südhof, N. Brose and C. Rosenmund (2001). "Complexins regulate a late step in Ca2+-dependent neurotransmitter release." <u>Cell</u> 104(1): 71-81.

- Reiss, A. L. (2009). "Childhood developmental disorders: an academic and clinical convergence point for psychiatry, neurology, psychology and pediatrics." <u>J Child</u> <u>Psychol Psychiatry</u> 50(1-2): 87-98.
- Reiss, A. L., M. T. Abrams, R. Greenlaw, L. Freund and M. B. Denckla (1995).
 "Neurodevelopmental effects of the FMR-1 full mutation in humans." <u>Nat Med</u> 1(2): 159-167.
- Risch, N. (1990). "Linkage strategies for genetically complex traits. I. Multilocus models." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **46**(2): 222-228.
- Rizo, J. and T. C. Südhof (2012). "The membrane fusion enigma: SNARES, Sec1/Munc18 proteins, and their accomplices--guilty as charged?" <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> 28: 279-308.
- Rizzoli, S. O. and W. J. Betz (2005). "Synaptic vesicle pools." <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> **6**(1): 57-69.
- Robinson, M. S. (2004). "Adaptable adaptors for coated vesicles." <u>Trends Cell Biol</u> **14**(4): 167-174.
- Rodriguez-Fernandez, I. A. and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2009). "A data-mining approach to rank candidate protein-binding partners-The case of biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex-1 (BLOC-1)." <u>J Inherit Metab Dis</u> **32**(2): 190-203.
 Roos, J. and R. B. Kelly (1998). "Dap160, a neural-specific Eps15 homology and multiple SH3 domain-containing protein that interacts with *Drosophila* dynamin." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **273**(30): 19108-19119.
- Rossin, E. J., K. Lage, S. Raychaudhuri, R. J. Xavier, D. Tatar, Y. Benita, C. Cotsapas and
 M. J. Daly (2011). "Proteins encoded in genomic regions associated with immune-mediated disease physically interact and suggest underlying biology."
 <u>PLoS Genet</u> 7(1): e1001273.

- Ryder, P. V. and V. Faundez (2009). "Schizophrenia: the "BLOC" may be in the endosomes." <u>Sci Signal</u> **2**(93): pe66.
- Ryder, P. V., R. Vistein, A. Gokhale, M. N. Seaman, M. Puthenveedu and V. Faundez (2013). "The WASH Complex, an Endosomal Arp2/3 Activator, Interacts with the Hermansky-Pudlak Syndrome Complex BLOC-1 and its Cargo Phosphatidylinositol-4-kinase Type II Alpha." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u>.
- Sadanandappa, M. K., B. Blanco Redondo, B. Michels, V. Rodrigues, B. Gerber, K. VijayRaghavan, E. Buchner and M. Ramaswami (2013). "Synapsin function in GABA-ergic interneurons is required for short-term olfactory habituation." J <u>Neurosci</u> 33(42): 16576-16585.
- Saito, T., F. Guan, D. F. Papolos, N. Rajouria, C. S. Fann and H. M. Lachman (2001).
 "Polymorphism in SNAP29 gene promoter region associated with schizophrenia."
 <u>Mol Psychiatry</u> 6(2): 193-201.
- Salazar, G., B. Craige, M. L. Styers, K. A. Newell-Litwa, M. M. Doucette, B. H. Wainer, J. M. Falcon-Perez, E. C. Dell'Angelica, A. A. Peden, E. Werner and V. Faundez (2006). "BLOC-1 complex deficiency alters the targeting of adaptor protein complex-3 cargoes." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 17(9): 4014-4026.
- Salazar, G., B. Craige, B. H. Wainer, J. Guo, P. De Camilli and V. Faundez (2005).
 "Phosphatidylinositol-4-Kinase Type II {alpha} Is a Component of Adaptor Protein-3-derived Vesicles." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 16(8): 3692-3704.
- Salazar, G., S. Zlatic, B. Craige, A. A. Peden, J. Pohl and V. Faundez (2009).
 "Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome protein complexes associate with phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase type II alpha in neuronal and non-neuronal cells."
 <u>J Biol Chem</u> 284(3): 1790-1802.
- Schaaf, C. P., P. M. Boone, S. Sampath, C. Williams, P. I. Bader, J. M. Mueller, O. A. Shchelochkov, C. W. Brown, H. P. Crawford, J. A. Phalen, N. R. Tartaglia, P.

Evans, W. M. Campbell, A. Chun-Hui Tsai, L. Parsley, S. W. Grayson, A. Scheuerle, C. D. Luzzi, S. K. Thomas, P. A. Eng, S. H. Kang, A. Patel, P. Stankiewicz and S. W. Cheung (2012). "Phenotypic spectrum and genotype-phenotype correlations of NRXN1 exon deletions." <u>Eur J Hum Genet</u> **20**(12): 1240-1247.

- Schizophrenia_Research_Forum. (2010, 13 March 2010). from http://www.schizophreniaforum.org/res/sczgene/default.asp.
- Schneider, M., M. Debbane, A. S. Bassett, E. W. Chow, W. L. Fung, M. B. van den Bree, M. Owen, K. C. Murphy, M. Niarchou, W. R. Kates, K. M. Antshel, W. Fremont, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, R. E. Gur, E. H. Zackai, J. Vorstman, S. N. Duijff, P. W. Klaassen, A. Swillen, D. Gothelf, T. Green, A. Weizman, T. Van Amelsvoort, L. Evers, E. Boot, V. Shashi, S. R. Hooper, C. E. Bearden, M. Jalbrzikowski, M. Armando, S. Vicari, D. G. Murphy, O. Ousley, L. E. Campbell, T. J. Simon and S. Eliez (2014). "Psychiatric Disorders From Childhood to Adulthood in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome:" Am J Psychiatry.
- Schoch, S., F. Deak, A. Konigstorfer, M. Mozhayeva, Y. Sara, T. C. Sudhof and E. T. Kavalali (2001). "SNARE function analyzed in synaptobrevin/VAMP knockout mice." <u>Science</u> 294(5544): 1117-1122.
- Schwab, S. G., M. Knapp, S. Mondabon, J. Hallmayer, M. Borrmann-Hassenbach, M. Albus, B. Lerer, M. Rietschel, M. Trixler, W. Maier and D. B. Wildenauer (2003).
 "Support for association of schizophrenia with genetic variation in the 6p22.3 gene, dysbindin, in sib-pair families with linkage and in an additional sample of triad families." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 72(1): 185-190.

- Sesack, S. R., C. Aoki and V. M. Pickel (1994). "Ultrastructural localization of D2 receptor-like immunoreactivity in midbrain dopamine neurons and their striatal targets." J Neurosci **14**(1): 88-106.
- Setty, S. R., D. Tenza, E. V. Sviderskaya, D. C. Bennett, G. Raposo and M. S. Marks (2008). "Cell-specific ATP7A transport sustains copper-dependent tyrosinase activity in melanosomes." <u>Nature</u> 454: 1142-1146.
- Setty, S. R., D. Tenza, S. T. Truschel, E. Chou, E. V. Sviderskaya, A. C. Theos, M. L. Lamoreux, S. M. Di Pietro, M. Starcevic, D. C. Bennett, E. C. Dell'Angelica, G. Raposo and M. S. Marks (2007). "BLOC-1 is required for cargo-specific sorting from vacuolar early endosomes toward lysosome-related organelles." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 18(3): 768-780.
- Smoller, J. W., N. Craddock, K. Kendler, P. H. Lee, B. M. Neale, J. I. Nurnberger, S. Ripke, S. Santangelo and P. F. Sullivan (2013). "Identification of risk loci with shared effects on five major psychiatric disorders: a genome-wide analysis." <u>Lancet</u> 381(9875): 1371-1379.
- Söllner, T., M. K. Bennett, S. W. Whiteheart, R. H. Scheller and J. E. Rothman (1993). "A protein assembly-disassembly pathway in vitro that may correspond to sequential steps of synaptic vesicle docking, activation, and fusion." <u>Cell</u> **75**(3): 409-418.
- St Clair, D., D. Blackwood, W. Muir, A. Carothers, M. Walker, G. Spowart, C. Gosden and
 H. J. Evans (1990). "Association within a family of a balanced autosomal translocation with major mental illness." Lancet 336(8706): 13-16.
- Starcevic, M. and E. C. Dell'Angelica (2004). "Identification of snapin and three novel proteins (BLOS1, BLOS2, and BLOS3/reduced pigmentation) as subunits of biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles complex-1 (BLOC-1)." J Biol Chem 279(27): 28393-28401.

- Stefansson, H., A. Meyer-Lindenberg, S. Steinberg, B. Magnusdottir, K. Morgen, S. Arnarsdottir, G. Bjornsdottir, G. B. Walters, G. A. Jonsdottir, O. M. Doyle, H. Tost, O. Grimm, S. Kristjansdottir, H. Snorrason, S. R. Davidsdottir, L. J. Gudmundsson, G. F. Jonsson, B. Stefansdottir, I. Helgadottir, M. Haraldsson, B. Jonsdottir, J. H. Thygesen, A. J. Schwarz, M. Didriksen, T. B. Stensbol, M. Brammer, S. Kapur, J. G. Halldorsson, S. Hreidarsson, E. Saemundsen, E. Sigurdsson and K. Stefansson (2014). "CNVs conferring risk of autism or schizophrenia affect cognition in controls." Nature 505(7483): 361-366.
- Stefansson, H., R. A. Ophoff, S. Steinberg, O. A. Andreassen, S. Cichon, D. Rujescu, T. Werge, O. P. Pietilainen, O. Mors, P. B. Mortensen, E. Sigurdsson, O. Gustafsson, M. Nyegaard, A. Tuulio-Henriksson, A. Ingason, T. Hansen, J. Suvisaari, J. Lonnqvist, T. Paunio, A. D. Borglum, A. Hartmann, A. Fink-Jensen, M. Nordentoft, D. Hougaard, B. Norgaard-Pedersen, Y. Bottcher, J. Olesen, R. Breuer, H. J. Moller, I. Giegling, H. B. Rasmussen, S. Timm, M. Mattheisen, I. Bitter, J. M. Rethelyi, B. B. Magnusdottir, T. Sigmundsson, P. Olason, G. Masson, J. R. Gulcher, M. Haraldsson, R. Fossdal, T. E. Thorgeirsson, U. Thorsteinsdottir, M. Ruggeri, S. Tosato, B. Franke, E. Strengman, L. A. Kiemeney, I. Melle, S. Djurovic, L. Abramova, V. Kaleda, J. Sanjuan, R. de Frutos, E. Bramon, E. Vassos, G. Fraser, U. Ettinger, M. Picchioni, N. Walker, T. Toulopoulou, A. C. Need, D. Ge, J. L. Yoon, K. V. Shianna, N. B. Freimer, R. M. Cantor, R. Murray, A. Kong, V. Golimbet, A. Carracedo, C. Arango, J. Costas, E. G. Jonsson, L. Terenius, I. Agartz, H. Petursson, M. M. Nothen, M. Rietschel, P. M. Matthews, P. Muglia, L. Peltonen, D. St Clair, D. B. Goldstein, K. Stefansson and D. A. Collier (2009). "Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia." Nature **460**(7256): 744-747.

- Stefansson, H., D. Rujescu, S. Cichon, O. P. Pietilainen, A. Ingason, S. Steinberg, R. Fossdal, E. Sigurdsson, T. Sigmundsson, J. E. Buizer-Voskamp, T. Hansen, K. D. Jakobsen, P. Muglia, C. Francks, P. M. Matthews, A. Gylfason, B. V. Halldorsson, D. Gudbjartsson, T. E. Thorgeirsson, A. Sigurdsson, A. Jonasdottir, A. Bjornsson, S. Mattiasdottir, T. Blondal, M. Haraldsson, B. B. Magnusdottir, I. Giegling, H. J. Moller, A. Hartmann, K. V. Shianna, D. Ge, A. C. Need, C. Crombie, G. Fraser, N. Walker, J. Lonnqvist, J. Suvisaari, A. Tuulio-Henriksson, T. Paunio, T. Toulopoulou, E. Bramon, M. Di Forti, R. Murray, M. Ruggeri, E. Vassos, S. Tosato, M. Walshe, T. Li, C. Vasilescu, T. W. Muhleisen, A. G. Wang, H. Ullum, S. Djurovic, I. Melle, J. Olesen, L. A. Kiemeney, B. Franke, C. Sabatti, N. B. Freimer, J. R. Gulcher, U. Thorsteinsdottir, A. Kong, O. A. Andreassen, R. A. Ophoff, A. Georgi, M. Rietschel, T. Werge, H. Petursson, D. B. Goldstein, M. M. Nothen, L. Peltonen, D. A. Collier, D. St Clair and K. Stefansson (2008). "Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia." Nature 455(7210): 232-236.
- Straub, R. E., Y. Jiang, C. J. MacLean, Y. Ma, B. T. Webb, M. V. Myakishev, C. Harris-Kerr, B. Wormley, H. Sadek, B. Kadambi, A. J. Cesare, A. Gibberman, X. Wang, F. A. O'Neill, D. Walsh and K. S. Kendler (2002). "Genetic variation in the 6p22.3 gene *DTNBP1*, the human ortholog of the mouse dysbindin gene, is associated with schizophrenia." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 71(2): 337-348.
- Strohmaier, J., J. Frank, J. R. Wendland, J. Schumacher, R. A. Jamra, J. Treutlein, V. Nieratschker, R. Breuer, M. Mattheisen, S. Herms, T. W. Muhleisen, W. Maier, M. M. Nothen, S. Cichon, M. Rietschel and T. G. Schulze (2010). "A reappraisal of the association between Dysbindin (*DTNBP1*) and schizophrenia in a large combined case-control and family-based sample of German ancestry." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 118(1-3): 98-105.

- Südhof, T. C. (2013). "Neurotransmitter release: the last millisecond in the life of a synaptic vesicle." <u>Neuron</u> **80**(3): 675-690.
- Südhof, T. C., P. De Camilli, H. Niemann and R. Jahn (1993). "Membrane fusion machinery: insights from synaptic proteins." <u>Cell</u> **75**(1): 1-4.
- Sudhof, T. C. and J. E. Rothman (2009). "Membrane fusion: grappling with SNARE and SM proteins." <u>Science</u> **323**(5913): 474-477.
- Sugranyes, G., M. Kyriakopoulos, R. Corrigall, E. Taylor and S. Frangou (2011). "Autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia: meta-analysis of the neural correlates of social cognition." <u>PLoS One</u> **6**(10): e25322.
- Sullivan, P. F. (2012). "Puzzling over schizophrenia: schizophrenia as a pathway disease." Nat Med **18**(2): 210-211.
- Sullivan, P. F., K. S. Kendler and M. C. Neale (2003). "Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> 60(12): 1187-1192.
- Sutton, M. A., N. R. Wall, G. N. Aakalu and E. M. Schuman (2004). "Regulation of dendritic protein synthesis by miniature synaptic events." <u>Science</u> 304(5679): 1979-1983.
- Takamori, S., M. Holt, K. Stenius, E. A. Lemke, M. Gronborg, D. Riedel, H. Urlaub, S. Schenck, B. Brugger, P. Ringler, S. A. Muller, B. Rammner, F. Grater, J. S. Hub, B. L. De Groot, G. Mieskes, Y. Moriyama, J. Klingauf, H. Grubmuller, J. Heuser, F. Wieland and R. Jahn (2006). "Molecular anatomy of a trafficking organelle."
 <u>Cell</u> 127(4): 831-846.
- Talbot, K. (2009). "The sandy (sdy) mouse: a dysbindin-1 mutant relevant to schizophrenia research." <u>Prog Brain Res</u> **179**: 87-94.
- Talbot, K., W. L. Eidem, C. L. Tinsley, M. A. Benson, E. W. Thompson, R. J. Smith, C. G. Hahn, S. J. Siegel, J. Q. Trojanowski, R. E. Gur, D. J. Blake and S. E. Arnold

(2004). "Dysbindin-1 is reduced in intrinsic, glutamatergic terminals of the hippocampal formation in schizophrenia." J Clin Invest **113**(9): 1353-1363.

- Talbot, K., N. Louneva, J. W. Cohen, H. Kazi, D. J. Blake and S. E. Arnold (2011).
 "Synaptic dysbindin-1 reductions in schizophrenia occur in an isoform-specific manner indicating their subsynaptic location." <u>PLoS One</u> 6(3): e16886.
- Talbot, K., W. Y. Ong, D. J. Blake, D. Tang, N. Louneva, G. C. Carlson and S. E. Arnold (2009). Dysbindin-1 and its protein family, with special attention to the potential role of dysbindin-1 in neuronal functions and the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. <u>Handbook of Neurochemistry and Molecular Neurobiology</u>. J. a. Kantrowitz. New York, Springer Science. **27** 107-241.
- Taneichi-Kuroda, S., S. Taya, T. Hikita, Y. Fujino and K. Kaibuchi (2009). "Direct interaction of Dysbindin with the AP-3 complex via its mu subunit." <u>Neurochem Int</u> **54**(7): 431-438.
- Tang, J., R. P. LeGros, N. Louneva, L. Yeh, J. W. Cohen, C. G. Hahn, D. J. Blake, S. E. Arnold and K. Talbot (2009). "Dysbindin-1 in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenia cases is reduced in an isoform-specific manner unrelated to dysbindin-1 mRNA expression." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 18(20): 3851-3863.
- Tang, J., A. Maximov, O. H. Shin, H. Dai, J. Rizo and T. C. Südhof (2006). "A complexin/synaptotagmin 1 switch controls fast synaptic vesicle exocytosis." <u>Cell</u> 126(6): 1175-1187.
- Tang, T. T., F. Yang, B. S. Chen, Y. Lu, Y. Ji, K. W. Roche and B. Lu (2009). "Dysbindin regulates hippocampal LTP by controlling NMDA receptor surface expression." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 106(50): 21395-21400.
- Tarabeux, J., N. Champagne, E. Brustein, F. F. Hamdan, J. Gauthier, M. Lapointe, C.Maios, A. Piton, D. Spiegelman, E. Henrion, B. Millet, J. L. Rapoport, L. E. Delisi,R. Joober, F. Fathalli, E. Fombonne, L. Mottron, N. Forget-Dubois, M. Boivin, J.

L. Michaud, R. G. Lafreniere, P. Drapeau, M. O. Krebs and G. A. Rouleau (2010). "De novo truncating mutation in Kinesin 17 associated with schizophrenia." <u>Biol</u> <u>Psychiatry</u> **68**(7): 649-656.

- Thompson, P. M., A. C. Sower and N. I. Perrone-Bizzozero (1998). "Altered levels of the synaptosomal associated protein SNAP-25 in schizophrenia." <u>Biol Psychiatry</u> 43(4): 239-243.
- Tian, J. H., Z. X. Wu, M. Unzicker, L. Lu, Q. Cai, C. Li, C. Schirra, U. Matti, D. Stevens, C. Deng, J. Rettig and Z. H. Sheng (2005). "The role of Snapin in neurosecretion: snapin knock-out mice exhibit impaired calcium-dependent exocytosis of large dense-core vesicles in chromaffin cells." J Neurosci 25(45): 10546-10555.
- Tognin, S., E. Viding, E. J. McCrory, L. Taylor, M. C. O'Donovan, P. McGuire and A. Mechelli (2011). "Effects of *DTNBP1* genotype on brain development in children." <u>J Child Psychol Psychiatry</u> 52(12): 1287-1294.
- Turrigiano, G. G. (2008). "The self-tuning neuron: synaptic scaling of excitatory synapses." <u>Cell</u> **135**(3): 422-435.
- Turunen, J. A., J. O. Peltonen, O. P. Pietilainen, W. Hennah, A. Loukola, T. Paunio, K. Silander, J. Ekelund, T. Varilo, T. Partonen, J. Lonnqvist and L. Peltonen (2007).
 "The role of *DTNBP1*, NRG1, and AKT1 in the genetics of schizophrenia in Finland." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 91(1-3): 27-36.
- Twick, I., J. A. Lee and M. Ramaswami (2014). "Olfactory habituation in *Drosophila*odor encoding and its plasticity in the antennal lobe." <u>Prog Brain Res</u> **208**: 3-38.
- Ullrich, B., C. Li, J. Z. Zhang, H. McMahon, R. G. Anderson, M. Geppert and T. C. Südhof (1994). "Functional properties of multiple synaptotagmins in brain." <u>Neuron</u> 13(6): 1281-1291.

- Van de Goor, J., M. Ramaswami and R. Kelly (1995). "Redistribution of synaptic vesicles and their proteins in temperature-sensitive shibire(ts1) mutant *Drosophila*." <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **92**(12): 5739-5743.
- Van Den Bogaert, A., J. Schumacher, T. G. Schulze, A. C. Otte, S. Ohlraun, S. Kovalenko, T. Becker, J. Freudenberg, E. G. Jönsson, M. Mattila-Evenden, G. C. Sedvall, P. M. Czerski, P. Kapelski, J. Hauser, W. Maier, M. Rietschel, P. Propping, M. M. Nöthen and S. Cichon (2003). "The *DTNBP1* (dysbindin) gene contributes to schizophrenia, depending on family history of the disease." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> 73(6): 1438-1443.
- Veitia, R. A., S. Bottani and J. A. Birchler (2008). "Cellular reactions to gene dosage imbalance: genomic, transcriptomic and proteomic effects." <u>Trends Genet</u> 24(8): 390-397.
- Verkerk, A. J., M. Pieretti, J. S. Sutcliffe, Y. H. Fu, D. P. Kuhl, A. Pizzuti, O. Reiner, S. Richards, M. F. Victoria and F. P. Zhang (1991). "Identification of a gene (FMR-1) containing a CGG repeat coincident with a breakpoint cluster region exhibiting length variation in fragile X syndrome." <u>Cell</u> 65(5): 905-914.
- Wan, L., T. C. Dockendorff, T. A. Jongens and G. Dreyfuss (2000). "Characterization of dFMR1, a *Drosophila* melanogaster homolog of the fragile X mental retardation protein." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 20(22): 8536-8547.
- Wang, H. and V. M. Pickel (2002). "Dopamine D2 receptors are present in prefrontal cortical afferents and their targets in patches of the rat caudate-putamen nucleus." J Comp Neurol **442**(4): 392-404.
- Washbourne, P., P. M. Thompson, M. Carta, E. T. Costa, J. R. Mathews, G. Lopez-Bendito, Z. Molnar, M. W. Becher, C. F. Valenzuela, L. D. Partridge and M. C. Wilson (2002). "Genetic ablation of the t-SNARE SNAP-25 distinguishes mechanisms of neuroexocytosis." <u>Nat Neurosci</u> 5(1): 19-26.

- Wei, M. L. (2006). "Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome: a disease of protein trafficking and organelle function." <u>Pigment Cell Res</u> **19**(1): 19-42.
- Weickert, C. S., D. A. Rothmond, T. M. Hyde, J. E. Kleinman and R. E. Straub (2008).
 "Reduced *DTNBP1* (dysbindin-1) mRNA in the hippocampal formation of schizophrenia patients." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 98(1-3): 105-110.
- Weickert, C. S., R. E. Straub, B. W. McClintock, M. Matsumoto, R. Hashimoto, T. M. Hyde, M. M. Herman, D. R. Weinberger and J. E. Kleinman (2004). "Human dysbindin (*DTNBP1*) gene expression in normal brain and in schizophrenic prefrontal cortex and midbrain." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> 61(6): 544-555.
- Welzel, O., A. W. Henkel, A. M. Stroebel, J. Jung, C. H. Tischbirek, K. Ebert, J. Kornhuber, S. O. Rizzoli and T. W. Groemer (2011). "Systematic heterogeneity of fractional vesicle pool sizes and release rates of hippocampal synapses." <u>Biophys</u> <u>J</u> 100(3): 593-601.
- Wickner, W. and R. Schekman (2008). "Membrane fusion." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u> **15**(7): 658-664.
- Williams, L. E., J. U. Blackford, A. Luksik, I. Gauthier and S. Heckers (2013). "Reduced habituation in patients with schizophrenia." <u>Schizophr Res</u> 151(1-3): 124-132.
- Williams, N. M., A. Preece, D. W. Morris, G. Spurlock, N. J. Bray, M. Stephens, N. Norton, H. Williams, M. Clement, S. Dwyer, C. Curran, J. Wilkinson, V. Moskvina, J. L. Waddington, M. Gill, A. P. Corvin, S. Zammit, G. Kirov, M. J. Owen and M. C. O'Donovan (2004). "Identification in 2 independent samples of a novel schizophrenia risk haplotype of the dystrobrevin binding protein gene (*DTNBP1*)." <u>Arch Gen Psychiatry</u> 61(4): 336-344.
- Wolf, C., M. C. Jackson, C. Kissling, J. Thome and D. E. Linden (2009). "Dysbindin-1 genotype effects on emotional working memory." <u>Mol Psychiatry</u>.

- Wondolowski, J. and D. Dickman (2013). "Emerging links between homeostatic synaptic plasticity and neurological disease." <u>Front Cell Neurosci</u> 7: 223.
- Wu, L.G., T.A. Ryan, and L. Lagnado (2007). "Modes of vesicle retrieval at ribbon synapses, calyx-type synapses, and small central synapses." <u>J Neurosci.</u> 27: 11793-11802.
- Wu, L., S. I. Candille, Y. Choi, D. Xie, L. Jiang, J. Li-Pook-Than, H. Tang and M. Snyder (2013). "Variation and genetic control of protein abundance in humans." <u>Nature</u> 499(7456): 79-82.
- Wu, Y., E. T. O'Toole, M. Girard, B. Ritter, M. Messa, X. Liu, P. McPherson, S. M. Ferguson and P. De Camilli (2014). "A dynamin 1-, dynamin 3- and clathrin-independent pathway of synaptic vesicle recycling mediated by bulk endocytosis." <u>Elife (Cambridge)</u>: e01621.
- Yang, Q., X. He, L. Yang, Z. Zhou, A. R. Cullinane, A. Wei, Z. Zhang, Z. Hao, A. Zhang, M. He, Y. Feng, X. Gao, W. A. Gahl, M. Huizing and W. Li (2012). "The BLOS1-interacting protein KXD1 is involved in the biogenesis of lysosome-related organelles." <u>Traffic</u> 13(8): 1160-1169.
- Yu, X., A. Wallqvist and J. Reifman (2012). "Inferring high-confidence human proteinprotein interactions." <u>BMC Bioinformatics</u> 13: 79.
- Zhang, Q., W. Li, E. K. Novak, A. Karim, V. S. Mishra, S. F. Kingsmore, B. A. Roe, T. Suzuki and R. T. Swank (2002). "The gene for the muted (mu) mouse, a model for Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome, defines a novel protein which regulates vesicle trafficking." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> 11(6): 697-706.
- Zhang, Y. Q., A. M. Bailey, H. J. Matthies, R. B. Renden, M. A. Smith, S. D. Speese, G. M.
 Rubin and K. Broadie (2001). "*Drosophila* fragile X-related gene regulates the
 MAP1B homolog Futsch to control synaptic structure and function." <u>Cell</u> 107(5): 591-603.

- Zhang, Y. Q., H. J. Matthies, J. Mancuso, H. K. Andrews, E. Woodruff, D. Friedman and
 K. Broadie (2004). "The *Drosophila* fragile X-related gene regulates axoneme differentiation during spermatogenesis." Dev Biol 270(2): 290-307.
- Zhao, L., D. Wang, Q. Wang, A. A. Rodal and Y. Q. Zhang (2013). "*Drosophila* cyfip regulates synaptic development and endocytosis by suppressing filamentous actin assembly." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **9**(4): e1003450.
- Zlatic, S. A., E. J. Grossniklaus, P. V. Ryder, G. Salazar, A. L. Mattheyses, A. A. Peden and
 V. Faundez (2013). "Chemical-genetic disruption of clathrin function spares adaptor complex 3-dependent endosome vesicle biogenesis." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u>
 24(15): 2378-2388.
- Zlatic, S. A., P. V. Ryder, G. Salazar and V. Faundez (2010). "Isolation of labile multiprotein complexes by in vivo controlled cellular cross-linking and immunomagnetic affinity chromatography." J Vis Exp(37): 1855 [pii] 1810.3791/1855.